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Plaintiff Chevron Corporation (“Chevron”) for its Complaint against the Defendants

listed below alleges as follows:
INTRODUCTION

I. Over the course of several years, defendants Steven Donziger and his co-
defendants and co-conspirators have sought to extort, defraud, and otherwise tortiously injure
plaintiff Chevron by means of a plan they conceived and substantially executed in the United
States. It has been carried out by a U.S.-based enterprise comprised of, among others, U.S.
plaintiffs’ lawyers, led by Donziger; U.S. environmental consultants, led by Stratus Consulting,
Inc., Ann Maest, and Doug Beltman; their Ecuadorian colleagues, led by Pablo Fajardo and Luis
Yanza; and their front organizations, the Amazon Defense Front and Selva Viva. These con-
spirators are collectively referred to herein as the “RICO Defendants.”! Their co-conspirators in
the enterprise include, among others, U.S. law firms and attorneys, such as Joseph Kohn of Kohn
Swift & Graf, P.C., Emery Celli Brinckerhoff & Abady LLP, Motley Rice LLC and Patton
Boggs LLP; U.S. environmental “activists,” such as Atossa Soltani, Amazon Watch, and Rain-
forest Action Network; U.S. public relations consultants, such as Karen Hinton; and additional
financiers, such as Russell DeLeon and the Burford Group.

2. The enterprise’s ultimate aim is to create enough pressure on Chevron in the
United States to extort it into paying to stop the campaign against it. The RICO Defendants have

sought to inflict maximum “damage to [Chevron’s] reputation,” to put “personal psychological

' Forty-seven of the 48 Ecuadorian individuals who are named in the caption of the Lago
Agrio complaint are also named as defendants here (the exception being one who is now de-
ceased). Whether or not these 47 individuals were actively involved with the corrupt acts de-
scribed in the Complaint, or knew or should have known about them, the Lago Agrio Litiga-
tion and multiple acts in United States courts have been undertaken in their names, as well as
in the name of the Amazon Defense Front, by the other defendants or those acting in concert
with them on their behalves. Thus, they are vicariously liable for the torts of their agents un-
dertaken on their behalf, can in no way benefit from a corruptly obtained judgment, and any
relief Chevron procures by means of this action or other legal avenues applies equally to
these 47 Ecuadorian individuals, who necessarily would thereby be acting in concert with
their corrupt agents.



pressure [on] their top executives,” to disrupt Chevron’s relations with its shareholders and in-
vestors, to provoke U.S. federal and state governmental investigations, and thereby force the
company into making a payoff.

3. To effect this plan, the RICO Defendants initiated a sham litigation in Lago
Agrio, Ecuador (the “Lago Agrio Litigation™), claiming to seek money damages for “collective
environmental rights” of the “affected” “communities” to remediate alleged petroleum contami-
nation in Ecuador’s Oriente region. The Lago Agrio Litigation was directed and funded in sig-
nificant part from the United States by United States residents, such as Donziger and Kohn. In
prosecuting the Lago Agrio Litigation, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators have en-
gaged in a series of corrupt acts. For example, they have submitted in the Lago Agrio Litigation
fabricated evidence in the form of expert reports in the name of a U.S. environmental consultant,
Dr. Charles Calmbacher, that he did not draft or approve. They also pressured U.S. environ-
mental consultant David Russell to generate an inflated $6 billion damages figure, which they
never filed in Lago Agrio but instead touted in the press and, via co-conspirator Amazon Watch,
submitted to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission in an attempt to trigger a Sarbanes-
Oxley investigation. And they arranged the appointment of Richard Stalin Cabrera Vega
(“Cabrera™) as the Ecuadorian court’s sole expert to conduct a “global damages assessment.”
They then secretly met with Cabrera to plan his report and—in the United States—ghostwrote
the report and its annexes that Cabrera adopted “pretty much verbatim.” The U.S.-based con-
sultant RICO Defendants drafted “comments” purporting to criticize “the Expert’s work and
conclusions,” even though they had written his initial report themselves, and then ghostwrote
“Cabrera’s” responses to their own “comments,” increasing his fake damage assessment to more
than $27 billion. In addition, the RICO Defendants have adopted a strategy to intimidate Ecua-
dorian judges, whom they have described as “mak|[ing] decisions based on who they fear the
most, not based on what the laws should dictate,” and they have colluded with the Republic of

Ecuador to procure sham criminal charges against Chevron’s attorneys.



4. To pressure Chevron in the United States, the RICO Defendants have cited this
fabricated evidence, Cabrera’s supposedly “independent” report and these trumped-up criminal
charges in false statements to the U.S. Congress, the U.S. Department of Justice, state and fed-
eral regulatory agencies, including the Securities and Exchange Commission, the U.S. media,
~ and Chevron shareholders, among others. They have also made false statements to U.S. courts in
an attempt to cover up their wrongdoing and to obstruct Chevron's discovery efforts. In fact,
when U.S. d.iscovery proceedings were poised last March to require disclosure of the RICO De-
fendants’ collusion with Ecuadorian court expert Cabrera, the RICO Defendants sought to delay
the truth from coming out. As one of the Ecuadorian lawyers told Defendant Donziger at the
time, “the effects” of disclosure “are potentially devastating in Ecuador (apart from destroying
the proceeding, all of us, your attorneys, might go to jail).” U.S. counsel agreed, admitting in a
remarkable series of internal emails that “it appears not only that Cabrera and plaintiffs can be
charged with a ‘fraud’ respecting the former’s report, but that Stratus was an active conspirator.”
Undeterred, however, Donziger and other U.S. counsel then conspired to “cleanse” the Cabrera
scandal by submitting to the Lago Agrio court last September new expert reports which largely
relied on the tainted “Cabrera” report, but hiked the damages sought to $113 billion.

5. The RICO Defendants’ conduct violates the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
Organizations Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1961 ef seq., with predicate acts of extortion, mail and wire
fraud, money laundering, obstruction of justice, and witness tampering, among others. In addi-
tion, Defendants’ conduct constitutes common law fraud, unjust enrichment, intentional interfer-
ence with contract, trespass to chattels, and civil conspiracy, among others. As a result, Defen-
dant’s misconduct entitles Chevron to injunctive relief precluding Defendants from attempting to
enforce any judgment emanating from the proceedings in Lago Agrio, Ecuador, a declaratory

judgment that any such judgment is unenforceable, damages, and other relief.



PARTIES AND RELEVANT NON-PARTIES
Plaintiff

6. Plaintiff Chevron Corporation (“Chevron”) is a Delaware corporation with its
principal place of business located at 6001 Bollinger Canyon Road, San Ramon, California
94583. Chevron is therefore a citizen of Delaware and California.

RICO Defendants

7. The defendants listed in paragraphs 8 through 16 are the individuals who have
conspired to engage in a pattern of racketeering activity, have each committed numerous crimi-
nal acts as part of their scheme to defraud and extort Chevron, and have each participated in the
operation or management of the criminal enterprise. These defendants shall be referred to herein
as the “RICO Defendants.”

8. Defendant Steven Donziger (“Donziger”) is currently a “consulting” attorney for
the Amazon Defense Front in the Lago Agrio Litigation and, as he described himself, “the per-
son primarily responsible for putting [the Lago Agrio] team together and supervising it.”
Donziger is an individual residing in New York, New York, with an intention to reside there in-
definitely, and is therefore a citizen of New York. Exercise of jurisdiction over Donziger is rea-
sonable and proper in this District for the reasons set forth in paragraph 23, infra.

9. Defendant the Law Offices of Steven R. Donziger is a sole proprietorship lo-
cated at 245 W. 104th Street, #7D, New York, New York 10025, and is therefore a citizen of the
State of New York. Exercise of jurisdiction over the Law Offices of Steven R. Donziger is rea-
sonable and proper in this District for the reasons set forth in paragraph 24, infra.

10. Defendant Pablo Fajardo Mendoza (“Fajardo”) is counsel of record for the Ama-
zon Defense Front as well as purportedly counsel of record for the named plaintiffs in the Lago
Agrio Litigation. Fajardo is an individual residing in Ecuador, with an intention to reside there
indefinitely, and is therefore a citizen of Ecuador. Exercise of jurisdiction over Fajardo is rea-

sonable and proper in this District for the reasons set forth in paragraph 26, infra.



11. Defendant Luis Yanza (“Yanza”) is the co-founder of the Amazon Defense
Front and is or has been the General Manager for Defendant Selva Viva. Yanza is an individual
residing in Ecuador, with an intention to reside there indefinitely, and is therefore a citizen of
Ecuador. Exercise of jurisdiction over Yanza is reasonable and proper in this District for the rea-
sons set forth in paragraph 27, infra.

12. Defendant Frente de Defensa de la Amazonia, a’k/a the Amazon Defense Front
or Amazon Defense Coalition (the “Frente” or the “Front™), is a “non-profit” organization pur-
porting to represent the “plaintiffs” in the Lago Agrio Litigation. The Front is the designated
“trustee” in the Lago Agrio Litigation, and seeks to be charged with administering the portion of
any judgment entered against Chevron as defined by the Lago Agrio court not received by the
Republic of Ecuador or the other Defendants. The Front is a non-profit organization registered
under the laws of Ecuador with offices located in the town of Nueva Loja (Lago Agrio) in the
province of Sucumbios, Ecuador. The Front is therefore a citizen of Ecuador. Exercise of juris-
diction over the Front is reasonable and proper in this District for the reasons set forth in para-
graph 28, infra.

13. Defendant Selva Viva, a/k/a Selva Viva Selviva CIA, Ltda. (“Selva Viva”) is or
was an Ecuadorian limited liability company with an office located at 1240 Shirys Street, Tum-
baco, Ecuador. Selva Viva is therefore a citizen of Ecuador. Defendant the Front created Selva
Viva to administer funds for the litigation. Defendant the Front controls Selva Viva, Defendant
Donziger is or has been the President of Selva Viva, and Defendant Yanza is or has been the
General Manager of Selva Viva. Exercise of jurisdiction over Selva Viva is reasonable and
proper in this District for the reasons set forth in paragraph 29, infra.

14. Defendant Stratus Consulting, Inc. (“Stratus”) provided various environmental
consulting services to the RICO Defendants, and was involved in producing the purportedly “in-
dependent” expert report filed in the Lago Agrio Litigation. Stratus is a private corporation in-

corporated in Colorado with its main office at 1881 Ninth Street, Suite 201, Boulder, Colorado



80302, and is therefore a citizen of Colorado. Exercise of jurisdiction over Stratus is reasonable
and proper in this District for the reasons set forth in paragraph 25, infra.

15. Defendant Douglas Beltman (“Beltman”) is an Executive Vice President of Stra-
tus. Beltman is an individual residing in Colorado, with an intention to reside there indefinitely,
and is therefore a citizen of Colorado. Exercise of jurisdiction over Beltman is reasonable and
proper in this District for the reasons set forth in paragraph 25, infra.

16. Defendant Ann Maest (“Maest”) is a Managing Scientist at Stratus. Maest is an
individual residing in Colorado, with an intention to reside there indefinitely, and is therefore a
citizen of Colorado. Exercise of jurisdiction over Maest is reasonable and proper in this District
for the reasons set forth in paragraph 25, infra.

Non-Party Co-Conspirators

17. Certain other non-party individuals and business entities played roles, direct or
indirect, in the scheme to defraud and extort Chevron. Foremost among these individuals and
business entities are the following:

a. Joseph Kohn (“Kohn”) of the law firm Kohn Swift & Graf, P.C. (“Kohn Swift”)
is or has been a funder and a “consulting” attorney for the Amazon Defense Front
in the Lago Agrio Litigation. Kohn is a resident of Pennsylvania.

b. Kohn Swift is a professional corporation organized under the laws of the State of
Pennsylvania with its principal place of business located at One South Broad
Street, Suite 2100, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19107. Kohn Swift has bankrolled
the Lago Agrio Litigation as one of its “flagship cases” and funded the co-
conspirators’ other illegal activities.

c. Joshua Lipton (“Lipton”™) is the President of Stratus and is a resident of Colorado.
Together with the RICO Defendants, Lipton coordinated and oversaw the use of
Stratus and other resources by the RICO Defendants to ghostwrite the Cabrera
Report and publicize its findings. To these ends, Lipton met with Donziger to

discuss the RICO Defendants’ plan to draft portions of the Cabrera Report and



was included in various correspondence concerning Stratus’s work in ghostwrit-
ing the Cabrera Report.

David Chapman (“Chapman”) is a Principal at Stratus and is a resident of Colo-
rado. Chapman proposed drafting the Cabrera Report to Donziger, worked with
Lipton and the RICO Defendants to coordinate the use of Stratus resources in the
ghostwriting of the Cabrera Report, and participated in the subsequent obstruction
of Chevron’s efforts to uncover evidence of the fraud in U.S. court proceedings.
He met with Donziger to discuss the RICO Defendants’ plan to ghostwrite the
Cabrera Report, signed Stratus’s report endorsing the Cabrera Report, and per-
jured himself in a deposition when he testified that he had no reason to believe
that Stratus had provided work product to Cabrera.

William Powers (“Powers”) is a subcontractor for Stratus and is a resident of
California. Powers had responsibility for components of the fraudulent scheme to
ghostwrite the Cabrera Report; he worked on two annexes of the Cabrera Report
and drafted portions of Cabrera’s supplemental report.

Amazon Watch is a “non-profit” organization with its main office at 221 Pine
Street, San Francisco, California 94104. Amazon Watch undertakes various pro-
jects ostensibly on behalf of environmental and human rights causes in the Ama-
zon Basin. In connection with the Lago Agrio Litigation, Amazon Watch applied
its experience and resources in public, media and government relations to use the
Cabrera Report and other false and fraudulent claims as the basis for the RICO
Defendants’ public pressure campaign against Chevron. With the Amazon De-
fense Front, Amazon Watch maintains at least one of the RICO Defendants’ web-
sites, chevrontoxico.com, and through that and other means, distributes false and
misleading statements as part of the RICO Defendants’ extortionate scheme.

Kohn and Kohn Swift are significant financial supporters of Amazon Watch.



g. Atossa Soltani (“Soltani™) is the founder and executive director of Amazon Watch
and, in that capacity, Soltani repeatedly distributed false and misleading state-
ments about Chevron and the Lago Agrio Litigation as part of the RICO Defen-
dants’ extortionate scheme. She has also worked with Donziger, Yanza and other
RICO Defendants to coordinate the public pressure campaign against Chevron,
and to develop the RICO Defendants’ strategy of manipulating the Lago Agrio
court through intimidation and collusion with the Republic of Ecuador. Soltani is
a resident of California.

h. Rainforest Action Network (“RAN”) is a “non-profit” organization with its main
office at 221 Pine Street, San Francisco, California 94104. The organization spe-
cializes in boycotts, demonstrations, and other high-profile means of exerting
pressure on corporations that it perceives threaten the world’s rainforests. In
close concert with Amazon Watch (with which it shares a headquarters location),
RAN has organized demonstrations and boycotts against Chevron and distributed
false and misleading statements about Chevron and the Lago Agrio Litigation.
RAN also maintains at least one of the websites, changechevron.org, through
which the RICO Defendants distribute false and misleading statements.

1. Richard Stalin Cabrera Vega (“Cabrera”) is a mining engineer and court expert in
the Lago Agrio Litigation and a resident of Ecuador. The RICO Defendants se-
cured his appointment as a purportedly independent court expert in the Lago
Agrio Litigation. He was paid by the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators
for his cooperation in signing a fraudulent report ghostwritten by the RICO De-
fendants and their co-conspirators and he has repeatedly misrepresented his inde-
pendence.

j.  Alberto Wray (“Wray”) is the former counsel of record for the plaintiffs in the
Lago Agrio Litigation and is a resident of Washington, D.C. Wray previously

served on Ecuador’s Supreme Court and has significant political connections in



Ecuador. The RICO Defendants have used Wray’s connections to procure the
sham criminal investigations of Chevron’s attorneys.

Cristobal Bonifaz (“Bonifaz”) of the Law Offices of Cristobal Bonifaz was coun-
sel of record for plaintiffs in two actions that were filed in the Southern District of
New York, Aguinda v. Texaco, Inc., No. 93 Civ. 7527 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 3, 1993),
and Jota v. Texaco, Inc., No. 94 Civ. 9266 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 28, 1994). Bonifazis a
resident of Massachusetts. Until in or about 2006, Bonifaz was also a consulting
attorney for the Front, and purportedly the named plaintiffs, in the Lago Agrio
Litigation.

Karen Hinton (“Hinton”) is a spokeswoman for the Front in the United States and
is a resident of Virginia. Hinton assisted the RICO Defendants in the develop-
ment of their public pressure campaign and, often in concert with Amazon Watch,
has authored false and misleading press releases and media statements about the
Lago Agrio Litigation in furtherance of the RICO Defendants’ extortionate
scheme.

. E-Tech International (“E-Tech”) is an environmental consulting firm located at
231 Las Mananitas, Santa Fe, New Mexico 87501. E-Tech provided various en-
vironmental consulting services to the RICO Defendants and helped the RICO
Defendants secretly draft Cabrera’s work plan and otherwise colluded with
Cabrera.

Burford Capital Limited, Burford Group Limited, and Burford Group LLC (col-
lectively, “Burford”) are associated entities in the business of litigation finance.
Burford Capital Limited is registered in the Bailiwick of Guernsey and is publicly
traded on the London Stock Exchange’s AIM Market. Burford Group Limited is
also a Guernsey corporation, and it operates in the United States through its sub-

sidiary Burford Group LLC, which has its principal office at 1185 Avenue of the



Americas, New York, NY 10036. Burford began funding the Lago Agrio Litiga-
tion in 2010.

0. Russell DeLeon (“DeLeon™) is a law school friend of Donziger’s and entrepre-
neur whose businesses include PartyGaming Plc, an online gambling company
headquartered in Gibraltar. DeLeon has funded the RICO Defendants’ activities
for several years, providing over $1 million in support, and has made payments
directly to Ecuadorians including Pablo Fajardo and others.

p. Emery Celli Brinckerhoff & Abady LLP (“Emery Celli”) is a law firm located at
75 Rockefeller Plaza, 20th Floor, New York, New York 10019. Emery Celli has
spearheaded the RICO Defendants’ obstruction and cover-up efforts in the United
States, filing numerous meritless filings in opposition to Chevron’s discovery
proceedings in U.S. courts in an express effort to delay those proceedings and
“buy time” for the RICO Defendants’ criminal scheme.

q. Patton Boggs LLP (“Patton Boggs”) is a law firm with its principal office at 2550
M Street, NW, Washington D.C. 20037. Patton Boggs has developed the RICO
Defendants’ strategy for pursuing the assets of Chevron and its subsidiaries
around the world on the basis of a fraudulent judgment in Ecuador, and has also
been instrumental in the cover-up and obstruction of Chevron’s U.S. discovery
proceedings.

r. Motley Rice LLC (“Motley Rice”) is a law firm with an office located at One
Corporate Center, 20 Church St., Hartford, Connecticut 06103. Motley Rice has
participated in the obstruction of Chevron’s U.S. discovery efforts.

18. At all relevant times, each and every non-party named in paragraph 17 was act-
ing in concert with, or as an agent for, one or more of the RICO Defendants and, further, as de-
scribed in more detail below, conspired with one or more of the other RICO Defendants to per-

form the acts averred herein.
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Remaining Defendants

19. The Lago Agrio Litigation was ostensibly brought on behalf of forty-eight
named individual Ecuadorians,? referred to herein as the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs. They seek no
individual damages in the Lago Agrio Litigation, and the signatures for twenty of the Lago Agrio
Plaintiffs’on the power of attorney form submitted along with the complaint in the Lago Agrio
Litigation are the product of forgery. Whether or not the individual Lago Agrio Plaintiffs were
or are aware of the fraud that has been perpetrated by the RICO Defendants and their co-
conspirators in their names, the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs cannot benefit from the fraud and corrupt
acts perpetrated ostensibly on their behalf.

20. At all relevant times, the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs have been individuals residing in
the Republic of Ecuador. The Lago Agrio Plaintiffs are those individuals identified in Appendix
A to this Complaint, which is incorporated by reference as if set forth herein in its entirety.

SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION AND VENUE

21. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over Chevron’s claims under
28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1332, and under 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c). Chevron’s first claim for relief
arises under 18 U.S.C. § 1961 et seq., as hereinafter more fully appears. There is also complete
diversity of citizenship between the parties, and the amount in controversy exceeds $75,000, ex-
clusive of interest and costs. Chevron’s state law claims arise out of the same case or contro-
versy as its federal law claims, as all claims in this action arise out of a common nucleus of op-
erative facts. Thus, this Court also has supplemental jurisdiction over Chevron’s state law claims
under 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

22. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2), as a substantial
number of the events giving rise to this action occurred in this District, and also under 18 U.S.C.

§ 1965.

2 One of these individuals, Esteban Lusitante Yaiguaje, is now deceased and thus is not named
as a defendant in this case.
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PERSONAL JURISDICTION

23. Exercise of jurisdiction over Defendant Donziger is reasonable and proper in this
District because Donziger is a citizen of the State of New York and because he conducts exten-
sive business activities within the State. Donziger is the sole proprietor of the Law Offices of
Steven R. Donziger, which is located and does business in New York. Through his activities in
New York, Donziger has served as the ringleader in the enterprise to defraud and extort Chevron,
working closely with the other RICO Defendants in this action. For Chevron’s claims for viola-
tions of 18 U.S.C. § 1962 and New York state law, exercise of jurisdiction over Donziger is
proper pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1965(a) and N.Y. C.P.L.R. § 301.

24. Exercise of jurisdiction over the Law Offices of Steven R. Donziger is reason-
able and proper in this District because the Law Offices of Steven R. Donziger is a citizen of
New York, and because it conducts extensive business activities in the State. Further, by and
through the activities of Donziger described above, the Law Offices of Steven R. Donziger has
served as a key player in the conspiracy against Chevron. For Chevron’s claims for violations of
18 U.S.C. § 1962 and New York state law, exercise of jurisdiction over the Law Offices of Ste-
ven R. Donziger is proper pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1965(a) and N.Y. C.P.L.R. § 301.

25. Defendants Stratus, Beltman, and Maest are all residents of the United States.
For Chevron’s claims for violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1962, the exercise of jurisdiction over each of
these defendants is proper in this District pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1965(b). The ends of justice
require application of the nationwide service provisions of 18 U.S.C. § 1965(b) because there is
no district in which all of the RICO Defendants could otherwise be tried together. For Chevron’s
claims under New York state law, exercise of jurisdiction over Defendants Stratus, Beltman, and
Maest is proper pursuant to N.Y. C.P.L.R. § 302. Through their agents and co-conspirators, De-
fendants Stratus, Beltman, and Maest have transacted and continue to transact business in the
State of New York, and there is a substantial nexus between Defendants Stratus, Beltman, and

Maest’s purposeful availment of the New York forum and Chevron’s claims.

12



- 26. Exercise of jurisdiction over Fajardo is proper pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1965(b)
and N.Y. C.P.L.R. § 302. Fajardo has transacted business and engaged in tortious conduct in the
United States and New York which give rise in part to Chevron’s claims. Among other things,
Fajardo (i) met with his co-conspirators in the United States multiple times to plan the ghostwrit-
ing of the Cabrera Report, including trips to New York to meet with Donziger and to Boulder,
Colorado; (i) acted in the United States and New York to conceal the conspiracy and fraud, in-
cluding falsely testifying in In re Application of Chevron, Case No. 10 MC 00002 (S.D.N.Y.
Aug. 6, 2010) that Cabrera was “independent” while knowing the RICO Defendants’ role in
Cabrera’s appointment and reports (see id., Dkt. 31 at Ex. 46); (iii) solicited and obtained funds
for the Lago Agrio Litigation while in the United States and, on information and belief, in New
York; and (iv) caused to be filed in the Southern District of New York an action on behalf of the
Lago Agrio Plaintiffs to stay the international arbitration that Chevron initiated pursuant to the
United States-Ecuador Bilateral Investment Treaty (the “Treaty Arbitration”), Yaiguaje et al. v.
Chevron Corp. and Texaco Petroleum Co., No. 10 CV 316 (LBS) (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 14, 2010)
(“Yaiguaje”). Fajardo has also engaged in intentional, wrongful, illegal, and/or tortious acts the
effects of which Fajardo knew and intended would be felt in the United States and New York.
For example, Fajardo has (i) directed a multitude of phone calls, emails, and other forms of
communication to his co-conspirators in the United States and New York for the purpose of
planning and carrying out their conspiracy and fraud; and (it) participated in and orchestrated
campaigns in the United States and New York to influence United States federal officials, State
of New York officials, financial analysts, investors, and stockholders for the purpose of extorting
money from Chevron. Also, as set forth more fully herein, Fajardo’s co-conspirators and agents
have engaged in intentional, wrongful, illegal, and/or tortious acts in the United States and New
York. Fajardo was aware of the effects in the United States and New York of those acts, the ac-
tivities of Fajardo’s co-conspirators and agents were to the benefit of Fajardo, and his co-
conspirators and agents were working at the direction, under the control, at the request, and/or on

behalf of Fajardo in committing those acts.
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27. Exercise of jurisdiction over Yanza is proper pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1965(b)
and N.Y. C.P.L.R. § 302. Yanza has transacted business and engaged in tortious conduct in the
United States and New York which give rise in part to Chevron’s claims. Among other things,
Yanza (i) met with his co-conspirators in the United States multiple times to plan the ghostwrit-
ing of the Cabrera Report, including trips to New York to meet with Donziger and to Boulder,
Colorado; (ii) caused funds to be transferred within the United States and from the United States
to Ecuador in furtherance of the RICO Defendants’ wrongful activities; (iii) attended Chevron
shareholder meetings to attempt to pressure Chevron’s stockholders and board of directors in fur-
therance of the conspiracy; (iv) solicited and received funds for the Lago Agrio Litigation while
in the United States and, on information and belief, in New York and from persons in the United
States and New York directly and through agents by other means for the purpose of carrying out
the conspiracy and fraud; (v) attempted to conceal the conspiracy and fraud by making false and
misleading statements in the United States and elsewhere; and (vi) caused to be filed in the
Southern District of New York the Yaiguaje action on behalf of the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs to stay
the Treaty Arbitration initiated by Chevron. Yanza has also engaged in intentional, wrongful,
illegal, and/or tortious acts the effects of which Yanza knew and intended would be felt in the
United States and New York. For example, Yanza has (i) directed multitudes of phone calls,
emails, and other forms of communication to his co-conspirators in the United States and New
York for the purpose of planning and carrying out their conspiracy and fraud; and (ii) partici-
pated in and orchestrated campaigns in the United States and New York to influence United
States federal officials, State of New York officials, financial analysts, investors, and stockhold-
ers for the purpose of extorting money from Chevron. Also, as set forth more fully herein,
Yanza’s co-conspirators and agents have engaged in intentional, wrongful, illegal, and/or tortious
acts in the United States and New York. Yanza was aware of the effects in the United States and
New York of those acts, the activities of Yanza’s co-conspirators and agents were to the benefit
of Yanza, and his co-conspirators and agents were working at the direction, under the control, at

the request, and/or on behalf of Yanza in committing those acts.
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28. Exercise of jurisdiction over the Front is proper pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1965(b)
and N.Y. C.P.L.R. § 302. The Front has been designated trustee in the Lago Agrio Litigation
and stands to benefit from any fraudulent judgment entered against Chevron. Yanza is the
Front’s co-founder, Fajardo is a leader within the organization, and at all times relevant herein
Yanza and Fajardo were acting as the Front’s co-conspirators, agents and/or alter egos in perpe-
trating the conspiracy and fraud against Chevron. By and through its co-conspirators, agents
and/or alter egos Yanza and Fajardo, the Front has transacted business and engaged in tortious
conduct in the United States and New York which give rise in part to Chevron’s claims, as set
forth more fully above. The Front has also engaged in intentional, wrongful, illegal, and/or tor-
tious acts the effects of which the Front knew and intended would be felt in the United States and
New York. Among other things, the Front: (i) directed multitudes of phone calls, emails, and
other forms of communication to its co-conspirators in the United States and New York for the
purpose of planning and carrying out their conspiracy and fraud; (ii) maintains or causes to be
maintained a website intentionally directed towards a U.S.-based audience called
www.texacotoxico.org through which the Front has attempted to conceal the conspiracy and
fraud by making false and misleading statements and, on information and belief, raised funds
from the United States and New York for the purpose of carrying out the conspiracy and fraud;
(ii1) solicited and received funds from persons in the United States and New York directly and
through agents by other means for the purpose of carrying out the conspiracy and fraud; (iv) used
Amazon Watch as its public relations firm in the United States to publish false and misleading
statements to conceal the conspiracy and fraud; and (v) hired a Washington, D.C.-based lobbyist
to pursue its and its co-conspirators’ interests before the U.S. Congress. Also, as set forth more
fully herein, the Front’s co-conspirators and agents have engaged in intentional, wrongful, ille-
gal, and/or tortious acts in the United States and New York. The Front was aware of the effects
in the United States and New York of those acts, the activities of the Front’s co-conspirators and

agents were to the benefit of the Front, and its co-conspirators and agents were working at the
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direction, under the control, at the request, and/or on behalf of the Front in committing those
acts.

29. Exercise of jurisdiction over Selva Viva is proper pursuant to 18 U.S.C.

§ 1965(b) and N.Y. C.P.L.R. § 302. Donziger is or has been the President of Selva Viva, Yanza
is or was the General Manager of Selva Viva, and at all times relevant herein Donziger, Yanza
and Fajardo were acting as Selva Viva’s co-conspirators, agents and/or alter egos in perpetrating
the conspiracy and fraud against Chevron. By and through its co-conspirators, agents and/or al-
ter egos Donziger, Yanza and Fajardo, Selva Viva has transacted business and engaged in tor-
tious conduct in the United States and New York which give rise in part to Chevron’s claims, as
set forth more fully above. Selva Viva has also directly transacted business and engaged in tor-
tious conduct in the United States which give rise in part to Chevron’s claims. The RICO De-
fendants use or have used Selva Viva as a conduit for funding their wrongful activities in Ecua-
dor. Selva Viva has solicited and received several payments from Kohn Swift in the United
States in order to fund the Lago Agrio Litigation, and some of those payments were subsequently
channeled to Cabrera from a Selva Viva bank account. Also, as set forth more fully herein,
Selva Viva’s co-conspirators and agents have engaged in intentional, wrongful, illegal, and/or
tortious acts in the United States and New York. Selva Viva was aware of the effects in the
United States and New York of those acts, the activities of Selva Viva’s co-conspirators and
agents were to the benefit of Selva Viva, and its co-conspirators and agents were working at the
direction, under the control, at the request, and/or on behalf of Selva Viva in committing those
acts.

30. Exercise of jurisdiction over the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs is proper pursuant to N.Y.
C.P.L.R. §§ 301-02 because the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs have purposefully availed themselves of
the New York forum by purportedly engaging New York attorneys and instituting and otherwise
participating in related litigation in this District. The Lago Agrio Plaintiffs have reportedly hired
Defendant Donziger, a New York attorney, to represent their interests in the Lago Agrio Litiga-

tion. Additionally, they have reportedly hired co-conspirator Emery Celli, a New York law firm,
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to represent them in litigation pending in this Court and elsewhere in the United States. On Janu-
ary 14, 2010, the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs were the named plaintiffs in an action filed in this Court
against Chevron to stay the Treaty Arbitration that Chevron initiated to obtain relief for the Re-
public of Ecuador’s violations of its obligations under the United States-Ecuador Bilateral In-
vestment Treaty, investment agreements, and international law, including Ecuador’s failure to
abide by the negotiated settlement and releases relating to the remediation of the former conces-
sion area. See Yaiguaje, No. 10 CV 316 (LBS) (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 14, 2010), Transcript of Hearing,
Mar. 10-11, 2010. The Lago Agrio Plaintiffs have also intervened in Chevron’s 28 U.S.C.

§ 1782 proceedings in this Court (and in other federal district courts) by filing various motions
and briefs as “interested parties.” The Lago Agrio Plaintiffs’ involvement in the § 1782 proceed-
ings in this Court caused Judge Kaplan to specifically find that “they [have] subjected them-
selves to the personal jurisdiction of this Court.” In re Application of Chevron, 10 MC 00001
(LAK) (S.D.N.Y. July 22, 2010), 9/7/2010 Order at 23. There is a substantial nexus between the
Lago Agrio Plaintiffs’ purposeful availment of the New York forum and Chevron’s claims under
New York state law. For such claims, exercise of jurisdiction over the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs is

therefore proper pursuant to N.Y. C.P.L.R. §§ 301-02.

FACTUAL BASIS FOR CLAIMS
A. Background
31. This Complaint details how a group of U.S. plaintiffs’ lawyers, together with
U.S. and Ecuadorian co-conspirators, set about fraudulently exploiting images of environmental
degradation in rural Ecuador to extort money from a U.S. company in a criminal scheme. Many
of the quotations included in this Complaint were captured in video footage in the making of
Crude: The Real Price of Oil, a film commissioned by the RICO Defendants and their co-

conspirators in furtherance of their criminal scheme.
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1. TexPet Participates in Ecuador’s State Oil Consortium and Negotiates
Release From Liability in Return for Specified Remediation

32. In 1964, Ecuador granted oil exploration and production rights (known as a
“concession”) in a designated part of the Oriente region of Ecuador to Texaco Petroleum Com-
pany (“TexPet”) and the Ecuadorian Gulf Oil Company (“Gulf”), which then formed what came
to be known as the consortium. Ecuador’s state-owned oil company, Petroecuador (formerly
known as Corporacion Estatal Petrolera Ecuatoriana or CEPE), became a stakeholder in the con-
sortium in 1974 and, on December 31, 1976, it became the 62.5% majority stakeholder.

33. When the consortium began its exploration activities, TexPet and Gulf agreed
that TexPet would serve as the operator on behalf of both companies. As operator, and per the
terms of the 1965 Napo Joint Operating Agreement that governed the intéma] workings of the
consortium, TexPet was “in direct charge of carrying out the [p]arties’ work obligations and per-
forming other duties” with their prior consent and approval. Each party was obligated to provide
operating expenses and investment funds according to their ownership interest in the consortium.
TexPet was required to render its services as operator at cost and, in consideration therefore, was
to be indemnified and held harmless by the parties for any claims brought by third parties arising
out of or related to its performance as operator.

34. Once Petroecuador entered the consortium and after it became the majority
owner, TexPet continued to serve as operator. As majority owner, however, Petroecuador con-
tributed 62.5 percent of the consortium’s investments and operating costs and approved all an-
nual work programs and budgets. Petroecuador retained oversight of TexPet’s activities as op-
erator beyond the annual budgeting cycles by approving projects as they were implemented and
answering monthly “cash calls” with the funds necessary for each month’s operating expenses.

35. TexPet continued in the role of operator until 1990 when Petroecuador assumed
operations. In 1992 when the concession contract expired, Petroecuador took over 100% owner-
ship of the former consortium fields and facilities. TexPet has not operated any oilfields in Ec-

vador since 1990, and has had no ownership interest in any oilfield operations in Ecuador since
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1992. From 1992 to the present, Petroecuador has been the sole owner and operator of the for-
mer concession area.

36. Before its termination, the consortium’s activities generated over US$23 billion.
The Republic of Ecuador retained 97.3% of this amount, however, through an array of income
taxes, royalties, contributions for domestic consumption, and gross profit on Petroecuador’s
share. The money generated by the consortium represented more than 50% of Ecuador’s gross
national product during that period.

37. TexPet’s total profits over the life of the consortium were a small fraction of
those realized by Ecuador—Iless than US$500 million.

38. Since Petroecuador took over operational control in 1990, it has drilled 414 new
wells—almost 30% more than were drilled during TexPet’s 25 years as the operator—and, ac-
cording to Ecuadorian public media sources, was responsible for more than 1,400 disclosed spills
from 2000 to 2008 alone. Petroecuador’s environmental record has prompted Ecuador’s current
President, Rafael Correa to comment that Petroecuador “has dreadful environmental manage-
ment practices.”

39. Defendant Fajardo—before he realized that such candor might undercut the con-
spiracy’s attempts to extort Chevron—also spoke out against Petroecuador’s environmental re-

cord:

[Petroecuador is] unreliable because what Petro[ecuador] says is one thing and
what it does is the complete opposite. Since Texaco left here, Petro[ecuador] has
inflicted more damage and many more disasters than Texaco itself. But they’d
never, ever say that. So there’s one spill after another; there’s broken pipes,
there’s contamination of wetlands, of rivers, of streams in great magnitude. But
since it’s a state-owned company, since it’s the same people involved in the laws
and all, no one says a thing.

40. When Petroecuador took over as operator of the consortium in 1990, TexPet
consented to Ecuador’s request that it collaborate with Petroecuador to conduct an environmental
audit of the consortium’s oil fields. TexPet insisted, however, that Petroecuador, as majority

owner of the consortium, share responsibility for any necessary remediation that the audit identi-
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fied in the same manner as the parties had shared all operating costs. Ecuador acknowledged
that TexPet was responsible for only its 37.5% share of the costs of remediating the environ-
mental impact of the consortium’s operations, and the parties recognized that TexPet could not
be held responsible for the environmental impact of oil field operations conducted after its con-
cession rights expired in 1992.

41. In 1994, Ecuador publicly rejected the preliminary findings of the independent,
joint audit and threatened to bring suit against TexPet for injuries to Ecuador’s environment.
Ecuador further informed TexPet that Petroecuador would not participate with TexPet in con-
ducting envifonmental remediation because it lacked the necessary money to fund its share of the
work. Thus, instead of identifying remediation work to be funded jointly, Ecuador insisted that
the parties identify a set of remediation obligations corresponding to TexPet’s share of responsi-
bility.

42, On or about December 14, 1994, Ecuador, Petroecuador, and TexPet entered
into a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) in which they agreed to define TexPet’s “Scope
of the Work of Environmental Reparation” with respect to the “biotic” and “abiotic” environ-
ment, and also secured from TexPet a commitment to “carry out socio-economic compensation
projects in order to address problems . . . stemming from the oil operations. . . .” This compensa-
tory effort would accrue to the benefit not of the government in a narrow sense, but rather of the
larger population. In fact, elsewhere, the document expressly underscores that these projects had
to “tak[e] into account the residents of the Oriental Region.” In exchange, the MOU obligated
Ecuador to “negotiate the full and complete release of TexPet’s obligations for environmental
impact arising from the operations of the Consortium.”

43. The MOU furthered Ecuador’s own constitutional duties toward its citizens.
Under Article 19(2) of the extant Constitution, the authority to vindicate any environmental
rights on behalf of the Ecuadorian people was held exclusively by the Government of Ecuador.
According to the Ecuadorian Ambassador to the United States, “It is the Republic’s obligation to

become involved in matters that directly impact the welfare of Ecuadorian citizens, territory and
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natural resources, and the very sovereignty of the Republic of Ecuador. The recent agreement
between the Republic, Petroecuador and Texaco Petroleum Company, which was reviewed and
supported by the Ecuadorian Congress, . . . demonstrates the Republic’s determination to fulfill
this obligation.”

44, Thus, as TexPet was winding-down its operations, an Environmental Committee
of the Ecuadorian Congress insisted that any settlement agreement between TexPet and Ecuador
“indemnify or alleviate the negative environmental effects caused . . . to the Ecuadorian popula-
tion living in [the] Amazonian region,” and stressed, to that end, that TexPet had to provide
compensation in the “biotic, abiotic and socio-economic areas,” and, with an “atmosphere of
consensus|,] . . . tak[e] into consideration the inhabitants and authorities in the region.” TexPet
and the representatives of Ecuador and Petroecuador “t[ook] into consideration” the comments
and suggestions from the Ecuadorian Congress. Local politicians from the Oriente region also
played what they saw as a “leading role as the interested party” in the “negotiations to reach an
understanding between Texaco and the Ecuadorian Government regarding environmental reme-
diation in the Amazon.”

45. Defendant the Front also openly and actively participated in the negotiation of
this settlement between TexPet and Ecuador. Defendant Yanza, President of the Front, sought
an “audience” with the President of Ecuador “to explain directly the situation” of the people of
the Oriente whom he purported to represent, so that their situation “may be taken into considera-
tion when signing the agreements with [TexPet].” Yanza later submitted his group’s “proposal”
for defining the scope of work, which he claimed represented “far-reaching and vigorous work to
reach consensus” among the population. Reflecting this cooperation with groups like the Front,
Ecuadorian officials recently repeated, under oath, that the negotiations leading to these settle-
ments were “open for all those who wanted to attend,” and members of many environmental or-
ganizations, including the Front, did attend. These governmental officials saw themselves as the
“facilitator[s]” of an open dialogue between the communities and TexPet, and followed orders

from the “National Congress to take into account the problems that Amazonian groups were hav-
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ing.” As a result of this dialogue, the environmental groups were “behind everything that was
being done,” leading to a final instrument that considered and accounted for the interests of indi-
viduals and communities in the concession areas. When the MOU was opened to public scru-
tiny, and while the Scope of Work was being defined, the Front was one of the groups that wrote
to the Ministry of Energy and Mines to express their “agree[ment] that the process of under-
standing [between Ecuador and TexPet] and the immediate performance of the environmental
remediation work should continue.”

46. Pursuant to the terms of the MOU, on or about March 23, 1995, Ecuador,
Petroecuador, and TexPet executed a precise “Scope of Work” identifying the particular sites and
projects that would constitute TexPet’s remediation obligations, consistent with TexPet’s former
one-third ownership share of the consortium. The “Scope of Work” required the performance of
not only a vast remediation effort by TexPet, but also a number of socioeconomic projects, in-
cluding the payment of $1 million to a redress fund to “be used for the rehabilitation of the areas
affected, establishing, together with the population, viable systems for the use of renewable natu-
ral resources, and . . . to improve the quality of life.” The Ministry of Energy and Mines re-
ceived that money, and was entrusted to administer the fund “for the benefit of the Indigenous
Communities of the Amazonian region.” TexPet also financed the establishment of education
and medical centers in the Oriente, together with “logistical support” for those centers such as
ambulances and aircraft.

47. Following the execution of the Scope of Work, on or about May 4, 1995, Ecua-
dor, Petroecuador, and TexPet executed a settlement agreement (the “1995 Settlement Agree-
ment”). In consideration for its release from any future responsibility for environmental impacts,
TexPet agreed to perform the defined “Environmental Remedial and Mitigation Work” and pro-
vide “socio-economic compensation” for the affected areas. The 1995 Settlement Agreement
immediately “release[d], acquit[ted] and forever discharge[d]” TexPet from all claims based on
“Environmental Impact” from the consortium’s activities at sites not included in the Scope of

Work and provided that TexPet would be released from any “Environmental Impact™ associated
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with the sites covered by the Scope of Work upon completion of the prescribed remediation at
each site. In other words, because Petroecuador continued to operate the oil fields, it assumed
any residual or future responsibility, recognizing both its share of the past, as the former consor-
tium’s majority owner, and its control over the future, as sole owner and operator going forward.

48. The settlement was purposefully broad. “Environmental Impact” was defined as
“[a]ny solid, liquid or gaseous substance present or released into the environment in such con-
centration or condition, the presence or release of which causes, or has the potential to cause
harm to human health or the environment.” Reflecting this breadth of coverage, the release “in-
clude[ed] but [was] not limited to consequences of all types of injury that the Government or
Petroecuador may allege concerning persons, properties, business, reputations, and all other
types of injuries that may be measured in money, including but not limited to, trespass, nuisance,
negligence, strict liability, breach of warranty, or any other theory or potential theory of recov-
ery.” The claims expressly released also included all “causes of action under Article 19-2 of the
[1978] Political Constitution of the Republic of Ecuador,” which, as discussed in paragraph 43,
supra, placed the “duty [on] the State” to “oversee the preservation of nature” and guarantee all
Ecuadorians “[t]he right to live in a pollution-free environment.” The 1995 Settlement Agree-
ment was signed by Abril Ojeda, Ecuador’s Minister of Energy and Mines; Federico Vintimilla
Salcedo, Executive President of Petroecuador; Ricardo Reis Veiga, Vice President of TexPet;
and Rodrigo Pérez Pallares, legal representative of TexPet.

49. The 1995 Settlement Agreement also obligated TexPet “to continue negotia-
tions” with certain municipalities in eastern Ecuador that had also brought suit against the com-
pany. Filing materially identical complaints, the municipalities of Joya De Los Sachas, Orellana,
Shushufindi, and Lago Agrio had each sued TexPet in 1994 in order to protect “the health of
[their] citizens, the rivers of [their] communities.” These municipalities purported to fulfill their
quasi-sovereign duties to assist the Republic in meeting its environmental obligations to all citi-

zens, and to exercise their own capacity to “carry out legal actions” necessary to protect the “col-
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lective needs of [their] community” of inhabitants, specifically those needs coricerning health
and the environment.

50. In consideration for TexPet financing specified “social interest works,” each
municipality suit was settled in 1996, similarly “exempt[ing], releas[ing], exonerat[ing] and re-
liev[ing] forever” Texaco and TexPet “from any responsibility, claim, request, demand or com-
plaint, be it past, current or future, for any and all reasons related to” the consortium’s opera-
tions, “especially concerning damages possibly caused to the environment in said cantonal juris-
diction of the Municipality.” Each settlement agreement represented that the municipal govern-
ment had consulted “with the entities and organizations representing the community of its in-
habitants” in order to choose an appropriate reparation project. According to sworn statements
of the relevant government officials, each agreement met “the interests of The Community and
of its citizens as to any claims they may have against TEXPET.” All of these settlements were
“approve[d] . . . in full” by Ecuadorian courts because they “d[id] not violate any legal provi-
sion” and “coverfed] all issues described in the [municipality] complaint[s].”

51. In addition to the national and municipal governments, two Provinces also set-
tled their potential claims against TexPet in the name of their residents and of the ecosystems
within their respective territories. In 1996, the provincial government of Sucumbios conferred
“with entities and organizations representing the community of its inhabitants” in order to select
an acceptable reparation project and avoid a potential lawsuit with TexPet. It ultimately de-
manded, “according to the interests of the community,” that TexPet fund “social interest works,”
viz., “provincial eco-production projects.” A Consortium of Municipal Mayors in the Napo
Province also endorsed a settlement contract that identified their potential disputes with TexPet
relating to “the oil concession,” and, especially, to “the impact or damages possibly caused to the
environment.” Like its counterparts in Sucumbios and at the national level, it negotiated and set-
tled with TexPet in order to safeguard environmental and communal entitlements. These agree-
ments with the municipalities and provinces shall be referred to herein collectively as the “1996

Municipality Releases.”
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52. Pursuant to the terms of the 1995 Settlement Agreement with Ecuador, TexPet
selected Woodward-Clyde, one of the largest environmental engineering firms in the world at the
time, from a list provided by Ecuador of acceptable contractors to perform the remediation.
Woodward-Clyde conducted additional investigations of the well sites listed in the Scope of
Work and developed a Remedial Action Plan, which identified the specific pits at each well site
requiring remediation under the criteria set out in the 1995 Settlement Agreement and specified
the remedial action to be taken at each site. Ecuador reviewed Woodward-Clyde’s Remedial Ac-
tion Plan and conducted its own investigation of the sites to confirm that it was consistent with
the MOU and the 1995 Settlement Agreement. In September 1995, Ecuador, Petroecuador,
TexPet, and Woodward-Clyde each approved and signed off on the Remedial Action Plan.

53. Between October 1995 and September 1998, Woodward-Clyde conducted all of
the remediation required by the 1995 Settlement Agreement and the Remedial Action Plan on
behalf of TexPet and at TexPet’s expense. The remediation work was monitored and supervised
by Petroecuador, the Ministries of Energy and Environment, and outside auditors. Ecuador is-
sued a series of official records called “ Actas” during this time certifying the adequacy of the
remediation work that it had supervised and evaluated on an ongoing basis. In all, TexPet spent
approximately $40 million (unadjusted dollars) on environmental remediation and community
development in Ecuador pursuant to the 1995 Settlement Agreement in exchange for the releases
granted by Ecuador.

54. On September 30, 1998, Ecuador, Petroecuador, and TexPet executed the Acta
Final (the “1998 Final Release”), certifying that TexPet had performed all of its obligations un-
der the 1995 Settlement Agreement, and thus fully releasing TexPet from any and all environ-
mental liability arising from the consortium’s activities except for individual personal injury
claims, such as to specific persons or property, which the parties understood as not being covered
by the release. The 1998 Final Release was signed on behalf of Ecuador by Patricio Ribadeneira,

the Minister of Energy and Mines; on behalf of Petroecuador by Ramiro Gordillo, Executive
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Chairman, and by Luis Alban Granizo, Manager of Petroproduccion; and on behalf of TexPet by
Rodrigo Pérez Pallares and Ricardo Reis Veiga.

55. The validity of these agreements has been publicly acknowledged by the Repub-
lic of Ecuador, and—recently—by the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs as well. As noted above, supra
paragraphs 43 and 48, at the time the 1995 Settlement Agreement and the 1998 Final Kelease
were executed, the Republic of Ecuador was the only legal person or entity with standing to rep-
resent and assert legal claims for environmental damage. Ecuador, and only Ecuador, could de-
mand environmental remediation; individuals could only assert individual property damage or
personal injury claims. Accordingly, TexPet’s settlement with Ecuador and the affected munici-
palities and provinces fully discharged TexPet from any responsibility or liability that may have
existed for environmental impact as a result of the consortium’s activities, except individual per-

sonal injury claims.

2. U.S. Plaintiffs’ Lawyers Devise Baseless Litigation Against Chevron in
Ecuador
56. Certain plaintiffs’ attorneys in the United States sought to exploit any environ-

mental harm in the Oriente region by turning it into a financial windfall for themselves. These
U.S. plaintiffs’ attorneys (including Defendant Donziger and co-conspirators Kohn and Cristébal
Bonifaz), devised a plan to use TexPet’s former participation in the consortium as the basis for
extracting large sums of money from TexPet’s parent, Texaco, Inc. (“Texaco”). As Kohn de-
scribed his motivation, “[A]t the end of the day . . . , it [would] be a lucrative case for the firm.”
As Donziger described it, “I sit back and dream . . . . Billions of dollars on the table. A movie, a
possible book.” In other words, a financial windfall of unprecedented proportion, and one that
would make Donziger “quite wealthy.” According to Donziger’s estimates, he thought his “own
fee right now would be around 200m[illion].”

57. In 1993 and 1994, these U.S. plaintiffs’ attorneys filed two lawsuits against Tex-
aco in federal district court in New York, purportedly on behalf of classes of *“30,000 residents”

of the Oriente and “25,000 residents” of Peru. See Aguinda v. Texaco, Inc., No. 93 Civ. 7527
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(S.D.N.Y. Nov. 3, 1993) (“Aguinda”) and Jota v. Texaco, Inc., No. 94 Civ. 9266 (S.D.N.Y. Dec.
28, 1994) (“Jota”). Those actions were dismissed on grounds including forum non conveniens,
international comity, and failure to join indispensable parties Petroecuador and the Republic of
Ecuador.

58. Because Ecuador and Petroecuador had released TexPet from liability following
its remediation efforts and because Ecuadorian law does not allow class actions, the U.S. plain-
tiffs’ attorneys required the government’s cooperation to bring a potentially lucrative lawsuit in
Ecuador. The U.S. plaintiffs’ attorneys had no desire to sue Petroecuador or Ecuador for the
harms that had occurred—despite their actual culpability—because, as Defendant Donziger ex-
plained, “[T]he government here will never pay for any judgment. In contrast, Texaco can pay.”
In order to get the “juicy check” that, as Fajardo put it, was the ultimate goal, the U.S. plaintiffs’
attorneys struck a deal with the Ecuadorian government in order to bring an action against a con-
venient U.S. target.

59. The U.S. plaintiffs’ attorneys agreed not to sue Petroecuador and assured the
Republic of Ecuador that it would benefit from any judgment entered against Chevron in ex-
change for public and private governmental support for the U.S. plaintiffs’ attorneys’ case.

60. The U.S. plaintiffs’ attorneys presented Ecuador’s Attorney General with written
promises not to pursue legal action against the Republic of Ecuador or Petroecuador or to collect
a judgment against Ecuador if one were awarded to them. Bonifaz stated that “if the U.S. court
[in the Aguinda or Jota actions] finds both Petroecuador and Texaco guilty, we will not accept
the percentage of the claim assigned to [Petroecuador].” And he admitted that the Lago Agrio
Plaintiffs had “committed in legal documents not to sue Ecuador.”

61. With reported legislative assistance from the U.S. plaintiffs’ attorneys, Ecuador
enacted the Environmental Management Act of 1999 (the “EMA”). For the first time, the EMA
enabled private individuals to bring generalized environmental injury claims previously held ex-
clusively by the state. It also extended standing for the first time to private citizens to enforce

“collective environmental rights” for environmental harm. These actions are private in name
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only, however, because the EMA provides that any monetary judgment be awarded to the
“community.”

62. With a new and highly advantageous legal framework thus in place, the U.S.
plaintiffs’ attorneys, joined and assisted by other RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators,
filed the Lago Agrio Litigation, Maria Aguinda et al. v. Chevron-Texaco, in May 2003 in the
Superior Court of Nueva Loja, Ecuador. As a result of the EMA, and the RICO Defendants’ at-
tempt to apply it retroactively, the Lago Agrio Litigation is unusual in structure. The ostensible
plaintiffs in the Lago Agrio Litigation are forty-eight named individuals, but it is unknown
whether these individuals consented to have the litigation brought in their name, as twenty of
their signatures were forged in the very document that purported to provide authority to Ecuador-
1an counsel to file the complaint.

63. The Lago Agrio Litigation does not seek damages based on personal injuries to
the named Plaintiffs, which, along with claims for individual property damage, is the only type
of claim individuals could bring (see § 55, supra). Rather, relying on the EMA, the complaint
seeks the costs of remediating broadly defined “environmental damages,” the proceeds of which
will not directly benefit the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs. Defendants Donziger, Fajardo and the other
U.S. and Ecuadorian lawyers and investors reportedly expect up to 30% of the judgment. The
Republic of Ecuador reportedly expects 90% of the benefit, although the RICO Defendants and
their co-conspirators have already laid out plans to “keep the proceeds out of Ecuador,” by plac-
ing the funds in a “trust” outside of the country. Some portion is expected to go to the Front, a
fact that Donziger thought “best if Chevron did not know” out of concern that it “could harm the
image” of the litigation. The individual Lago Agrio Plaintiffs, on the other hand, will not receive
any portion of the judgment, and thus are at most only nominal plaintiffs.

64. In effect, the RICO Defendants are planning to control nearly all of the proceeds
from any judgment, shutting out the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs, the Republic of Ecuador, and
Petroecuador and setting themselves up as a source of patronage through billions of dollars in

remediation contracts that will be issued following an adverse judgment against Chevron, in a
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country whose entire annual Gross Domestic Product is just over $64 billion. In an email ex-
change with Fajardo and Donziger, for example, co-conspirator Julio Prieto noted that “Petroec-
uador is NOT the one who must contract the remediation companies . . . . That’s our job.” And
when the RICO Defendants heard that the Republic of Ecuador might be considering negotiating
with Chevron directly, they pushed to have those conversations shut down, urging that no “repre-
sentative of the Ecuadorian government . . . meet face to face with a representative of Chevron at
this juncture[.]”

65. The Lago Agrio complaint does not name the entity that has been responsible for
environmental harm in the Oriente region since at least 1992: Petroecuador. Pursuant to their
agreement not to bring any claims against Petroecuador or the Republic of Ecuador itself, the
Lago Agrio Plaintiffs’ U.S. representatives caused Chevron to be named as the only defendant in
the Lago Agrio Litigation, despite the fact that Chevron has never operated in Ecuador. (Years
after TexPet ceased operations in Ecuador, one of Chevron’s subsidiaries merged with Texaco,

TexPet’s ultimate parent company. Chevron thereby became an indirect shareholder of TexPet.)

B. The Conspirators Are Corrupting the Judicial Process to Extort a Payment
From Chevron

66. The support of the Republic of Ecuador, the manipulation of the EMA, and the
filing of the Lago Agrio Litigation provided the U.S. lawyers with the foundation for their crimi-
nal scheme. Through the conduct of their criminal enterprise, the conspirators set about to
manufacture false evidence and a fake “history” that they would repeat in every media outlet,
before Congress, in front of state and federal investigative and administrative agencies, and with
which they would seek to scare and mislead Chevron shareholders and investors. All of this was
done in furtherance of their scheme to coerce Chevron into making a massive payoff to the
criminal enterprise. As part of this scheme, the conspirators keep “jack[ing] up,” in Donziger’s
words, their demand. In 2003, they thought $6 billion was an aggressive number. In 2008, they

raised the stakes to $16 billion, and then to $27 billion. Today, their claim 1s for $113 billion.
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67. ‘The RICO Defendants’ criminal scheme has three main lines of attack: One, in-
timidate or corrupt the Lago Agrio court and obtain a fraudulent judgment against Chevron based
on manufactured evidence of liability. Two, collude with the Republic of Ecuador to procure
sham criminal charges against Chevron’s attorneys. Three, conduct a massive public pressure
campaign designed to spread false and misleading information about Chevron and the Lago
Agrio Litigation. The ultimate objective, in Donziger’s words, is to cause “damage to [Chev-
ron’s] reputation,” to put “personal psychological pressure [on] their top executives” through
threats and attacks through the media and force Chevron into a payoff.

68. Donziger has explained how the conspirators work to increase costs for Chevron

on all fronts until it gives in to their extortionate demands:

The work doesn’t let up just because I’'m in the U.S., at all. I mean, it’s still really
intense, you know, so it’s always looking for ways to increase the leverage and
increase the cost to Chevron for not doing anything. So, what’s the cost? The
cost 1s, right now, it’s the cost of the risk of getting a huge multi-billion dollar
judgment at trial, . . . it’s the cost of all the hassle they have to put up with from
the environmental groups, . . . it’s the cost of their sullied reputation, you know, in
the media.

69. The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators have shown no signs of stop-
ping their attack. Indeed, Donziger has threatened to try to enforce any fraudulent judgment ob-
tained in the Lago Agrio Litigation in the United States and in other foreign jurisdictions, observ-
ing that “Chevron operates in more than 100 countries and has numerous oil tankers that troll the
world’s waterways and dock in any number of ports . . . .” In arecent speech, Donziger asserted
that the conspirators are assembling a legal team to “seize assets, seize boats,” wherever Chev-
ron’s subsidiaries operate around the world—even though the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs previously
told this Court that Chevron’s defense against any Lago Agrio judgment should be restricted to
New York’s recognition act. Fajardo has likewise warned that the RICO Defendants plan to con-
fiscate Chevron’s assets in the United States in order to enforce the judgment. And Donziger has

also stated that the conspirators’ plan is to move on from Chevron and Ecuador and reprise their
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criminal scheme again and again: “take legal fees we can earn from this case and do more cases

like this in different places. With, you know, the same team, if possible.”

1. Pressuring the Lago Agrio Court and Manufacturing Evidence

a. Implementing Pressure Tactics and Colluding With Ecua-
dorian Government Officials

70. Central to the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ scheme to defraud
and extort Chevron is the fact that Ecuador’s judiciary has developed systemic weakness and
corruption, in addition to other significant flaws and shortcomings. The conspirators are aware
of this fact, and have sought to exploit it. According to Donziger, “[T]he court is now in play, up
for grabs, and accessible.” Donziger has boasted that, unlike in the United States, the “game” is
“dirty” and there are “almost no rules” in Ecuador. Donziger and his co-conspirators have
sought repeatedly to capitalize on the Ecuadorian judiciary’s weakness, threatening violence,
bullying judges, and using political connections to obtain rulings in their favor based on the
judges’ fear of repercussions rather than the facts or law. Indeed, Donziger instructed one of his
co-conspirators: “Please prepare a detailed plan with the necessary steps to attack the judge
through legal, institutional channels and through any other channel you can think of.” Attacking
the judge was necessary, because, as Donziger put it: “[T]he only way the court will respect us
is if they fear us—and . . . the only way they will fear us is if they think we have [sJome control
over their careers, their jobs, their reputations—that is to say, their ability to earn a livelihood.”
This fear and “constant pressure on the judge and the court” is essential to the RICO Defendants’
and their co-conspirators’ plan to obtain “a fast decision.” With assistance from the highest lev-
els of the Ecuadorian government, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators have all but
assured that a favorable but corrupt and fraudulent judgment from the Lago Agrio court is forth-
coming.

71. The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators do not view the enterprise in
which they are engaged as a lawsuit. As Donziger has explained, the litigation “is not a legal

case,” but a “political battle that’s being played out through a legal case.” In other words,
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Donziger and his co-conspirators knew that what “we need to do is to get the politics in order . . .
[because] the only way we’re going to succeed, in my opinion, is [i]f the country gets excited
about getting this kind of money out of Texaco . ... So you have to play to those . . . themes,
[with] those feelings these people have.” Consistent with this strategy, Donziger and the other
RICO Defendants know that their “success” will have nothing to do with pursuing the Lago
Agrio Litigation on the merits, but rather will depend on using that “litigation” as a vehicle or
pretense with which to attack Chevron in the media and before U.S. governmental bodies and
shareholders and force it into paying them off. In Donziger’s own words, the conspirators have
conducted the Lago Agrio Litigation as a “flat-out street brawl, extreme fighting through litiga-
tion” in which he and his co-conspirators are seemingly “only a short step away from smashing
the faces of our counterparts with a closed fist, or taking out guns[.]”

72. Donziger has acknowledged the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’
use of “pressure tactics” to influence and intimidate the Ecuadorian judiciary. Donziger admitted
that such tactics are “something you would never do in the United States. . . . But Ecuador, you
know . . . this is how the game is played, it’s dirty.” Donziger further declared that “there’s al-
most no rules here” and that “the only language that I believe, this judge is gonna understand 1s
one of pressure, intimidation and humiliation. And that’s what we’re doin’ today. We’re gonna
let him know what time itis. ... We’re going to scare the judge, I think today.” These fear tac-
tics are effective, according to Donziger, because Ecuadorian judges “are really not very bright”
and “make decisions based on who they fear the most, not based on what the laws should dic-
tate.” In fact, when an associate suggested to Donziger that no judge would rule against them
because “[h]e’ll be killed,” Donziger replied that, although the judge might not actually be killed
if he ruled against them, “he thinks he will be . . . . Which is just as good.” As a colleague told
Donziger, “The only way we will win this case is if the judge thinks he will be doused with gaso-
line and burned if he rules against us.” Donziger stated that this comment did not shock him.
Donziger further asserted: “[The judges] don’t have to be intelligent enough to understand the

law, just as long as they understand the politics.” And according to Donziger, “no judge can rule
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against us and feel like he can get away with it in terms of his career.” These threats are made all
the more real given the prevalence of violence in the Oriente region of Ecuador. Indeed, Fajardo
has acknowledged that paid assassins in the Oriente will kill someone for as little as $60, and the
region is known to harbor elements of the terrorist group FARC.

73. As part of their strategy to intimidate and coerce the Lago Agrio court, the RICO
Defendants and their co-conspirators plotted to raise what they called their own “private army,” a
“specialized group” detailed “to watch over the court,” for which, “if we need weapons, we can
provide weapons.” According to Fajardo, it was “necessary” for the RICO Defendants and their
co-conspirators to “organize pressure demonstrations at the court” that will be a “little bit aggres-
sive” in order to “teach the court a lesson.” During one meeting in which the “private army” was
discussed, Defendants Donziger and Yanza along with Amazon Watch founder Soltani and
Kevin Koenig, Amazon Watch’s Northern Amazon Program Coordinator, discussed their plans
to organize and finance attempts “to control the court, to pressure the court.” Donziger elabo-
rated that the conspirators “want to send a message to the court that, “‘don’t f{**]k with us any-
more—not now, and not—not later, and never.”” He observed that, “no one fears us right now.
And, until they fear us, we’re not gonna win this case. I’m convinced.” Accordingly, the con-
spirators planned to “take over the court with a massive protest,” with the goal of “shut[ting] the
court down for a day.” According to Donziger, “[O]nly after that should we talk to the judge
about what he needs to do. The judge needs to fear us for this to move how it needs to move,
and right now there is no fear, no price to pay for not making these key decisions.” Realizing the
ramifications of this plan, Soltani asked if the videotapes of the discussion could be subpoenaed,
advising: “I just want you to know that it’s—it’s illegal to conspire to break the law.”

74. Ignoring these qualms, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators put their
plan into effect, organizing their “army” in demonstrations at inspection sites and at the court-
house itself, intending to confront and instill fear into the court. Donziger described one action
to Joe Berlinger, the director of the film Crude: “[O]Jur private ‘army’ ... has been very effec-

tive. Yesterday they followed a Texaco lawyer into the judge’s chambers and had a confronta-
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tion. This is a critical part of our strategy that is allowing the case to go forward.” Over the en-
suing months, the conspirators’ private army would make numerous appearances at judicial in-
spections of environmental sites, at the courthouse, and in the streets of Lago Agrio, always
seeking to remind the judiciary that this was not litigation, but a “flat-out street brawl.” At one
such protest at a judicial inspection of the Sacha Sur Station, the RICO Defendants and their co-
conspirators amassed their “army” of protesters who the judge would not permit to enter the Sta-
tion due to the risk that such a large mob would pose to the Station’s operation. When Donziger
saw that what he described as his “army” would not be able to enter, he demanded that the
“f[**]kin’ judge” come to the gate to deal with the mob himself and warned that “they’re pro-
voking a violent incident.” Although the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ “army”
was rebuffed at this inspection, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators achieved their
purpose of letting the judiciary know that it was being watched by a potentially violent group. In
another incident, the conspirators organized a protest at the judge’s office after a canceled judi-
cial inspection. The intimidation was successful, causing the judge to “sweat” and “promis[e] to
make a decision” on a new date by the following day.

75. The RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ plan to instill fear in the judi-
ciary was only one approach to illegally obtaining a favorable ruling. Another approach in-
volved numerous attempts to personally influence, intimidate or negotiate with the judge in the
Lago Agrio Litigation, often through ex parte meetings. Donziger described such actions as
“lobbying.” Donziger, for example, has held numerous meetings with presiding judges, often
over lunch at the judges’ homes, during which he has “t[aken] advantage of the situation to ex-
plain [the RICO Defendants’] theory of the case.” During one such meeting, Donziger pressed
upon the judge the false assertion that “Texaco’s sampling is full of shit.” Donziger has also
asked his co-conspirators to meet with the judge in secret and press their case. On another occa-
sion, one of Donziger’s co-conspirators suggested that in order to get the court to rule in their
favor on an important legal point, “Maybe Pablo [Fajardo] can have one of his backroom conver-

sations.” And indeed, Fajardo and the Front—the organization that stands to receive a windfall
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from any judgment—have met directly with the judge, pressing the conspirators’ interests and
obtaining promises of cooperation from the judge. In August 2006, co-conspirator Joseph Mutti
updated Donziger that, “Luis [Yanza] reported that the judge appears to be backing down from
his position regarding the cancellation of the inspections and that pressure must be brought to
bear on him. Thus, it was resolved that two members of the coalition will be traveling to Lago
next week to meet with the judge. Esperanza already met with him twice this week—once with
an accompanying declaration—so he’s already feeling the pressure.” The RICO Defendants also
employed blackmail to get what they wanted. For example, the RICO Defendants “wrote up a
complaint against [Judge] Yanez, but never filed it, while letting him know [they] might file it if
he does not adhere to the law and what [they] need.” And on a task list he prepared in February
2006, Donziger wrote: “accuse [Judge] of being involved in corruption with Chevron; ask for
recusal.” |

76. Not content to apply pressure themselves, and as part of their previous arrange-
ment with the Ecuadorian government (see 9 58-61, supra), the RICO Defendants and their co-
conspirators have also enlisted Ecuadorian officials to pressure and intimidate the judiciary to
rule against Chevron. As Donziger has explained the strategy, “We can have the best proof in
the world, and if we don’t have a political plan we will surely lose. On the other hand, we can
[have] mediocre proof and a good political plan and stand a good chance of winning.” Donziger
understood that to get what the co-conspirators wanted, he had to do “political work at the high-
est level to make things happen, like get the government, for example, to take a position in a case
that affects your clients.” This was facilitated by the fact that, according to Donziger, the con-
spirators had “close ties” to “high-ranking Ecuadorian government officials” in addition to the
Front’s “wide influence in Ecuador” and “ab[ility] to command meetings with government min-
isters and even the President.”

77. The collaboration between the RICO Defendants and Republic of Ecuador is so
close that one U.S. District Court has concluded that it was “an established fact” that the Repub-

lic of Ecuador was supporting the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs. The Republic of Ecuador recently as-
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serted in court filings that it has had a formal “common interest agreement” with representatives
of the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs since 2006. In pursuit of that alleged common interest, the RICO
Defendants and the Republic of Ecuador have coordinated their legal and public relations strate-
gies, both directly and through Ecuador’s U.S. legal counsel. As part of this cooperation, the
RICO Defendants have received assistance from the highest levels of government in Ecuador,
from “allies [who were] firmly entrenched at the top.” For example, Donziger himself ghost-
wrote a letter from Ecuador’s ambassador to the United States, Dr. Luis Gallegos, to The Wall
Street Journal.

78. The RICO Defendants have also worked with Winston & Strawn LLP, the U.S.
- law firm hired by Ecuador to represent it against Chevron in proceedings in the United States.
The RICO Defendants have provided information and other assistance to Winston & Strawn, in-
cluding having Stratus provide scientific analysis and Donziger help with the drafting of legal
documents. Donziger, aware that this level of cooperation crossed the line, was concerned it
might lead Chevron to believe the RICO Defendants and the Ecuadorian government were “in
bed” together. Thus, upon realizing he had been photographed alongside a Winston & Strawn
attorney for a newspaper article, Donziger vowed to deny that the man in the photograph was
him. However, Donziger recognizes that the RICO Defendants and the Republic of Ecuador have
been “really helping each other.”

79.  In 2009 when a bribery scandal erupted around the presiding judge in the trial at
the time, Judge Nufiez, the RICO Defendants’ contemporaneous correspondence reveals that
the Correa government intended to bury the evidence of corruption. On September 2, 2009,
days after the story broke, co-conspirator Juan Pablo Saenz wrote to Donziger and assured him
that the Front’s “sources at the government tell us they’re actively looking for [Ecuadorians in-
volved in the scandal], to cut their heads off. We should focu[s] on Borja and Hansen, since
they’re the Chevron stooges. Correa and his cronies will take care of the rest.”

80. The RICO Defendants have also turned to the government to shut down Petroec-

vador’s remediation, because of the negative impact it would have on their scheme. For exam-
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ple, in 2009, in an email to Donziger and other conspirators with the subject line
“WORRISOME,” Fajardo warned them that a newspaper was reporting that the government was
assuming responsibility for remediation, and, worse, that it believed it would cost an “extremely
low” $96 million. Fearful that Chevron would “say that the State finally assumed its duty and is
going to clean up what it ought to,” Fajardo called on his co-conspirators to act. Donziger re-
sponded in an email to Juan Saenz, ““You have to go to Correa to put an end to this s[**]t once
and for all.”

81. Other members of the Ecuadorian government have also signaled to the Lago
Agrio court the government’s demand that Chevron be found liable. As the Ecuadorian Attorney
General Diego Garcia Carrién told a reporter in August 2008, the Correa administration’s posi-
tion in this case is clear: “The pollution is [the] result of Chevron’s actions and not of Petroec-
vador.” Again, in May 2010, Attorney General Garcia “dismissed any responsibility on the part
of the Ecuadorian State for the environmental damage caused in the Amazon region by the U.S.-
based oil company Chevron-Texaco.” And in September 2009, Ombudsman Fernando Gutiérrez
announced that: (i) the Lago Agrio Litigation “has absolute priority and the judgment must be
rendered as soon as possible”; (ii) the case concerns “an assault on the entire country”; and (ii1)
in a direct signal to the Lago Agrio court, that Chevron, rather than the State, bears full responsi-
bility for any harm.

82. This support was not arrived at independently, but through collusion between the
RICO Defendants and the Republic of Ecuador. Ana Alban, then Ecuador’s Minister of the En-
vironment, communicated with Donziger directly, assuring him that the Government was “giving
the support that we can do” to the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs, reminding him that “we brought the
President to the zone,” and assuring him that she had a “very close” “friend of the Frente de
Amazonia working with me doing all this.”

83. The fact that President Correa and other members of the Government have sided
with the Defendants and against Chevron sends a clear message to the Ecuadorian judiciary that

they must find Chevron liable. And it sends a message to Chevron that it must pay money to the
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conspirators in the form of a “settlement” or face a fraudulent, politically influenced judgment
that the RICO Defendants intend to try to enforce in U.S. courts or elsewhere. These messages
are made all the clearer by the de facto control and the near-autocratic power the Ecuadorian
presidency wields over all Ecuadorian institutions today.

84. Various sources confirm the political branches’ domination over Ecuador’s judi-
ciary in recent years and the judiciary’s system-wide corruption. For example, the World Bank’s
Worldwide Governance Indicators for 2009, compiled from 21 independent sources, ranked Ec-
uador below the 10th percentile of all countries surveyed with respect to the “rule of law”—
down from the 31st percentile in 2003. Ecuador’s negative score is -1.28, which places it below
North Korea (-1.25).

85. The U.S. Department of State’s annual Human Rights Report published in
March 2010 also noted that “there continued to be serious problems” with respect to “corruption
and denial of due process within the judicial system” and that the judiciary was “susceptible to
outside pressure and corruption.” Similarly, as recently as July 15, 2010, the UN Special Rap-
porteur on extrajudicial executions described Ecuador’s judicial system as “almost universally
condemned for its inefficiency and mismanagement.”

86. Against this backdrop of collusion and corruption, the RICO Defendants have
virtually assured a judgment in their favor and against Chevron by playing the “game” “dirty”
and currying favor from the Ecuadorian government. And this is all part of the conspirators’
scheme to convince Chevron to pay up—or else. Chevron has initiated international arbitration
under the Bilateral Investment Treaty, seeking relief from the Republic of Ecuador’s violations
of international law and treaty obligations in connection with its failure to honor its contractual
agreements. The Lago Agrio Plaintiffs and other parties named in this complaint are not and
cannot be parties to the Treaty Arbitration, and Ecuador has asserted sovereign immunity against

claims filed in courts of the United States.

38



b. Manipulating and Falsifying Their Own Experts’ Findings
to Corrupt the Judicial Inspection Process

87. At the outset of the litigation, the court ordered a process known as a judicial in-
spection to assess the 122 former consortium oil production sites. In a process agreed to by both
parties and the court, experts were nominated by each side and appointed by the court to investi-
gate and report on conditions at the sites. The court nominated a third set of “settling experts” to
resolve any differences between the experts nominated by the parties.

88. The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators believed they could use and cor-
rupt the judicial inspection process to their advantage. To this end, they designed a strategy to
“choreograp[h]” the judicial inspections and to “create conflict, invit[ing] the press” to “entrap
[Chevron] in the conflict.” As Donziger put it, “The goal of the inspections [was] to win the le-
gal case, not to produce an independent scientific report.” From his perspective, the judicial in-
spection process was “all about politics and arguing and bullshit and show.” Part of that show
was to organize a number of demonstrations at the judicial inspection sites—some threatened to
become violent (see q 74, supra)—to showcase the strength and will of the RICO Defendants’
and their co-conspirators’ “army” and to send a message to the judiciary that it was being
watched.

89. The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators have also sought and obtained a
court order prohibiting Petroecuador from conducting any remediation of the former consortium
area. Fajardo spelled out to his colleagues, “[Petroecuador is] altering the evidence and it is pos-
sible that when our technicians go to the PG to take samples that they will find most of the waste
has been removed. This could complicate things for us a bit.” Fajardo explained that it was “ur-
gent” that the RICO Defendants “coordinate” with Petroecuador “so they will desist [remediat-
ing] until we’ve had a chance to extract the evidence we need.” In response, Donziger cautioned
Fajardo to “[b]e careful with written letters—informal and oral meetings are better[.] [W]e don’t
want Texaco to use some letter to say we are obstructing remediation.” In another email to

Donziger and other conspirators, Fajardo expressed concern that the government was assuming
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responsibility for remediation, and that it would cost an “extremely low” $96 million. The RICO
Defendants then turned to the government for assistance in shutting down the remediation.

90. Ultimately, the judicial inspection process was short lived. The first and only
time settling experts issued a report for one of the judicial inspection sites was in February 2006,
at which point they agreed with Chevron’s expert’s findings and concluded that TexPet’s reme-
diation met the standards agreed to with Ecuador. They further agreed that there was no evi-
dence of contamination posing a risk to either human health or the environment.

91. When it became apparent to the conspirators that the judicial inspection process
was not going to provide them with the record they needed to extort a payment from Chevron,
they abandoned that process and set about developing their own false history and factual record,
entirely under their control. Using a series of paid experts whom they pressured, misled or re-
cruited to their scheme, the conspirators created an increasingly extreme and distorted record,
and then manipulated the Lago Agrio court to accept that false history as the product of inde-
pendent analysis.

@) Inducing an Expert to Report Biased and False Results

92. To create their first false data point, the RICO Defendants pressured their U.S.
expert David Russell to develop an exaggerated damages estimate and continued to “use it to put
out a figure that will scare Chevron and investors,” long after Russell sent Donziger a cease and
desist letter demanding that he stop using the estimate.

93. In 2003, Russell, who was retained by the RICO Defendants to oversee the judi-
cial inspection process for the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs and prepare a damages analysis, initially es-
timated the cost of remediation to be approximately $6 billion. In Russell’s own words, that es-
timate was prepared in “a very short time, with only a week of review time in the jungle, and
heavily influenced by [Donziger] in the writing.” At Donziger’s insistence, and as evidence of
his heavy influence on Russell’s initial calculation, Russell used the most expensive remedial

option available, because Donziger wanted a “large” damages estimate. Even so, Russell made
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clear to Donziger and others that the quantitative data “ha[d] not [been] reliably established” and
that he and his team were “still at the guessing stage.”

94. As Russell continued his work, he realized that the evidence on the ground did
not support his damages estimate. By December 2004, he told Donziger “that Texaco may be
right when they indicate that the remediation is performing as designed, and degrading the petro-
leum.” Two months later he provided an update to Donziger in which he explained, “From the
data I have seen so far, we are not finding any of the highly carcinogenic compounds one would
hope to see when investigating the oil pits.”

95. After Russell prepared his estimate, he learned that the remediation work he
considered appropriate could be completed at a substantially lower cost and wrote Donziger in
February 2006 to demand that he stop using the unsupported and exaggerated $6 billion estimate.
In his letter, Russell informed Donziger that the information he has since learned “would cause

me to state that the 2003 cost estimate is too high by a substantial margin, perhaps by a factor of

ten, or more.” (Emphasis in original.) And indeed, a year later, another of the co-conspirators,

Charles Champ, estimated that a remediation and related social and development projects could
be done for $1 billion, an estimate that itself is wildly exaggerated and calculated using fictional
cost assumptions. Nonetheless, the RICO Defendants have never publicly disclosed this exag-
gerated figure because it is too low for their illicit purposes.

96. In that same cease and desist letter, Russell objected to Donziger’s and Amazon
Watch’s use of the $6 billion estimate in their request to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Com-
mission (“SEC”) for the SEC to “investigate Chevron under Sarbanes-Oxley” for allegedly “un-
derreporting their liabilities.” Russell made clear that the “estimate is no longer vali.d and if sub-
poenaed to testify, I will state that the costs are much lower based upon the knowledge available
to me at the time | was released from the project.”

97. Russell also emphasized in the letter that he wanted nothing more to do with
Donziger and the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ pursuit of the litigation against

Chevron:
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I do not want to get into the courts in the US, and do not want to be involved in
your case against Texaco/Chevron!

I have not prepared any other cost estimate, nor do I intend to do so. Itis no
longer any of my concern, except to see that the name of my company and my
reputation are not abused by continued association with the Aguinda vs. Texaco
lawsuit. If subpoenaed, 1 will tell the truth about what I know about the existing
costs, how the cost estimate was prepared, and what the differences in unit costs
might be to cleanup contamination in Ecuador.

[ am trying to stay out of your way and out of your case, but by using and abusing
the outdated cost estimate to flail Chevron, you keep dragging me back in to [sic]
it! The Ecuador project has been a sorry chapter in my life and I do not want to
get re-involved with you or it on any basis.

Several recent press releases using the 2003 cost estimate plus the most recent
demand by Amazon Watch abuses me and my company.

Get a new cost estimate generated in Ecuador. You will have to do that under the

terms of the Global Inspection as required by the Court in Ecuador. That 2003

cost estimate is a ticking time bomb which will come back to bite you, and very

badly if anyone attempts due diligence on it.

(Emphasis in original.)

98. Donziger did not mince words in response: “I don’t care what the fT**]k that
guy says.” In a conversation with co-conspirator Soltani of Amazon Watch, Donziger acknowl-
edged that the “[p]rice tag” for remediation “would only be a guess” and that Russell’s $6 billion
“very rough estimate” significantly overstated the true costs of remediation: “[The] six billion
dollar thing is out there. The reality is, based on what this guy is telling me, [it] would cost less
than that. Significantly less than that....” And in an email to his co-conspirators, Donziger
recognized that the “fact [Russell] sent this letter has a certain amt of danger for us.” Nonethe-
less, in a subsequent conversation with Defendants Fajardo and Yanza and others, Donziger dis-
cussed requesting a higher amount than $6 billion so a judgment of a lower amount could be por-
trayed as favorable to Chevron: “But as a concept, I ask, do we ask for much more than we
really want as a strategy? Do we ask for eight and expect three, so that [the judge] says, ‘Look,

9

Texaco, I cut down the largest part.

42



99. And despite Russell telling Donziger that his estimate was inaccurate and that he
did “not want to be involved in” the Lago Agrio Litigation and despite Donziger’s assurance to
Russell that he would stop using Russell’s work, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators
continued to use the exaggerated and disavowed $6 billion estimate. As Donziger explained it,
“[G]liven that [the RICO Defendants] ha[d] worked with Russell’s number all of these years,” not
continuing to use the $6 billion number “would make [them] look like fools.” For example,
Amazon Watch, exhibiting the same disregard of the facts as Donziger, continued to tout the $6
billion figure well after Russell sent Donziger his cease and desist letter. Indeed, Amazon
Watch’s press releases asserted that Russell’s company, Global Environmental Operations, en-
dorsed the $6 billion damages estimate even though Russell implored Donziger to stop “abusing”
the “name of [Russell’s] company” by associating it with the Lago Agrio Litigation. For exam-
ple, a March 20, 2007 press release entitled “Ecuador Court Speeds Up Chevron’s $6 Billion
Amazon Trial Over Rainforest Contamination” issued by Amazon Watch states: “The only in-
dependent damage assessment, by the U.S. firm Global Environmental Operations, puts clean-up
costs at $6.14 billion, exclusive of personal damages to thousands of residents of the area.” In
issuing this press release, the conspirators lied about having an expert estimate of $6 billion
when they knew that Russell repudiated the $6 billion figure as “no longer valid” and “a ticking
time bomb” well over a year earlier.

(ii) Filing Falsified Expert Reports

100. Not only did the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators pressure Russell to
come up with a large, unsupported damages assessment, but they also submitted falsified expert
reports under the name of another of their U.S. experts, Dr. Charles Calmbacher, that contra-
dicted his conclusions that he had found no evidence of harm.

101. In 2004, the conspirators selected Dr. Calmbacher to be the expert in charge of

their inspection and to act as the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs’ testifying expert for four of the sites that

were being inspected.
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102. Shortly after Dr. Calmbacher began his work in the field, Donziger informed
him and the other members of the technical team that “[t]he goal is to win the legal case, not to
produce an independent scientific report.” Much to the RICO Defendants’ dismay,

Dr. Calmbacher did not abide by this admonition when he informed the RICO Defendants and
their co-conspirators that, in his professional opinion, the sites he inspected did not require fur-
ther remediation and did not pose a risk to human health or the environment. This, of course,
was not what the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators wanted to hear. Indeed, Donziger
had instructed Dr. Calmbacher to find contamination during his site inspections.

103. Dr. Calmbacher was uneasy with Donziger’s instructions and the level of control

-the RICO Defendants tried to exert over his work. He was concerned regarding the methods and
scope of analysis that the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators planned to perform on the
samples they collected. In his opinion, the analysis was insufficient to test all the aspects of the
oil that he felt should be tested. When Dr. Calmbacher informed Donziger of his concerns, how-
ever, Donziger brushed them aside and decided to proceed with the limited and inadequate
analysis he already had planned.

104. When it became clear that Dr. Calmbacher’s conclusions were unsatisfactory to
the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators, they submitted to the Lago Agrio Court judicial
inspection samples bearing the name “Selva Viva Laboratory” on the chain of custody forms.
But thelre 1s no Selva Viva Laboratory; rather, the “analysis” was performed—if it was per-
formed at all—in the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ team hotel room, and they
borrowed the name “Selva Viva”—the same name as the RICO Defendant who was “created”
“simply as a pass thru mechanism to administer funds for the litigation” in Ecuador—to lend
false authenticity to their sham inspection. The conspirators knew such activity was not without
risk, and they worried that Dr. Calmbacher would “inform the court that the Selva Viva project is
a fraud.”

105.  Ultimately, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators decided that they did

not need Dr. Calmbacher to agree with their position, and that if the facts did not support their
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case, they would manufacture new ones. Thus, after Dr. Calmbacher communicated his negative
findings to the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators, he was “terminated without warning
or explanation” and Donziger ordered him to return to the United States. At the time, Donziger
believed that “[Dr. Calmbacher] will still sign the perito [expert] reports, but we might have to
write them in Quito.”

106. Dr. Calmbacher, however, was adamant that he would still be the one to “write
the Perito reports,” despite his differences with Donziger, because he needed “to comply with
[his] obligation to the court and to maintain [his] professional integrity with the Ecuadorian
court.” In an email to Donziger, Dr. Calmbacher made clear that the RICO Defendants were not

to alter any of the conclusions in his report:

It also has been stressed to me that it is highly unusual for a perito [expert] to al-
low others to contribute to the writing of a report. Comments or review is accept-
able, but the perito’s opinion and findings are final. I therefore have and feel no
obligation to allow your team of textile engineers and associated cron[i]es to re-
view or edit my reports. I am assured, as perito of the court, that I am completely
within my rights to write and submit my report independent of those who have
nominated me for appointment as perito. My sole obligation is to tell the truth, as
I see it, to the court, no matter the consequences for either party.

107.  After Dr. Calmbacher’s rebuke, Donziger threatened to withhold payment from
him in order to pressure Dr. Calmbacher to draft the reports in a manner that would back up the
Lago Agrio Plaintiffs’ assertions. Donziger described this strategy to Wray, Kohn and Bonifaz,
but also noted that, if the problem was not resolved, “we are developing a Plan B that will be ex-
plained in person.”

108.  Plan B put into play Donziger’s view that “[s]cience has to serve the law prac-
tice; the law practice doesn’t serve science.” The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators
cast aside Dr. Calmbacher’s actual conclusions and set about manufacturing reports to be filed
under Dr. Calmbacher’s name, a fact that Chevron only learned for the first time at
Dr. Calmbacher’s March 2010 deposition that Chevron subpoenaed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
1782.
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109. The difficulty for the RICO Defendants was how to obtain Dr. Calmbacher’s
signature on the false conclusions they wanted to submit as “expert” findings. Their solution
was to send Dr. Calmbacher initial drafts of the report, which correctly characterized his conclu-
sions, for his review. Because the drafts appeared to accurately reflect his opinions,

Dr. Calmbacher authorized the reports to be filed.

110. Next, the conspirators prevailed upon Dr. Calmbacher to provide signature
pages, along with several blank pages bearing his initials, which he did, based on the lie that
these extra pages would be used to file the reports he had already authorized to be filed. At the
conspirators’ request, Dr. Calmbacher sent by overnight delivery service one set of these signed
and initialed pages to Ecuador and the second set directly to Donziger in New York.

111.  The reports that the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators filed under
Dr. Calmbacher’s name, however, are not the same as the reports that he authorized to be filed.
Instead, as part of their Plan B, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators prepared differ-
ent, fraudulent reports that misstated the evidence and concluded that the inspected sites pre-
sented a danger to the environment and required additional remediation. The conspirators
printed their fraudulent reports on the pages that Dr. Calmbacher had initialed, used the signature
pages that he had provided, and filed the forged reports with the court in Lago Agrio.

112.  Although Chevron has since informed the Lago Agrio court about the falsified
Calmbacher reports, to date the court has refused to remove his reports from the record or take

any corrective measures.

c. Arranging Cabrera’s Appointment as Global Assessment
Expert and Secretly Writing His Supposedly “Independent”
Report
113. When Dr. Calmbacher refused to cooperate in the scheme to defraud and extort

Chevron and when the Lago Agrio court’s settling experts began to confirm the RICO Defen-
dants’ and their co-conspirators’ lack of evidence, the conspirators changed tactics. Realizing
that neutral settling experts would not accept their fraudulent claims, the RICO Defendants and

their co-conspirators requested that the Lago Agrio court abandon the judicial inspection process
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that had been agreed to by the parties. In its place, the conspirators arranged for the Lago Agrio
court to create a new “global assessment” process and secured the appointment of a co-
conspirator to the position of the purportedly neutral “global assessment expert” with whom they
would work in secret to ghostwrite his report. Until Chevron uncovered the RICO Defendants’
and their co-conspirators’ underlying fraudulent behavior, their plan seemed to be working.

114. To the Lago Agrio court, the conspirators proposed that a single expert be ap-
pointed, and that he and his team conduct a global assessment of the former concession area.

115.  To execute their scheme, the RICO Defendants assembled a team handpicked by
the conspirators of U.S. scientists, Ecuadorians, engineers, and other experts, who would do the
actual work charged to Cabrera. And after the report was filed, some of individuals were dis-
closed as members of Cabrera’s fictional team.

116. In December 2006, more than two months before Cabrera was appointed by the
court, Donziger discussed the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ plan to ghostwrite
the “independent” report with co-conspirator Soltani: “The judge is going to appoint a guy in
Ecuador, um, to be the expert, but really, you know, we’ll be supporting him with the work—our
people, E-Tech, whoever we choose to use.” As Donziger saw it, the expert would “ha[ve] to
totally play ball with us and let us take the lead while projecting the image that he is working for
the court.” Indeed, the driving question for the plaintiffs during this period, was, as Donziger

mused, “how can we control this perito?”

(i) Weeks Before the Court Appointed Cabrera, the RICO
Defendants Meet With Him to Plan His “Independent”
Expert Report

117. The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators put their expanded scheme to
defraud and extort Chevron in motion in early 2007. The first order of business was to ensure
that the court adopt the new “global assessment” process proposed by the RICO Defendants and
their co-conspirators and appoint Cabrera as the global assessment expert.

118. On January 16, 2007, Fajardo reported that he had been in contact with the Lago

Agrio judge in person and had sent him an email message regarding who to appoint as the global
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assessment expert. Fajardo then set about persuading Cabrera to join them in their extortionate
scheme in a series of secret meetings during February 2007. The RICO Defendants and their co-
conspirators first appealed to Cabrera emotionally, impressing upon him “the importance of the
case, what it means for history, how we can do something that we will always be remembered
for, what this would mean for the country and world, etc.” They also made it clear that he would
be rewarded financially. Not only would Cabrera be paid a substantial sum for his “work,” an
amount that eventually totaled at least $263,000, but Donziger or one of his co-conspirators
likely told Cabrera what Donziger had told another potential expert: “if he served as the global
court expert and the plaintiffs won the case that he would have a job the rest of his life being in-
volved in the remediation.”

119. Having convinced Cabrera to join their conspiracy and secure in the knowledge
that the court would select Cabrera, the conspirators set to work with him to plan the writing of
the report by the covert U.S. team the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators had assem-
bled. This report would develop into an essentially fictional description of the region that al-
leged massive harms with little or no valid data or analysis in support. And Cabrera would act as
the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ puppet.

120. On March 3, 2007—two weeks before the court appointed Cabrera—Donziger,
Fajardo and Yanza met with Cabrera to plan the report. Also present at this meeting were mem-
bers of the U.S. team working with the conspirators to ghostwrite the Cabrera Report, including
Defendant Ann Maest, Richard Kamp of E-Tech International and Charles Champ of Champ
Science and Engineering.

121. In the morning session of the March 3rd meeting, Fajardo gave a PowerPoint
presentation outlining the plan for Cabrera’s Global Expert Assessment. As part of that plan,
Fajardo stated: “Our legal theory is that Texaco is liable for all of the existing damage, even that
caused by Petroecuador.” Fajardo then outlined a plan for dealing with Chevron: “Chevron’s
main problem right now is that it doesn’t know what the hell is going to happen in the global ex-

pert examination. In other words, they don’t know that. 1 hope none of you tell them, please.
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[laughter] . ... [I]t’s Chevron’s problem.” Next, Fajardo identified six steps that the RICO De-
fendants must take, specifically: (1) the team must “[k]eep up the pressure and constant over-
sight in the court”; (2) the team must “[m]ake certain that the expert constantly coordinates with
the [Lago Agrio] plaintiffs’ technical and legal team™; (3) “[t]he [Lago Agrio] plaintiffs’ techni-
cal coordinator must be [involved] in the process fulltime” and “[a]ccompany the expert in the
field”; (4) “an attorney . . . will always be in the field to also protect the activity being per-
formed”; (5) the team must “provide the facilities and necessary support to the field team”; and
(6) the team must “support the expert in writing the report.”

122. Fajardo made clear that they were the ones who would actually be writing
Cabrera’s report, explaining: “And here is where we do want the support of our entire technical
team . . . of experts, scientists, attorneys, political scientists, so that all of us will contribute to
that report—in other words—you see . . . the work isn’t going to be the expert’s. All of us bear
the burden.” Someone asked whether the final report was going to be prepared only by the ex-
pert Cabrera. Fajardo responded that the expert will “sign the report and review it. But all of us
. . . have to contribute to that report.” Ann Maest of Stratus asked, “Together?” and Fajardo con-
firmed. Maest then stated, “But not Chevron,” and everyone laughed.

123. Later that day, the conspirators discussed the “work plan,” a document that was
prepared by the conspirators and subsequently submitted to the Ecuadorian court by Cabrera as
the independent court expert. Donziger proposed that he and the U.S.-based consultants form a
“work committee” to present a “draft plan,” with a goal of being “more or less eighty percent,
ninety percent from achieving a plan” in a few days. Looking at Cabrera, Donziger then said,
“and Richard, of course you really have to be comfortable with all that. And we’ll also def—
define the support the expert needs.” The recording of the meeting ended with Donziger com-
menting, they could “jack this thing up to thirty billion in one day.” Donziger went on to say
that he was exaggerating—it would really take 90 days. And in the end, the RICO Defendants
and their co-conspirators “jacked up” the damages estimate in Cabrera’s Report to $27 billion.

Their plan of submitting their liability and damages theories under the guise of an “independent”
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expert report whose content was dictated by the very persons who stood to profit from an ex-
torted payment from Chevron was thus well under way.

124.  The next day, March 4th, Donziger explained how he would accomplish the con-
spiracy’s goal, despite the absence of supporting evidence. When Defendant Maest and the other
consultants hired by the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators to write Cabrera’s report
told Donziger that there was no evidence that contamination from the pits had spread into the
surrounding groundwater, Donziger responded: “Hold on a second, you know, this is Ecuador,
okay, ... You can say whatever you want and at the end of the day, there’s a thousand people
around the courthouse, you’re going to get what you want” and “[t]herefore, if we take our exist-
ing evidence on groundwater contamination, which admittedly is right below the source . . .
[a]nd wanted to extrapolate based on nothing other than our, um, theory,” then “[w]e can do it.
And we can get money for it.” He continued: “Because at the end of the day, this is all for the
Court just a bunch of smoke and mirrors and bullshit”” And when Champ argued that “there is
not enough information on that groundwater” and that “the one hole in the remediation, is the
water,” Donziger instructed the camera crew capturing his conversation to stop filming, stating,
“[TThere’s another point. I got to make . . . to these guys, but I can’t get this on camera.”

125.  The RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ strategy all along, as first evi-
denced in Donziger’s discussion with Fajardo about whether to request an even higher amount
than Russell’s disavowed $6 billion damages estimate to make it appear as though a judgment of
a lower amount was reasonable or even somehow favorable to Chevron (see § 98, supra), was to
provide an absurd damages number to convince the judge to award a lower but still outrageous
amount. Donziger described the goal to his consultants: “If we have a legitimate fifty billion
dollar damages claim, and they end up—the judge says, well, I can’t give them less than five bil-
lion.” He explained that an inflated damages number would allow the judge to say that “Tex had
a huge victory. They knocked out ninety percent of the damages claim.”

126.  Donziger brushed off other comments from consultants Champ and Kamp ex-

pressing concern about meeting with Cabrera. First, Champ told Donziger, “I know we have to
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be totally transparent with Chevron in showing them what we’re doing.” Donziger responded,
“No, no,” and stated, “because they will find out everything we do.” He continued: “Our goal is
that they don’t know shit . . . and that’s why they’re so panicked.” Then, Kamp expressed un-
ease about the process and commented to Donziger that “[h]aving the perito [Cabrera] there yes-
terday in retrospect . . . That was bizarre.” In response, Donziger instructed Kamp: “Don’t talk
about it,” and, “that’s the way it works.” Donziger told the camera crew, “[T]hat is off the re-
cord.”

127.  The RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ close relationship with
Cabrera also raised questions in the minds of the Crude filmmakers, who became “confused
about why Chevron is saying that the Court Appointed expert is biased.” The filmmakers asked
Fajardo why he was paying Cabrera, “[w]hy is Chevron not also paying for the expert and why
do they not have their own expert[?]” Even to sympathetic individuals untrained in legal mat-
ters, something about the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators relationship with Cabrera

seemed wrong.

(ii) The Court Appointed Cabrera as Its “Independent”
“Global Assessment Expert”

128.  In late February, to cover up the fact that the judge planned to appoint the
“global assessment expert” championed by the RICO Defendants, the judge called Cabrera and
purported to ask him for a recommendation for the expert. But by this point Cabrera’s appoint-
ment had already been secretly secured by the RICO Defendants. Indeed, in their internal corre-
spondence they discussed the steps they had taken to make “100% sure the judge would appt
Richard,” including threatening the judge with a complaint against him that they showed him,
but never filed. Thus, when Donziger feared the judge’s call to Cabrera meant the appointment
of the RICO Defendants’ hand-picked “expert” was in jeopardy, Fajardo reassured him that the
call was just “part of the judge’s complicated plan to protect himself.” On March 19, 2007, the

Lago Agrio court did indeed appoint Cabrera as its global assessment expert, ordering that
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Cabrera would be “responsible for the entire report, the methodology used, for the work done by
his assistants, etc.”

129. Cabrera, the RICO Defendants, and their co-conspirators had violated the terms
of Cabrera’s appointment before he had been appointed, and they would continue to do so
throughout his service. They did this even though the RICO Defendants knew, as Donziger has
since admitted, that the Lago Agrio court ordered Cabrera to “act with absolute objectivity and
independence” and to “act independent of the parties.” The RICO Defendants, however, knew
that they had to maintain a fagade of independence. To do so, shortly after Cabrera was ap-
pointed, they plotted “something that Richard [Cabrera] could do AGAINST us in order to prove
his independence.”

130. When the Lago Agrio court officially swore in Cabrera as the global assessment
expert on June 13, 2007, Donziger exclaimed that “the perito just got sworn in . . . this is a huge
victory!!!!1111” He further elaborated that the development was good for the Lago Agrio Plain-
tiffs’ case: “We have to keep pushing on all fronts at all times. . . . [A]ll this bullshit about the
law and facts . . . but in the end of the day it is about brute force . . . . [Cabrera’s appointment]
took five months . . . five months of delay . . . and [the judge] never would have done [it] had we
not really pushed him.”

131. Consistent with Cabrera’s unique and central status as the court’s sole expert for
damages issues, including liability, the Lago Agrio court repeatedly issued orders that Cabrera
was required to be independent from the parties. For example, when the court administered the
oath to Cabrera in June 2007, Cabrera had to promise that he would perform his duties “with
complete impartiality and independence vis-a-vis the parties.” And on October 3, 2007, the
Lago Agrio court ordered Cabrera to “work in an impartial manner and independently with re-
spect to the parties.” The court further explained that “the role of the expert is one of complete
impartiality and transparency with respect to the parties and their attorneys” and required
Cabrera to “observe and ensure . . . the impartiality of his work, and the transparency of his ac-

tivities.” By then, the conspirators were already well into planning the drafting of Cabrera’s
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purportedly independent report, and indeed the court itself may have been participating in the
scheme by this point, and merely issuing these orders for the sake of appearances.

132. In November 2007, the Lago Agrio court ordered that “all the documents that
serve as support or a source of information for the work performed by the Expert must be pre-
sented together with the report. . . . [I]n his report the Expert is required to cite all of the scien-

tific sources, and analytical and legal documents that he uses to perform his work.”

(iliy  While Cabrera Staged Mock Inspections, the RICO De-
fendants and Their Co-Conspirators Secretly Ghost-
wrote His Report.

133. In public, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators and Cabrera worked to
maintain the illusion that Cabrera was an independent expert. At one inspection, in an exchange
included in the film Crude, Cabrera and Fajardo made a show of rejecting a suggestion from
Chevron’s lawyer Diego Larrea that counsel for the parties be permitted to make suggestions to

Cabrera as to what samples he might take on his inspections (translations are taken from Crude):

Cabrera: (Addressing the public) 1have been named the expert for the global
assessment report. At this juncture, [ am the highest authority at this
examination. The samples taken and the analyses done today will be
the only ones valid for this report.

dokok

Larrea:  (To Cabrera) We would like you to consider the possibility of letting
us know what kind of sample will be taken at each location so that
eventually we can suggest that other samples be taken—

Fajardo: (Raising his hands in protest) Wait, wait, wait. . . .
Larrea:  In the same terms that Pablo says —
Fajardo: You can’t do that.

Larrea:  The expert can check the equipment to verify if it’s visible. (To Fa-
jardo) It’s a request. He can deny it or accept it.

Fajardo: What we agreed on was that the expert has the authority to say what is
and what isn’t going to be. We can’t say “take samples here and
there.” Excuse me, but that is something he has to decide.
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Cabrera: (To Larrea) You can make a suggestion, but I can’t work under your
criteria. 1 decide where to take samples, and that’s it, counselor.

134. Of course, while Fajardo’s duet with Cabrera at the inspection site was featured
in the theatrical release of Crude, the outtakes show that Fajardo was doing far more than merely
inspecting Cabrera’s equipment. At their all-day session weeks earlier, Fajardo told Cabrera ex-
actly what “criteria” he would be working under, and how Fajardo’s associates would secretly
write Cabrera’s report for him. And when Cabrera did go into the field to conduct testing,
Donziger laid down further “criteria” under which he expected Cabrera to work in an email to
Yanza and Fajardo: “When I get there, we’ll re analyze the work and the budget with Richard.
And we’ll adjust with a much smaller team. My tendency is to stop Richard from working much
more in the field . . . or, if he continues doing it, he should continue under the most strict control
with an extremely limited number of samples. And we’ll change the focus of the data at our of-
fices.” The RICO Defendants have also admitted that they selected the sites that Cabrera would
sample.

135. Back in the United States, preparations were well underway for drafting
Cabrera’s Report. Just after the March meeting with Cabrera, David Chapman, a Principal at
Stratus, emailed Donziger, proposing that “the way this would work best is that if Stratus did
much of the work, putting the pieces together and writing the report.” Shortly thereafter, on
April 27, 2007, the conspirators assembled at Stratus’s offices in Boulder, Colorado to discuss
how they were going to “jack this thing up to thirty billion,” as Donziger had put it. Present at
the meeting from Stratus were President Joshua Lipton, David Chapman, Preston Sowell, and
Defendants Beltman and Maest.

136.  The participants in this meeting also discussed how they could leverage the
Cabrera Report, once it was filed in the Lago Agrio court, as a supposedly independent endorse-
ment of their position. Donziger talked up how important and far-reaching he thought the report

should be: “We also see this case as having a larger meaning. . . . [W]e think that, Uhm, this is
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the kind of thing people will be interested in reading. You know, like this damages report[—
Jacademics, people in your field, other lawyers.” Lipton responded, “we loved the whole pack-
age.” As a result, Stratus entered into a contract with Kohn Swift to provide technical assistance,
including the production of reports and support in discussions with the media, in furtherance of
the conspiracy. The initial contract for $125,000 was modified multiple times to accommodate
Stratus’s increasing involvement and fees. Indeed, by the fall of 2009, Stratus received at least
$1.1 million in payment for their role in the criminal scheme.

137. Meetings and communications continued between the conspirators as they pre-
pared Cabrera’s report. Leading up to the April 2008 filing of Cabrera’s first report, Stratus,
Donziger, Kohn, and environmental consultants exchanged hundreds of emails regarding draft
outlines of the Cabrera report and proposed annexes, schedules for completion of various an-
nexes, and discussing review, analysis, and translation of the annexes including “[e]nvironmental

9% ¢

standards,” “[e]co impacts from contamination,” “[p]it (plus) cleanup costs,” “[v]alue of human
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life losses,” “[h]abitat losses at wells and stations,” “TexPet [r]emediation summary,”
“[h]istorical data summary,” “[d]ata extrapolation” and “[t]oxicity of site chemicals to humans.”
(Additional details concerning the emails exchanged in furtherance of the conspiracy’s scheme to
defraud Chevron are included in Appendix B, which is incorporated by reference as if set forth
herein in its entirety.) During this period, Donziger continued to press for higher and higher
damages numbers, explaining at one point that an estimate for unjust enrichment “sound[ed] aw-
fully low” and implored that the Stratus consultants not “say or even suggest anything that backs
away from the [Lago Agrio plaintiffs’] figures.” And as another means of getting the high num-
bers he wanted—and getting the most impact from the “independent” expert—Donziger during
this period suggested to Stratus that they “define the norms of clean-up” and then “propose these
norms to the Ministry of Energy which governs these norms[,] and whose Minister is a good
friend of ours, so that the Ministry issues them as an official decree before the trial ends.”

138.  The numerous emails among the Stratus team and between Stratus and Donziger

were necessary because, as Beltman explained in a February 22, 2008 email urging his Stratus
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colleagues’ support: “We have to write, over the next 2 to 3 weeks, probably the single most
important technical document for the case. The document will pull together all of the work over
the last 15 or so years on the case and make recommendations for the court to consider in making
its judgment.” And that “single most important technical document for the case” was tﬁe
Cabrera Report itself. As Donziger has now admitted, “[T]he general idea” was “that Stratus
would draft the report in a form that it could be submitted directly to the Ecuadorian court by
Mr. Cabrera.”

139.  As Beltman, Donziger and others made decisions about the contents of appendi-
ces to the report and which appendices to include, Beltman also turned his focus to completing
the draft of the report itself, writing to colleagues on March 10, 2008: “Now that the annexes are
out of the way, there’s the little problem of the report itself. Unfortunately, I’ve been too busy
on annex stuff to work much on it, and it has to go to the court in [two] weeks and get translated.
It’s a problem.” Indeed, Beltman himself was responsible for drafting the majority of the report,
while the various annexes were parceled out among the various Stratus employees and contrac-
tors and others hired by the RICO Defendants. When he had an initial draft of the Cabrera Re-
port written, Beltman sent it to Donziger, asking whether he was “on track in terms of tone, lan-
guage level, and content.”

140.  While Stratus was the primary coordinator of the work that went into the
Cabrera Report, other members of the U.S.-based team of experts the conspirators assembled,
including E-Tech International, Uhl, Baron, Rana & Associates, Inc., and 3TM Consulting, also
contributed to the report without attribution in the report or disclosure to Chevron. Annex S of
the Cabrera Report, for example, was drafted by co-conspirator William Powers, who worked for
E-Tech and was a subcontractor for Stratus, and his calculations were used in Annex T. And
Richard Clapp, another consultant hired by Donziger and his co-conspirators, drafted one of the
annexes to the Cabrera Report.

141.  As the various consultants finished their portions of the Cabrera Report, Beltman

took on the delicate task of translating the report, written in English by U.S. consultants, into
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Spanish. As Beltman would later put it, they would treat “our original English version as if it’s a
translated version” of Cabrera’s work. In March 2008, Beltman corresponded with several trans-
lation firms, ultimately working mainly with Translating Spanish, Inc. On March 12, 2008,
Beltman sent the actual Cabrera Report—which contained an introduction falsely stating that
“[t]his report was written by Richard Cabrera, ING to provide expert technical assistance to the
Court”™—to be translated into Spanish for filing with the Lago Agrio court. And as Beltman and
other Stratus Consultants revised their work, they forwarded new annexes of the report for trans-
lation as well. In addition, the critical annexes to the Cabrera Report covering alleged remedia-
tion costs, excess cancer deaths, and other building blocks of what would ultimately be a $27 bil-
lion fraud were also translated into Spanish at Beltman’s direction days before they were fraudu-
lently submitted to the Lago Agrio court as the work of Cabrera and the other Spanish-speaking
personnel to whom the report would be attributed. In order to facilitate the final preparations, the
RICO Defendants discussed renting office space in Ecuador as well, but Donziger stressed that it
had to be “isolated,” and could not be space shared with those known to be affiliated with the
RICO Defendants.

142. Prior to the Cabrera Report’s submission, Beltman followed up to ensure that
those consultants who had actually written certain annexes had their “name[s] taken off” prior to
submission. The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators determined “to whom Richard
[Cabrera would] attribute each of the annexes,” and it was not to their actual authors. All of
these contributions were orchestrated by the conspirators, who maintained a master schedule
identifying each portion of the report, which of their team members would do the actual work,
and to whom they could publicly and fraudulently “attribute[e]” each in the filed Cabrera Re-
port.”

143.  The conspirators did not entirely ignore Cabrera during this period of heavy
drafting. In January 2008, Donziger, Beltman, Maest, Fajardo and others met privately with
Cabrera as the conspirators were in the home-stretch of drafting his report. The RICO Defen-

dants also delegated various aspects of the report to nominal authors who had not been publicly
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identified as working with the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs, but who in fact were close associates of the
RICO Defendants. The RICO Defendants kept a close eye and a firm hand on their work. For
example, Luis Miguel Garcia Aragon, who was later disclosed to be a member of Cabrera’s
team, engaged in ongoing email communication with Beltman and Maest regarding the drafting
of extensive portions of the Cabrera Report. On January 22, 2008, Aragon emailed Beltman,
“We’re moving forward with our model thanks to your help. Now I’'m maling [sic] you after the
doccuments [sic] you told me about. Do you remember, about the discount rate and so? I’d ap-
preciate you sending me those.” The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators also retained
and worked with another consultant Juan Cristobal Villao Yepez, who was also later identified in
the filed Cabrera Report as a member of Cabrera’s “independent” team, and the technical reports
on water issues that he wrote as a paid consultant for the RICO Defendants ultimately appeared
in the Cabrera Report. Another supposed member of Cabrera’s “independent” team is Ximena
Echeverria who has since been revealed to be an employee of Defendant Selva Viva and who
was actively working with Stratus, a fact never disclosed to Chevron or the Lago Agrio court un-
til it was revealed in Chevron’s U.S. discovery efforts. Accordingly, the RICO Defendants and
their co-conspirators and “Cabrera’s team” were one and the same.

144.  The short time table between Stratus’s drafting of the report, its translation, and
submission of the report to the court meant that Cabrera’s review was necessarily limited, if he
reviewed the report at all. As Beltman put it, the conspirators were “stuck with [a] very tight
timeline” to get the report translated and reviewed. In fact, the report itself was scheduled to be
translated into Spanish by March 18, 2008, giving Cabrera mere days to review the report—
along with the 4,000 pages of accompanying material—before submitting it to the Lago Agrio
court in his name. Such a schedule, and the resulting preclusion of any real review of the Stra-
tus-drafted report by its purported author who, according to Donziger, ultimately “adopted pretty
much verbatim what had been provided to him,” put the RICO Defendants and their co-

conspirators in what Beltman called a “tight bind.”
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145. In fact, Cabrera himself received the translated report so late as to render any
substantive review impossible. Nonetheless, Cabrera, the RICO Defendants, and their co-
conspirators intended to spread the lie that the report was Cabrera’s own. To this end, they made
every effort to conceal the huge amount of work performed by Stratus and others, despite the
Lago Agrio court’s order that Cabrera present “all the documents that serve as support or a
source of information” and “cite all of the scientific sources, and analytical and legal documents
that he use[d].” Donziger has admitted that “there was a general feeling on our team that we
wanted” to “ke[ep] confidential” the “fact that plaintiffs had written” “[pJortions of what became
the Cabrera report.” Concealing this fact was partly driven by the concern of some of the RICO
Defendants and their co-conspirators about being criminally charged in Ecuador if they had ad-
mitted that they had ghostwritten portions of the report filed under Cabrera’s name.

146.  The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators have never disclosed, and have
still not admitted, the relationship between Cabrera and the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs to the Lago
Agrio court. Indeed, they have failed to disclose this fact even though as early as May, 2010,
one of the conspirators, Ilaan Maazel of Emery Celli, conceded in internal correspondence that
“neither Cabrera nor plaintiffs disclosed a submission from plaintiffs that contained drafts of part
of the expert report written by Stratus” and another, Jonathan Abady of the same firm, described
the relationship as the “wholesale adoption of Stratus work product w/o attribution.” And
Donziger himself has now conceded that he “do[es]n’t think” the Cabrera Report’s statement of
authorship—"[t]his report was written by expert engineer Richard Stalin Cabrera Vega™—*is
accurate” and that Stratus ultimately gave Cabrera “a substantial amount of material,” including
“an actual report with annexes in Cabrera’s name.” Yet the RICO Defendants still have not ac-
knowledged the truth. As recently as January 2011, the RICO Defendants filed a brief in the
Third Circuit stating that “[t]he Ecuadorian court was and is well aware of the Ecuadorian Plain-
tiffs” ex parte contacts with Cabrera and submission of materials to him—and indeed, invited

such contacts and submission.”
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147. The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators, in attempting to conceal the
true authorship of the Cabrera Report and its annexes, encountered some close calls. On
May 14, 2008, for example, Beltman wrote to Defendant Donziger regarding an “[u]rgent issue”
that arose when Karen Hinton, spokeswoman for the Amazon Defense Front, wanted to give
Richard Clapp’s report—the same report the RICO Defendants submitted as an annex to the
Cabrera Report—to a reporter. To have done so would have exposed the truth that the RICO De-
fendants and their co-conspirators and their consultants actually wrote the Cabrera Report. And
so, Beltman told Hinton not to use the Clapp report, giving the false reason that he was “not sure
of its pedigree” instead of telling her the real reason it could not be made public: that it was used
“as an Annex” to the Cabrera Report. Concerned about covering their tracks, Beltman warned
Donziger that they “need to be careful about this.” And later, when the RICO Defendants and
their co-conspirators feared that Clapp himself would inadvertently disclose the true authorship
of the Cabrera Report during a congressional hearing, Donziger explained the steps necessary to
prevent exposure: “We have to talk to Clapp about that 5-pager, and how we have to limit its
distribution. It CANNOT go into the Congressional Record as being authored by [Clapp].”

148. In their rush to finish the Cabrera Report and then the supplemental report, the
RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators were not careful enough. After the Cabrera Report
had already been submitted, Beltman realized that an annex to the Cabrera Report may have
cited a report written by Clapp. The problem, according to Beltman, was that the cited report
had then itself been used verbatim in Cabrera’s report. Beltman lamented in an email to a col-
league, “[o]h what a tangled web . . .” omitting the rest of the quotation, “when first we practice
to deceive.”

149.  In another effort to prevent Stratus’s role in drafting the Cabrera Report from
coming to light, Beltman attempted to influence the testimony of Stratus employees who might
be called to testify in United States court. After Chevron filed an action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§ 1782 seeking discovery from Stratus, Stratus held staff meetings attended by all staff available

at that time, including some personnel who had been subpoenaed to testify. The staff members
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were provided with information about Chevron’s subpoenas and the Cabrera Report, and
Beltman, taking the opportunity to create a consistent but misleading story, misrepresented to the
meeting attendees that Cabrera was an “independent expert who submitted his own report to the
court.” During this and other staff meetings, Beltman also misrepresented Stratus’s role to Stra-
tus staff. He explained that Stratus had “prepared a series of technical analyses” that were given
to Cabrera “to help in his preparation of his report” and failed to disclose the fact that Beltman
and other Stratus consultants had authored the report that Cabrera submitted as his own.

150.  Fajardo and Donziger also discussed how they would respond to any accusations
that “Cabrera used exactly, or almost exactly, the same words we put in our motions.” Fajardo
offered the “[s]imple” solution of concocting a story that the RICO Defendants submitted mate-
rial to Cabrera after they noticed some errors in the calculations and figures in the report and that
Cabrera then adopted their submission. As Fajardo put it, “There is no substantive problem, we
just have to explain it.”

151. In addition, the conspirators sought otherwise to cover their tracks in the United
States. E-Tech, for example, failed to report income received for doing its work to the Internal
Revenue Service, characterizing payments to consultants as charitable contributions, and routed
payments, inside the United States and abroad, in order to hide the fact that these payments were
being used to fund unlawful activity. E-Tech has also subsequently failed to file required reports
in its home state of New Mexico, resulting in the cancellation of its Certificate of Incorporation.
And as the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators continue to obstruct Chevron’s investiga-
tion into their conduct in front of many U.S. federal courts, they have kept up a constant public
pressure campaign attacking every suggestion that the Cabrera Report was not neutral and inde-
pendent. See Section B.3., infra. This defense of the Cabrera Report is necessary because,
among other things, without it the RICO Defendants would be left with no evidence of either li-

ability or damages.
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(iv)  The “Cabrera” Report: The RICO Defendants’ Re-
peated Fraud

152. On April 1, 2008, accompanied by armed guards, Cabrera filed his first report
with the Lago Agrio court. Despite the fact that Cabrera still had more time to file his report and
had not made any public statement that he would be filing it early, the RICO Defendants knew
when he would file the report, and had prepared detailed press releases and alerted the Crude
team to be on hand to film the event. Relying on misstatements, conclusions not supported by
evidence, and bad science, the “Cabrera” Report—the culmination of the clandestine work that
the conspirators had begun more than a year earlier—concluded that Chevron was liable for
more than $16 billion. But the conspirators were not done ghostwriting material for Cabrera to
falsely present as his own.

153. In September 2008, the parties submitted to the Lago Agrio court questions and
comments on the Cabrera Report. The RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ submission
filed on behalf of the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs was in all respects intended to perpetuate the false
appearance that Cabrera was neutral and independent and that the RICO Defendants and their co-
conspirators were not the report’s true authors. This submission purported to urge Cabrera to
consider various documents and third-party reports, criticized his legal analysis of liability, and
gave suggestions as to how he might support his existing findings and introduce new ones. But it
had been the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators themselves who had decided which
documents to review, how to present the legal case, and what findings and support to put forward
in Cabrera’s report. Thus, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators wrote their “ques-
tions” to further the false appearance of independence from Cabrera.

154.  Cabrera filed a response to the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs’ comments on November
17, 2008 in a supplemental report. Ignoring Chevron’s objections, the comments put forward by
the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs are reflected (at times word for word, including errors) in Cabrera’s

supplemental report, which increased the damage recommendation to $27 billion, with little ex-

62



planation and no legally or scientifically valid support. As Donziger had planned, the RICO De-
fendants and their co-conspirators were indeed able to “jack this thing up to thirty billion.”

155. The R1ICO Defendants and their co-conspirators also dictated other portions of
Cabrera’s response by secretly drafting his “answers” to their own comments and questions.
Some of the “questions to the Perito [Cabrera],” according to an internal Stratus email, were “as-
signed to us.” In an email dated August 1, 2008, Beltman outlined for his colleagues what “we
need to do for the comments on the Cabrera report.” His email listed the various answers that
needed to be prepared, and what they should say. Beltman repeatedly referred to the Lago Agrio
Plaintiffs’ questions in the first-person and to their own work as that of “Mr. Cabrera.” For ex-
ample, he says that “[w]e comment on the lack of consideration given to cleanup of rivers and
streams,” and “[w]e comment that Cabrera does not consider metal contamination in his cleanup
costs.” He then suggests possible responses to those comments. Beltman likewise expressed his
desire that work performed by U.S. consultant 3TM “be in a form that someone in Ecuador could
have written,” and another Stratus employee noted that Stratus needed to revise their work to
“clean up the language so it [would] sound[] more like [Cabrera] and less like a comment.”

156. The RICO Defendants accomplished their ruse in part by asking Powers, the
same Stratus contractor who ghostwrote portions of Cabrera’s initial report (see § 140, supra), to
respond to questions that had been raised in connection with the Cabrera Report. Defendant
Maest provided Powers the questions to be answered—questions that were the very same ones
posed by the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs in their September 2008 filing. Powers then supplied Maest
with the answers that are the same as those that are included in Cabrera’s November 2008 report.

157.  Inaddition, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators incorporated into
Cabrera’s response a second report written by Richard Clapp, another one of their hired consult-
ants. Just as the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators had been concerned that Hinton or
Clapp himself would inadvertently disclose the fact that Clapp’s first report had been incorpo-
rated “as 1s” in the form of an annex to the Cabrera Report, they likewise became concerned that

the use of Clapp’s second report in Cabrera’s response would accidentally be made public.
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Beltman warned Donziger, “I don’t think we should hand out either [report] as Clapp’s, thereby
distributing proof.”

158. Beyond the misrepresentations concerning Cabrera’s independence and the au-
thorship of “his” report, the Cabrera Report—without which the RICO Defendants cannot dem-
onstrate liability or damages—suffers from substantial flaws and fundamental problems. Deter-
mined to “jack up” the damages estimate to $27 billion, the conspirators, among other egregious
defects, attributed a// alleged environmental impact from oil operations in the former consortium
area to TexPet and none to Petroecuador, the sole owner of operations in the former consortium
area for the past nearly 20 years and the one responsible for well over 1,400 oil spills during that
time. The report includes millions of dollars of damages for remediation of disposal pits that do
not exist and are, in fact, shadows and other dark objects on aerial photographs. In addition, the
report relies on U.S.-derived cost baselines, standards, and methodologies which do not reflect
substantial differences in costs between the U.S. and Ecuador, and are often meaningless outside
the larger U.S. regulatory context. For example, the report asserts that the cost of remediating
the pits—including the imaginary ones—would be $2.2 million per pit. This is 25 times greater
than Petroecuador’s average actual cost of ongoing pit remediation at $85,000 per pit.

159. Other intentional errors abound. Even though Cabrera did not take a single sam-
ple of drinking water and despite the existence of literally dozens of public drinking water sys-
tems in the concession area, the report assesses $428 million in damages for potable water sys-
tems. The conspirators also included $8.4 billion in damages for “unfair profits” TexPet alleg-
edly earned, a penal levy that the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs never requested in their complaint, and
included allocations such as millions of dollars to create a husbandry farm to produce hunting
game for local residents. |

160. The Cabrera Report also unilaterally expanded the scope of Cabrera’s mandate
and went far beyond the expertise of his publicly disclosed team by addressing additional issues
unrelated to the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs’ claims for environmental remediation and medical moni-

toring. Despite the failure to identify a single individual with cancer or produce a single medical
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report, the report initially assessed $2.9 billion for “excessive cancer deaths” and then increased
that to $9.5 billion in the November 2008 filing, ostensibly based on just over a page of addi-
tional discussion. The report did not use any scientifically accepted method to link cancer to the
consortium’s operations; instead of using official data, the “excessive” cancer deaths were “as-
sessed” on the basis of self-reporting at group meetings with undisclosed members of the local
population conducted by purported member of the Cabrera team Carlos Beristain, who was in

fact working at the direction of the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators.

) The RICO Defendants’ Fraudulent Endorsements of
Their “Cabrera Report” and Procurement of Other
Endorsements Through Misrepresentations

161. The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators sought almost immediately after
filing the Cabrera Report to bolster it through the publication of endorsements of the report by
Stratus itself—the report’s secret author—and by third-party experts.

162. After the conspirators filed their report under the name of court expert Cabrera,
Donziger, Beltman, Maest, Fajardo, Yanza, and Hinton assembled again in Boulder, Colorado to
discuss and manage the “[s]cientific and public relation response to [the] Cabrera report.” Dur-
ing this meeting, they developed their plan to obtain multiple levels of endorsement of the report
for use in the Lago Agrio court and the U.S. media. They also strategized about how to increase
the already unfounded damages number contained in the Cabrera Report, developed a plan for
responding to Chevron’s criticisms of the report, and outlined a plan of attack on the media front.
As Beltman later acknowledged in an email to Amazon Watch about the progress of their plan to
procure fraudulent endorsements, “a big part of this will be for media.”

163. The first level of endorsement the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators
put into play was the promotion of the Cabrera Report and the trumpeting of its “independence”
by Stratus, the report’s secret author. On December 1, 2008, Stratus released a fifteen-page
document purporting to analyze and defend the Cabrera Report. In this document, which bears
on its front page the signatures of Beltman and Maest, as well as other Stratus employees, Stratus

claimed, “Mr. Cabrera is thus acting in the capacity of a neutral ‘expert’ to the Court, and his
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role is to assist the Court in evaluating the scientific and technical information that was collected
and compiled for the case. In the U.S. Court system, Mr. Cabrera would be called a Technical
Special Master.”

164.  Stratus’s December 2008 review of the Cabrera Report is written to give the im-
pression that its authors had no connection to the Cabrera Report or the supplement to his report,
and were providing a neutral, third-party review. For example, the RICO Defendants and their
co-conspirators described the writing of the report as follows: “After reviewing the extensive
record of environmental data and information that was collected during the trial, and collecting
some of his own data, Mr. Cabrera has concluded that Texpet’s operations severely contaminated
a large area of the Ecuadorian Amazon, and that the contamination has caused extensive dam-
ages to the environment and its inhabitants.” Once completed, Stratus’s “review” of the Cabrera
Report was knowingly distributed by the conspirators using physical and electronic mail and re-
mains available on a co-conspirator’s website at http://amazonwatch.org.

165. Stratus’ “review” was intended to deceive, as one of the lawyers retained by the
RICO Defendants who reviewed the submission in 2010 recognized. Responding to an ongoing
discussion about the RICO Defendants’ plan to accuse Chevron of fraud on the theory that it
knew Stratus had written the Cabrera report all along, the lawyer wrote the following to

Donziger and other conspirators:

This document might end the discussion. These “comments” are written in a
manner to give the impression that Cabrera was entirely independent and con-
ducted his own research and came up with his own findings. There is no indica-
tion in this document that Stratus, ostensibly the company of experts independent
from Cabrera, was itself involved in “ghosting” the Cabrera report. This might
not be dispositive if there were other evidence showing that Chevron had actual or
constructive knowledge that Stratus had been involved in the creation of the
Cabrera report. In such a case Stratus’s “comments” may have been a rather crude
and awkward spin by a biased expert - but it would not have been a “fraud” upon
Chevron. But, in the absence of such evidence, then it appears not only that
Cabrera and [the Lago Agrio] plaintiffs can be charged with a "fraud” respect-
ing the former’s report, but that Stratus was an active conspirator.
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This statement admitting that Stratus was involved in “ghosting” the Cabrera Report and ex-
pressing concerns regarding Stratus’s “endorsement” of the report was from one of the Lago
Agrio Plaintiffs’ attorneys purportedly retained by Donziger.

166.  The second level of endorsement envisioned by the RICO Defendants and their
co-conspirators and discussed during their June 2008 meeting in Boulder involved soliciting the
endorsement of credible experts by deceiving them about the Cabrera Report’s authors and the
collusion between the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators and Cabrera. During the
meeting, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators discussed the fact that experts who had
already been approached for endorsement had questioned their “relationship to Cabrera,” and the
RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators acknowledged that they “need[ed] to be able to give
them answers.” What they ended up doing, in fact, was concealing that relationship entirely.

167.  In seeking the sham “endorsements” of the Cabrera Report, Stratus falsely repre-
sented to numerous third parties that the report was written by Cabrera. For example, on
June 12, 2008, David Mills of Stratus emailed a representative of California’s Office of Spill
Prevention and Response, describing the Cabrera Report as follows: “As part of the trial, the
Ecuadorian judge currently directing the case appointed a technical expert to summarize[] and
analyze the technical data and information about the case and draw conclusions about the envi-
ronmental and human impacts of the oil exploration and production activities. This expert report
was recently submitted to the court.” Stratus asked the representative to review the Cabrera Re-
port for a fee and provide comments via telephone conversation—comments that, if favorable,
could later be submitted by the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators to the court.

168. Similarly, on June 26, 2009, Beltman emailed a representative of Brazil’s Aggeu
Magalhaes (Haggai Magellan) Research Center seeking an endorsement of the Cabrera Report.
In that communication, Beltman referred to “the Court Expert report in which [Cabrera] presents
the results of his studies and makes recommendations to the judge about the damages caused by
Texaco and what needs to be done as reparation for those damages.” Beltman asked the Haggai

Magellan Research Center to “please review the Court Expert report and read our evaluation of
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it, and think about how you could provide support. Our first choice is for you to sign the evalua-
tion that we drafted (I can provide you with a blank signature page for you to sign and return).”
169.  The RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ goal of obtaining fifteen or
twenty endorsements from academics in addition to consultants, however, proved difficult given
what Beltman called the “weaknesses” of the Cabrera Report. As Beltman explained to
Donziger in an email: “Our original concerns about this have come to pass . ... [Academics]
are trained and they function to be critical, not accepting. [Additionally], they know that signing
their names onto some kind of endorsement of the Cabrera report is setting them up for public
attack from Chevron (and perhaps attack within their academic circles as well) . . .. And finally,
some of the underlying work in the Cabrera report has weaknesses that an academic would
probably have a hard time defending.” Beltman explained, “[w]e’re having better success with
consultants being willing to sign endorsements than academics (something I am not proud of).”
170.  The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators did, however, ultimately suc-
ceed in convincing third parties to review the Cabrera Report that Stratus held out as having been
drafted by a “Technical Special Master.” For example, on July 15, 2008, Stratus executed a con-
tract with Dr. Peter N. Jones of Bauu Institute whereby he agreed to review the Cabrera Report
and provide comments in a conversation with Stratus. Such fraudulently obtained endorsements,
along with Stratus’s own evaluation—falsely touted as “independent”—served to further en-
hance the value of the Cabrera Report in the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ media

pressure campaign targeted at forcing Chevron to pay them off.

(vi)  The RICO Defendants’ Payments to Cabrera for Work
He Did Not Perform

171.  The perceived independence of the Cabrera Report was essential to the RICO
Defendants’ plan. Independence was the key to its credibility with the press, the public, and the
other parties whose endorsements the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators needed. Of
course, the perception of independence would be lost if it was known that the RICO Defendants

and their co-conspirators wrote the report themselves, and keeping this secret required Cabrera’s
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cooperation. And if the Cabrera Report were perceived as untrustworthy, the RICO Defendants
would be at a loss to demonstrate Chevron’s liability, not to mention the “damages” they hoped
to recover. Accordingly, when the RICO Defendants arranged for the court to abandon the judi-
cial inspection process and appoint Cabrera as a “global” expert, they also insisted that the par-
ties should pay for this process, and directly paid Cabrera over $263,000, despite the fact that —
Chevron objected throughout to the improper new process and refused to fund it. As it is now
clear that Cabrera did not write the report, the only purpose for these payments, which were
made by Defendant Selva Viva and funded by Kohn or Kohn Swift, must have been to buy
Cabrera’s cooperation and silence regarding the true authorship of the report.

172.  Cabrera earned his money by repeatedly perjuring himself in the Lago Agrio
court. For example, on July 23, 2007, four months after an all-day PowerPoint session with
Donziger and Fajardo, Cabrera declared to the court: “I should clarify that I do not have any re-
lation or agreements with the plaintiff, and it seems to me to be an insult against me that I should
be linked with the attorneys of the plaintiffs.”

173. When Chevron raised questions with the Lago Agrio court as to the authorship
of the Cabrera Report and Cabrera’s relationship with the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs, Cabrera Repre-
sented in multiple filings with the Lago Agrio court that he had worked independently and trans-
parently despite evidence to the contrary. On October 7, 2008, for example, Cabrera declared in
a filing that he is an “honest man with nothing to hide, and [his] conduct as an expert in this case
has been as professional, impartial and objective as possible, as can be seen from [his] expert re-
port.” In that same filing, Cabrera asserted that he does “not take orders from either of the par-
ties to the lawsuit” and that he is “not, nor will [he] be, subject to the views or whims of either of
the parties.” In a subsequent February 5, 2009 filing, Cabrera claimed that the “entire expert in-
vestigation procedure was completed by [him] personally.” He later declared that “[a]ll the work
was planned, directed, and approved by [him], as the person responsible for the expert examina-

tion.”
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174.  The RICO Defendants have also denied a relationship with Cabrera in filings
with the Lago Agrio court. For example, in an April 4, 2008 filing, Fajardo asserted that the no-
tion that there was a “common interest relationship between the expert Mr. Cabrera and the
plaintiff” and that Cabrera “works for us” was “simply ridiculous.” Then on April 25, 2008, the
RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators characterized Chevron’s claim that a close relation-
ship existed between them and Cabrera as “[a]nother infamy,” “childish and absurd.”

175. Despite these protestations of Cabrera’s independence to the Lago Agrio court,
Donziger himself has now admitted that Cabrera’s statements were “not accurate” because

“certainly the [Lago Agrio] plaintiffs provided materials for his consideration.”

(vil) The RICO Defendants’ Attempt to Launder the
“Cabrera Report”

176.  Despite the RICO Defendants’ concerted efforts to conceal the true authorship of
the Cabrera Report, Chevron has uncovered significant elements of the nature and extent of their
pervasive fraud, through discovery in U.S. courts pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1782. See 99 249-292
infra. This partial picture of the truth coming to light, however, has not stopped the RICO De-
fendants from seeking a massive judgment based on “Cabrera’s” report. Instead, they have
sought to whitewash the Cabrera Report by, for all intents and purposes, submitting it—again—
to the Lago Agrio court, only this time with new names attached. On September 16, 2010, the
RICO Defendants filed seven new “expert” reports with the Lago Agrio court, through which
they now demanded $113 billion in damages.

177.  These seven new expert reports purport to be independent. In reality, however,
they are a repackaging of Cabrera’s flawed and fraudulent report. Donziger discussed this plan
with one of his colleagues, Adlai Small of Patton Boggs, who told him, “One overarching theme
to think about throughout this process is how we want the new expert to address the Cabrera re-
port and its conclusion. While our new expert will most likely rely on some of the same data as
Cabrera (and come to the same conclusions as Cabrera), [d]o we think the expert should make

specific mention of such consistencies?” Small went on to explain to Donziger that he thought
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they should attempt to structure the new expert reports in such a way that they might rehabilitate
the tainted Cabrera Report to some degree, so that someone presented with the new reports
“might feel comfortable concluding that certain parts of Cabrera are a valid basis for damages.”
Donziger has also admitted that the new expert reports were intended to give the RICO Defen-
dants “an argument” allowing them to “attempt to shut down Chevron’s 1782 efforts in the U.S.”

178.  The link between the fraudulent Cabrera Report and the work of the “new” ex-
perts is made explicit in the retention agreement signed by the Weinberg Group, a consulting
firm, which, in turn, retained the “new” experts. The Weinberg Group’s retention agreement
provides that it was retained for the purpose of “conduct[ing] a comprehensive review of selected
sections of an expert report prepared by Richard Stalin Cabrera Vega,”—not to produce a new,
independent scientific report. As one co-conspirator has described it, the role of the Weinberg
Group is merely to “provid[e] a submission with their name on 1t.”

179. The Weinberg Group provided copies of the Cabrera Report to the experts it re-
tained for use in their own reports. According to Donziger and his co-conspirators, all the “new
expert[s]” needed was the “Cabrera report in and of itself” along with the data that Cabrera relied
upon. As the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators intended, these “new” experts then re-
lied heavily on the Cabrera Report. According to Donziger, none of these “new” experts had
“go[ne] to Ecuador,” “did any kind of new site inspection,” “did any kind of new sampling,” or
indeed, did “environmental testing of any kind.”

180.  One of the “new” experts, Douglas Allen, for example, made no independent
evaluation of the evidence, instead relying on the unsubstantiated findings contained in the
Cabrera Report. Indeed, the conspirators instructed Allen to use the Cabrera Report as his “start-
ing point.” He relied entirely on the Cabrera Report for, among other items, the number of pits
requiring remediation. Despite the fact that he “[did]n’t know if there are in fact 917 pits that
require remediation,” he relied on that number anyway—drawn from the fraudulent Cabrera Re-

port—in developing his own estimate. He relied on the Cabrera Report despite his opinion that
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the conclusions in the Cabrera Report are unreliable and that that the report lacked appropriate
citations and references.

181. Similarly, another “new” expert, Dr. Lawrence Barnthouse, relied on the stan-
dards contained in the Cabrera Report, and “assume[d] [Cabrera] was correctly characterizing
what they were.” Indeed, he has admitted that he was not retained to create a new, independent
report, and has further acknowledged that he “couldn’t be completely independent” because most
of the information he needed was “only available from the Cabrera Report.” Like Allen,
Barnthouse has admitted that he relied on the Cabrera Report despite the fact that he had reached
the conclusion that Cabrera’s numbers were “uncertain” and that methodology he adopted from
Cabrera was an “an unreliable indicator” and was “[s]uboptimal, [and] inadequate.”

182.  Jonathan Shefftz, another of these experts, did no independent work and repack-
aged portions of the fraudulent Cabrera Report. For example, Shefftz assumed without doing
any independent research or analysis that TexPet was required to incur costs and to remediate
pits based solely on the Cabrera Report’s assertion that these costs were necessary. Shefftz ad-
mitted that his report as a whole depends upon “data and cost figures from the Cabrera Report”
and that he had “simply taken {Cabrera’s] volume figures and . . . cost figures and used those as
inputs to [his] calculations.” He explained that he “was not engaging in any exercise to verify
[Cabrera’s] data series or his cost figures. [Shefftz] was just using them in [his] report.” Shefftz
also conceded that his reliance on the Cabrera Report and its flawed numbers could “lend an up-
ward bias” to his own results. Furthermore, an annex of Shefftz’s draft report relies heavily on
annex T to the Cabrera report—an annex that was drafted by Stratus, the consultants who ghost-
wrote the Cabrera Report.

183. The reports of other experts, such as Carlos Picone, Robert Paolo Scardina, and
Daniel Rourke were written “in collaboration with the Weinberg Group,” the group that had been
hired not to create new reports but rather to repackage the Cabrera Report. Sections of Picone’s
report were written entirely by the Weinberg Group, with only “minimal” editing by Picone.

Scardina’s report was written largely by a person at the Weinberg Group whose identity and
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qualifications are unknown to Scardina himself. Scardina, like the other experts, also relied ex-
clusively on the Cabrera Report and the Weinberg Group for information central to his report.
184. In summary, the “new” expert reports submitted by the RICO Defendants are
new only in two aspects. First, they bear new names, despite being nothing more than another
repackaging of the Stratus report that was originally submitted as the Cabrera Report. And sec-
ond, they purport to support a new damages figure, a remarkable $113 billion, which is a nearly

$90 billion increase over Stratus’ figure, despite offering no new analysis or evidence.

2. Colluding With the Republic of Ecuador to Bring Sham Charges
Against Chevron’s Attorneys

185.  As part of their scheme to defraud and extort Chevron, the RICO Defendants and
their co-conspirators conspired with officials from the Republic of Ecuador to advance baseless
criminal prosecutions against Ricardo Reis Veiga and Rodrigo Pérez Pallares, lawyers responsi-
ble for executing the 1998 Final Release that precludes Defendants’ claims against Chevron in
the Lago Agrio Litigation. With criminal convictions in hand, the RICO Defendants and their
co-conspirators and Ecuador could then seek to nullify the release, and “fully leverage the crimi-
nal investigation”—in the media and otherwise—to force Chevron to “settle” the Lago Agrio
Litigation or face a massive judgment. According to Donziger, “[1]f this penal case is brought,
this will be on the wires all over the world and it will really raise the cost to [Chevron].” Indeed,
footage from Crude shows the conspirators admitting that the criminal prosecutions are a means
to exert “personal psychological pressure [on Chevron’s] top executives,” and Donziger’s own
personal notes make clear that the criminal prosecutions were meant “to keep the hammer over
[Chevron’s] head” and “force [Chevron] to the table for a possible settlement.”

186.  The RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ collusion with the Republic of
Ecuador to procure the criminal indictments has been long in the works. In an email exchange in
August 2005 (which appears to be an excerpt from an ongoing correspondence) among conspira-
tors Alberto Wray, Bonifaz, Fajardo, Yanza, the Front, and Ecuador’s Attorney General’s office,

Wray wrote, “if at some point we want the Government and the Attorney General to play for our

73



side, we must give them some ability to maneuver.” Martha Escobar, a deputy of the Attorney
General, responded that both the office and “all of us working on the State’s defense were
searching for a way to nullify or undermine the value of the remediation contract and the final
acta [i.e., the 1998 Final Release] . ...”

187. In that same email exchange, Escobar confirmed that the Attorney General was
still determined to prosecute “those who executed” the 1995 Settlement Agreement and the 1998
Final Release, despite the absence of evidence of any wrongdoing: “The Attorney General re-
mains resolved to have the Comptroller’s Office conduct another audit (that also seems unlikely
to me given the time); he wants to criminally try those who executed the contract (that also
seems unlikely to me, since the evidence of criminal liability established by the Comptroller’s
Office was rejected by the prosecutor . .. .” The Attorney General later informed one of the
RICO Defendants’ colleagues that “he want[ed] [them] to work together on this matter” and that,
at least initially, “he [did] not want [their] meetings to be made public.”

188. After working together for some time, the RICO Defendants were successful in
getting the Republic of Ecuador to pursue fraud charges related to the remediation against Chev-
ron in litigation in the United States. When Donziger learned of this, he reveled in their success:
“The Attorney General of Ecuador is now suing Chevron for fraud on the remediation!! We have
been pushing this for over a year, we finally did it !!! This is huge, huge.”

189. The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators went to great lengths to hide
their collusion with the Republic of Ecuador. In an email to Donziger and others, one of the con-
spirators reminded them that they “had to resort to very sophisticated methods to disassociate
ourselves from the case (Amicus Curiae submitted by third parties etc),” and urged Donziger and
others not to undo this work by associating themselves publicly with the prosecutions. In an
email to the Republic of Ecuador’s U.S. counsel discussing the potential prosecution, Donziger
assured him that an Ecuadorian colleague working on the matter, “understands the need to keep
his contacts with your client’s office totally confidential and non-public.” Martha Escobar—the

deputy Attorney General with whom Wray exchanged emails—even perjured herself in a deposi-
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tion taken in an action pending in the Southern District of New York on November 21, 2006 and
denied that she ever had any communications with the conspirators concerning the Lago Agrio
Litigation. But when confronted with her own 2005 email with Wray proving otherwise, she
confirmed that she had been acting in that correspondence at the direction of the Attorney Gen-
eral.

190. The collusion with the Republic of Ecuador to obtain sham criminal charges, and
the extortionate purpose of that collusion, is documented in the film Crude and its outtakes. In a
January 2007 meeting between Donziger and Kohn captured in the Crude outtakes, in which
they are reviewing materials the RICO Defendants provided to the Ecuadorian Attorney General
in support of criminal prosecutions, Kohn discussed the RICO Defendants’ extortion plan: “So,
again, that may be something that we could facilitate going away at the right time . . . . if they
wanted it to go away.” Donziger replied, “Precisely.” Donziger told Kohn that Chevron is alleg-
ing a “conspiracy” between them and the Ecuadorian government, to which Kohn responded, “If
only they knew.”

191. On April 26, 2007, President Correa toured the Lago Agrio oil fields with the
RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators. That same day, he issued a press release demanding
the criminal prosecution of the Ecuadorian officials who had signed the 1998 Final Release. On
the following day after hearing this news, Donziger mused as to whether the time might be right
to “ask for the head of [Chevron’s lawyer Rodrigo] Pérez Pallares—given what the President
said.” Donziger explained: “[H]e’s totally with us.” The next day, on April 28, 2007, in a na-
tional radio address, President Correa echoed the RICO Defendants’ rhetoric, calling Chevron’s
Ecuadorian lawyers traitors and demanding that they, along with the Petroecuador officials who
signed the 1998 Final Release, be criminally prosecuted. In the movie Crude, Donziger is shown
stating that “Correa just said that anyone in the Ecuadorian Government who approved the so-
called remediation is now going to be subject to litigation in Ecuador,” and adding that those

persons who signed the 1998 Final Release “are shittin’ in their pants right now.”
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192.  The fact that President Correa called for the criminal indictment of those who
signed the Final Release did not come as a surprise to the RICO Defendants and their co-
conspirators. A month prior to President Correa’s tour of the Oriente, Fajardo met with Ecuador-
ian government officials, including Alexis Mera, a Judicial Secretary and chief legal advisor to
President Correa, in which Fajardo asked for Mera’s assistance in providing the President with a
“basis” for “reopen[ing]” the “investigation for . . . the responsible parties.” The conspirators
explained to Mera that, while they could mobilize the public in an effort to overturn the 1995
Settlement Agreement and the 1998 Final Release, “the official nature of the President could do
much more in this case . . . [and] interest by the Executive Branch[] and pressure on the Public
Prosecutor’s Office . . . could do a lot on this subject.” Mera, in response, proceeded to outline
various ways of nullifying the settlement and release. Remarkably, the RICO Defendants man-
aged to procure Mera’s assistance, and thus collude with the government, despite Mera’s admis-
sion that there was no “sustainable” path to nullification.

193. The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators made significant efforts to enlist
the support of President Correa and other Ecuadorian governmental officials, holding private
lunch meetings and conferences. After one such meeting with the President, Fajardo reported:
“So, the President thinks that if we put in a little effort, before getting the public involved, the
Prosecutor will yield, and will re-open that investigation into the fraud of, of the contract be-
tween Texaco and the Ecuadorian Government.” By seeking assistance from Ecuadorian gov-
ernment representatives, this is precisely the “strategic development” the RICO Defendants ulti-
mately achieved.

194.  The plan to procure the criminal prosecution of Chevron’s attorneys included
more than obtaining President Correa’s support. The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators
also aimed, as called by one of their associates, their “troops [and] artillery” against Chevron’s
attorneys through a series of demonstrations, and they publicly pressured Ecuadorian officials.
As Defendant Yanza proclaimed during a July 31, 2008 press conference, in order to ensure

prosecution, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators would “have to take legal actions
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against these officials . . . make public denunciations . . . put pressure through the people, all
these mechanisms . . ..” Yanza warned that “nothing is ruled out.” According to Donziger, this
was part of the conspirators’ strategy of conducting a “guerrilla campaign” against Veiga and
Pallares.

195. And this campaign was successful. As Donziger boasted, “[W]e are kicking
some ass, and it feels awfully good.” Donziger was elated not only because criminal charges
would be useful to the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ extortionate scheme, but
also because it would satisfy a personal vendetta. As Donziger described his feelings toward Mr.
Veiga, “Some days, I fantasize about putting my strong hands around Reis Veiga’s neck and
squeezing until he begs for mercy. I want him to know how it feels to suffer . ...”

196. The RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ objective was finally achieved
on August 26, 2008 when the Ecuadorian government announced criminal charges for fraud
against Ricardo Reis Veiga and Rodrigo Pérez Pallares, the two Chevron attorneys who signed
the 1995 Settlement Agreement and the 1998 Final Release. The charges were issued after two
previous Prosecutors General had determined that there was no evidence of fraud and had re-
quested that the case be closed. But that was before the RICO Defendants manufactured the al-
legedly “independent” Cabrera Report upon which the Prosecutor General expressly relied when
he filed the charges against Veiga and Pallares.

197.  After the sham criminal charges were procured, the RICO Defendants reprised
their “private army” and engaged in direct threats against Veiga and Pérez. On October 5, 2009,
Defendant Yanza, among others, enlisted the help of local citizens in parading crude effigies of
Veiga, Pérez, and other Chevron executives in front of the courthouse in Ecuador. At the con-
cluding rally, Yanza and others gave speeches and threatened to “kick [Pérez’s] ass” and “bury
[Chevron’s lawyers] in the . . . pit.” The protestors announced the “crimes” of each Chevron ex-
ecutive and a man dressed as the Grim Reaper mimed beheading each of the effigies with his
scythe before placing the “bodies” in a coffin. The protesters then carried the coffin into the jun-

gle, dug a shallow grave, and buried the Chevron executives in effigy.
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198.  The criminal charges against two of Chevron’s attorneys are a direct result of the
collusion between the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators and the Republic of Ecuador.
The issuance of these baseless charges and the threats of violence against Chevron’s attorneys
were firm but also a thinly veiled extortionate threat to Chevron: If you do not settle the Lago
Agrio Litigation on our terms we will have your employees imprisoned—or worse. Indeed, as
Judge Kaplan of the Southern District of New York noted, evidence shows that Donziger and his
colleagues have “attempt[ed] to procure criminal prosecutions for the purpose of extracting a set-
tlement [from Chevron],” and that the prosecutions “appear|] to have been instigated by
Donziger and others working with him for the base purposes of coercing Chevron to settle and
undermining a significant element of its defense in Ecuador, the release it obtained from the [Re-
public of Ecuador].” Likewise, in 2010, the U.S. State Department reported that “[c]riminal
complaints and arrest warrants against foreign company officials” are used in Ecuador “to pres-

sure companies involved in commercial disputes.” That is exactly what has occurred here.

3. Launching Public Attacks on Chevron Based on Misleading State-
ments and Lies to Force Chevron to Pay Up

199.  Through their own efforts and those of their collaborators, the RICO Defendants
have conspired to manufacture a wave of public criticism of Chevron based on deliberate false-
hoods and misleading statements. Since at least 2006, but with increased intensity since manu-
facturing the fraudulent Cabrera Report, they have saturated the public domain with their false
propaganda—using the Internet, radio, television, and film, as well as print media, including
books, newspapers, and magazines. And they have taken this pressure campaign to U.S. state
and federal agencies, seeking their falsely induced assistance in this racketeering scheme. As
conspirator Amazon Watch has explained, the strategy is to “turn up the heat on Chevron
through various means, shareholder resolutions, major media coverage and major investigations
through, for example, the Securities and Exchange Commission.” And Donziger has proposed
that the conspirators use the slogan “Always attacking.” According to Donziger, the “strategy”

is to “increase the cost to Chevron” including the “cost of their sullied reputation, you know, in
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the media.” As he explained to one of his associates in preparing for a mediation with Chevron,
“[w]e need to get more press and increase the pressure b/w now and then, to get the price up.”
As one federal judge put it, the “object of the whole game, according to Donziger, is to make this

so uncomfortable and so unpleasant for Chevron that they’ll write a check and be done with it.”

a. The Fraudulent Media Blitz

2 ec

200. Donziger outlined the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ “strategy” of
increasing costs to Chevron by “sull[ying] their reputation” to reporter Peter Maass. In an article
published in Outside magazine, Maass called Donziger’s strategy “attrition warfare: death by
lawsuit.” Donziger told Maass, “This case has to be won both in and out of the courtroom . . . .
If you had the case without the pressure, you would never get a result.” Maass observed,
“Donziger wants to keep the public pressure on, to make the company so miserable that it throws
in the towel and settles.” This is “guerrilla PR,” and “[r]abble rousing is a vintage Donziger tac-
tic.” Increasing the pressure involves maximizing publicity, and Donziger always “does his best
to arrange a good show.”

201.  To that end, Donziger recruited Karen Hinton, a public relations specialist, to
create and manage the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ campaign of false and mis-
leading public statements, and to coordinate the efforts to co-opt the media and well-meaning
private citizens in the conspirators’ pressure campaign. Stratus contributed to the effort as well,
developing what Stratus referred to as a “comprehensive press kit.” And political and communi-
cations consultant Chris Lehane was brought on board to help the RICO Defendants “leverage
the criminal investigation of the Chevron executives” through extensive public relations efforts.
In addition to recruiting reporters to cover the story, Lehane and the conspirators planned to
“[b]uild[] off the initial activity, we will want to consider several targeted specific mini-
campaigns all designed to create pressure points on Chevron’s economics.” These “mini-
campaigns” included filing a shareholder lawsuit against Chevron “for failure to disclose infor-

mation,” contacting the New York Attorney General “to see whether we can get Spitzer into the

79



game,” and manipulating students at a “major university that is invested in Chevron for a di-
vestment campaign.”

202.  The conspirators also maintain relationships, in part through the provision of fi-
nancial support, with various organizations that distribute false and misleading public statements
to increase the public pressure on Chevron. Some of these organizations are dedicated to the
fraud while others have broader functions, but all are knowing or unknowing accomplices of the
RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators. Foremost among these are Amazon Watch, RAN,
and Defendant the Front, organizations that knowingly operate and control significant aspects of
the pressure campaign and overarching conspiracy to extort a payment from Chevron.

203. The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators funnel a substantial portion of
their public attacks on Chevron through Amazon Watch, which presents itself to the public as an
independent organization. Donziger has explained the crucial role of this element of the pressure
campaign:

[They have] played an absolutely critical role in this . . . [I]fit weren’t for them,
we would just be a legal case, but because of the work of people who care, you
know, especially Amazon Watch, we’re a campaign that has a legal case. And I
think . . . that, um, the pain Amazon Watch can cause Chevron in many respects is
greater than the pain we can cause . . . .

204. Amazon Watch plays its role effectively, fully understanding that “the target of
many of the . . . campaign releases is Chevron itself rather than the media,” Amazon Watch
works to “get under Chevron management’s skin” as much as possible. The idea, according to
Donziger, is to “keep attacking, keep pressure on, etc.” He further explained his “cost-benefit”
calculation of the pressure campaign: “I also think that if you run . . . the costs in terms of the
hassle, the management time, reputational . . . [h]arm, dealing with the board, looking bad, hav-
ing your kids . . . in school, have friends who say, hey, what’d your daddy do in Ecuador?

. I think all of that factors into it in an af—extremely significant way, much more than th—the
hard-core costs, . . . out-ofpocket expenses and stuff—I think that’s where they’re most vulner-

able.”
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205. The RICO Defendants rely on Amazon Watch to carry out much of the public at-
tacks against Chevron, and the RICO Defendants closely monitor the press releases Amazon
Watch issues to make sure it remains on message. When an Amazon Watch representative com-
plained to Donziger that Amazon Watch was “not here to simply rubber-stamp press releases,”
and dared to tell him that prior experience showed that Amazon Watch “needs to carefully fact-
check your press releases in order to safeguard our own credibility,” Donziger replied sharply.
He stated that he and the other lawyers were “the final authority,” and that, “We can be collabo-
rators, but we are not equal partners.” The issue that set off Donziger’s tirade is particularly tell-
ing: Amazon Watch had wanted to provide Cabrera’s educational credentials in a press release
about him. Donziger’s response: “The issue about Cabrera’s qualifications is a good example.
He doesn’t have a doctorate. [ don’t want to highlight that. So I don’t mention what degree he
has in the press release. Obviously if he had a doctorate it would be in there, don’t u think?” In
response, the Amazon Watch representative called Donziger’s tactic an “unsubtle and unneces-
sary obfuscation” and “[bJombast and hoodwink.”

206. By using Amazon Watch as their proxy, the RICO Defendants and their co-
conspirators can also deliver their extortionate threats to Chevron using more direct language
than they are willing to use themselves—at least publicly. In “turn[ing] up the heat on Chevron,”
the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators have made their extortionate demands explicit in
direct communications with Chevron. For example, on December 17, 2009, Soltani wrote a let-
ter “on behalf of Amazon Watch” to then-incoming Chief Executive Officer John Watson in
which she cited the fraudulent $27 billion damages assessment from the Cabrera Report, and
threatened, “Until Chevron takes meaningful steps to resolve this case, it will continue to play
out in the courts of Ecuador, as well as in the global court of opinion.” She went on to state,
“We don’t make these suggestions lightly or symbolically.”

207.  The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators use all available means to pub-
lish their lies and half-truths in the “global court of opinion.” They regularly disseminate press

releases over the Internet, through electronic mail, and on newswires. They appear on television
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and radio broadcasts. Through various organizations they fund, the conspirators operate or cause
to be operated websites that attack Chevron at www.chevrontoxico.com, www.texacotoxico.org,
www.amazonwatch.org, www.chevroninecuador.com, truecostofchevron.com, thechevron-
pit.blogspot.com, and www.changechevron.org. The conspirators also promote their scheme
through social media tools, sending messages to supporters through Twitter (@changechevron)
and Facebook, and by posting defamatory comments and false statements (frequently using
pseudonyms) in response to articles written on the websites of newspapers, blogs and other
commentators. And the conspirators’ attacks on Chevron have not been limited to words, or to
statements to third parties: They have arranged or threatened marches and demonstrations in
front of the homes of individual Chevron employees and board members.

208.  The RICO Defendants’ false statements are made in support of appeals for fund-
ing, including through a link to make payments directly on their websites, at
http://chevrontoxico.com/take-action/donate.html and at
https://www.gifttool.com/donations/Donate?ID=38&VER=1& LNG=EN (via a link from
http://www.amazonwatch.org). Again, however, the RICO Defendants are careful to use the
supposedly independent Amazon Watch to front for their efforts. At chevrontoxico.com, the
statements soliciting donations by mail request that they be sent to Amazon Watch at its address
in San Francisco, California. Kohn and Kohn Swift have made substantial donations to Amazon
Watch. In 2009, for example, Kohn reported that Kohn Swift had contributed over $184,000 to
Amazon Watch and that sum did not include the donations he had personally made to Amazon
Watch. On information and belief, the conspirators use funds received in this manner to con-
tinue to prosecute their unlawful scheme to defraud Chevron. In fact, Amazon Watch’s tax re-
turns reveal that it has directed at least $90,000 in donations to the Front since 2002.

209. Amazon Watch is not the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ only
proxy. In what they no doubt believed at the time to be a coup, they recruited award-winning
filmmaker Joseph Berlinger to make Crude, a purported documentary about the Lago Agrio Liti-

gation that was released in 2009. The film, according to Donziger, that shows how he “manipu-
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late[d] the trial.” While Berlinger has claimed that he intended his film to be “fair,” he altered
the film before release, at the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ request, to hide the
relationship between the conspirators and Carlos Beristain, who was publicly disclosed as the
author of a major portion of the Cabrera Report, as discussed in paragraph 278, infra. This was a
critical change, because public disclosure of the prior relationship between the RICO Defendants
and Beristain could have been the visible tip that would alert Chevron and the public to the
mammoth iceberg of collusion between the RICO Defendants and Cabrera. Well aware of this
risk, Fajardo told the filmmakers that disclosure of that relationship was, “so serious that we
could lose everything,” and that “the way it is, the entire case will simply fall apart on us.” He
thus had the changes made even though they were “costly.”

210. A few months later, when Fajardo visited the University of Oregon, he expressed
alarm at his discovery that students there had obtained copies of the version showing Beristain,
and told Donziger that they had a “serious problem,” although he assured Donziger that nobody
at Oregon knew that there was a “conflict.” And when the RICO Defendants learned that CNN
intended to show clips from Crude, they and the filmmaker engaged in a scramble to ensure that
the Beristain scenes were not shown, obliquely instructing CNN, “Please do NOT include any
footage during Trudie’s visit to the Cofan community that features a man wearing a white t-
shirt.” Berlinger has also stated that he expected—as did the RICO Defendants—that the docu-
mentary Crude could “have some real-life impact on a decision or a potential settlement.”
Through Section 1782 discovery proceedings authorized by this Court, Chevron has obtained a
substantial volume of outtakes from Crude, outtakes that make clear the scope of the RICO De-
fendants’ lies and stonewalling, and from which many of the direct quotations in this Complaint
are taken.

211.  Although Donziger and his conspirators were involved in the making of the film
Crude, they knew that the film would be far more useful to their cause if it appeared independ-
ent. Donziger emphasized to Berlinger during filming, “I do not want to been seen as helping

[you] ... in front of the Chevron lawyers.” But behind the scenes, one of Crude’s major finan-
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cial backers was Russell Deleon, a law school friend of Donziger who has also been a major fi-
nancial support of the Lago Agrio litigation. Upon Crude’s completion, the conspirators pro-
moted and relied upon the released version of the film in their pressure campaign against Chev-
ron, and to raise money for that campaign. At http://chevrontoxico.com/take-action/crude-
house-party.html, they urge readers to hold Crude “screening parties” and to ask for donations
(for the RICO Defendants) at those events. On that web page, the RICO Defendants assert, “[i]n
order to change Chevron, one of the largest and dirtiest oil companies on the planet, we need to
build a movement a million times more powerful than them. Crude will educate and inspire

thousands of people to commit to changing Chevron in the coming weeks and months.”

b. Misrepresenting the “Independent” and “Neutral” Cabrera
Report
212.  Inall of these communications media, the conspirators have repeated their false

claims that Cabrera offers an “independent” and scientific perspective which “proves” Chevron’s
liability. And in doing so, the conspirators have sought to increase pressure on Chevron and
thereby extort a payment from it. For instance, there is a lengthy summary of the Cabrera Report
on chevrontoxico.com, which never discloses the RICO Defendants’ role in writing the report,
and concludes with the following: “A final decision on Chevron’s liability and damages will be
made by the trial judge. However, courts in Ecuador generally give wide deference to reports
prepared by independent experts.”

213.  When challenged, the RICO Defendants have repeated their claim that Cabrera
is independent. For example, on April 3, 2008, Fajardo stated, in a press release issued by Ama-
zon Watch, “Chevron’s claim that Professor Cabrera is cooperating with the plaintiffs is com-
pletely false,” and “Chevron is frightened by Cabrera precisely because he is an independent and
credible expert.” The RICO Defendants’ guiding principle, as Donziger wrote to Fajardo, is: “If
you repeat a lie a thousand times it becomes the truth.” |

214.  On or about May 31, 2008, shortly after the RICO Defendants caused their own

secretly written report to be filed as Cabrera’s, Kohn appeared on Fox News, touting Cabrera’s
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independence. He not only claimed that Cabrera was an “independent expert appointed by the
judge,” but then falsely stated that Cabrera “analyzed all of the evidence from all of the parties
from both sides,” to come up with the damages estimate of “between eight and sixteen billion.”
Kohn did not reveal that his co-conspirators ghostwrote Cabrera’s report.

"~ 215.  After the conspirators drafted the update to the Cabrera Report in November
2008, increasing the total damages assessed to $27 billion, the Front issued a press release on
December 1, 2008, falsely extolling the Cabrera Report as an “independent” assessment by the
“Special Master” based on the review of the “trial evidence—the vast majority of it provided by
Chevron.” Once again, no mention was made of the fact that Cabrera’s report and its update had
actually been written by the RICO Defendants, or that the majority of materials upon which it
was based were not “trial evidence” at all, but that enterprise’s files.

216.  The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators, in addition to portraying
Cabrera’s report as independent to the media, also used the fraudulent “evaluation” drafted by
Stratus to enhance the credibility of the Cabrera Report in the media. For instance, on December
1, 2008, Hinton and Amazon Watch issued a press release about the Stratus report entitled
“Chevron’s $27 Billion Liability in Ecuador’s Amazon Confirmed by Team of Independent Sci-
entists.” That press release states that “[t]he independent expert report was prepared by Richard
Cabrera, an Ecuadorian environmental scientist appointed by the court as a Special Master who
has worked mostly for 0il companies in preparing environmental damage assessments,” and
quotes an endorsement from Defendant “Douglas Beltman, a scientist at Stratus Consulting who,
along with a team of scientists, reviewed the expert’s report on behalf of the [Lago Agrio] plain-
tiffs.” It is unsurprising that Stratus employees “endorsed” the report, given that they wrote it.

217. Stratus’s involvement in the media campaign was envisioned as early as the ini-
tial August 2007 contract between Kohn Swift and Stratus contemplating that Stratus would en-
gage in “discussions with the media” in addition to performing other tasks to further the conspir-
acy. As an example, Defendants Beltman and Stratus were involved in orchestrating the RICO

Defendants’ response to Chevron’s allegations that Cabrera’s supplemental report showed evi-
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dence of collusion between Cabrera and the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs. Indeed, Beltman sent
Donziger draft language denying that the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs were in collusion with Cabrera
and claiming that “Cabrera’s November response to the plaintiffs is clearly his own.” This re-
sponse became part of the RICO Defendants’ overall efforts to portray the Cabrera Report as in-
dependent.

218. Now, despite the unequivocal evidence that the RICO Defendants’ and their co-
conspirators’ own team of experts ghostwrote Cabrera’s report and its update, the conspirators
continue to spread the lie that Cabrera is independent. In May 2010, in response to a court filing
by Chevron alleging collusion between the RICO Defendants and Cabrera, Fajardo again denied
any wrongdoing, claiming that Cabrera had worked independently. When asked about the in-
volvement of Stratus, Fajardo told the media, “They are our technical advisers in the United
States, and they have worked with us for some years, but they have never interfered in the trial.”
Yet the day before he made that statement, he had written a review of Chevron’s filing for his
co-conspirators in which he conceded that it was “true” that “plaintiffs (that is, us) have worked
in collusion with expert Cabrera.” The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators still continue
to use the Cabrera Report as a jumping off point for their most recent claim for $113 billion in
damages.

219. The RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ far-reaching campaign to por-
tray the fraudulent Cabrera Report as that of an independent court expert has been largely suc-
cessful, and numerous unsuspecting media outlets have repeated uncritically the RICO Defen-
dants’ false refrain about Cabrera’s independence. An April 3, 2008 Reuters article, for exam-
ple, stated: “An independent environmental expert told a court in Ecuador that the oil company
Chevron should pay $7 billion to $16 billion in compensation for environmental damage in the
country.” And in a May 2009 broadcast, the television show 60 Minutes reported on the Lago
Agrio Litigation, discussing the Cabrera report in detail, but never suggesting that the RICO De-
fendants had actually secured Cabrera’s appointment and written his report. This was undoubt-

edly because the RICO Defendants had never disclosed this to 60 Minutes. To this day, the
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RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators maintain a link to the 60 Minutes broadcast of this
misleading report on one of their websites. As the conspirators had hoped, then, the mainstream
media has bought the propaganda and played the role the conspirators hoped and intended in the
scheme to extort a payment from Chevron. And in fact, their hoodwinking of the mainstream
press benefits the conspirators doubly in that it allows them to republish—without correction—
the media outlet’s false statements about the Cabrera Report, as they did with the AP story de-
scribed above.

220. The RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ deception of the national and
international media has gone beyond prompting the republication of lies about Cabrera’s inde-
pendence. For example, Defendants Fajardo and Yanza were awarded the Goldman Environ-
mental Prize, “the world’s largest prize program for grassroots environmental activists,” and Fa-
jardo was awarded the CNN “Heroes” award. The press release announcing the Goldman Prize

echoed the RICO Defendants’ misstatements and half-truths, including those regarding Cabrera’s

independence.
c. The RICO Defendants Make False Statements to U.S. State
and Federal Government Officials
221. The conspirators have sought to open as many fronts as possible in their offen-

sive against Chevron, pursuant to their strategy to generate maximum pressure on Chevron to
drive it into a coerced settlement. The RICO Defendants and their collaborators have made false
and misleading statements in the United States to state and federal officials, seeking to enlist
their (unknowing) aid in the fraudulent scheme through investigations and other official acts.
Since 2008, the RICO Defendants have continuously touted the findings in the so-called “inde-
pendent” Cabrera Report as evidence in support of their demands for official action.

222. The conspirators have engaged in a long-running campaign to convince the SEC
to investigate Chevron for allegedly violating disclosure obligations. They have attempted to
obscure their role in this campaign by using Amazon Watch as their front, but Donziger has ad-

mitted that he wrote several of the letters which purportedly came from Amazon Watch. On
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January 30, 2006, at the RICO Defendants’ behest, Amazon Watch wrote Christopher Cox, then
Chairman of the SEC, requesting that he “open an investigation into the Chevron Corporation
(CVX) for violating SEC regulations governing disclosure obligations to shareholders in refer-
ence to litigation against the company over an oil-related environmental catastrophe in Ecuador.”
Relying on David Russell’s $6 billion damages assessment (which he had already disavowed),
Amazon Watch accused Chevron of failing to inform its shareholders of its “staggering potential
liability.” The letter went on to mischaracterize the lawsuit as a ““class action,” and falsely
claimed that Chevron had “been forced to admit at trial that Texaco . . . dumped over 18 billion
gallons of toxic water into the rainforest . . . .”” Although Donziger personally informed Amazon
Watch Executive Director Soltani that the Russell report was grossly excessive (see § 118, su-
pra), Amazon Watch never corrected its false statements to the SEC or Chevron shareholders. In
fact, the next month, Soltani and Amazon Watch sent a follow-up letter, accusing Chevron of
distorting the report of the “settlement experts” from the then-ongoing “judicial inspection”
process—the same proceeding in which the conspirators submitted the false expert report with
Dr. Calmbacher’s fraudulently obtained signature.

223. On March 18, 2008, Amazon Watch reprised this effort, writing another letter
signed by Soltani to the SEC. In this letter, written weeks before the fraudulent Cabrera Report
was filed but obviously well-aware of its secret contents, Soltani emphasized the forthcoming
report, and the independence of its purported author, “an independent special master” that had
prepared his report “mak[ing] use of all evidence collected” with “a large team of technical ex-
perts under [his] supervision.” The letter demanded an investigation and “the imposition of a
penalty on Chevron for failing to comply with its obligations.” Soltani argued “that Cabrera is
being attacked by Chevron precisely because he is qualified to conduct a credible damages as-
sessment.” Soltani and Amazon Watch made these statements knowing that Cabrera’s report
was being ghostwritten by Stratus and the RICO Defendants’ other consultants. Indeed, despite

knowing that the Cabrera Report was a fraud, Soltani accused Chevron of “contriv[ing] claims of
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procedural unfaimess” and called Chevron’s position that the process had been unfair “ludi-
crous.”

224.  The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators have made these same false
statements to other federal agencies. In a letter dated April 29, 2008, to the U.S. Trade Repre-
sentative, Defendants Yanza and Fajardo called Cabrera “an independent court-appointed special
master,” and misstated that “the bulk of the evidence relied on by the special master, Professor
Richard Cabrera, was provided by Chevron itself via its own sampling evidence.”

225.  Andin April 2009, Donziger made false statements concerning Cabrera’s pur-
ported “independence” in a statement before the U.S. House of Representatives. Donziger
falsely stated that “[t]he best and most recent independent estimate available of the human health
impact of this contamination is provided by the expert appointed by the court, Richard Cabrera.”
(emphasis added). Donziger also testified that “[nJumerous qualified scientists have reviewed
this report and found its conclusions reasonable and the damages assessment consistent with the
costs of other large environmental cleanups.” At no time did Donziger disclose the fact that the
“qualified scientists” were his co-conspirators Stratus, Beltman, Maest, and Chapman, who
planned and secretly wrote the “Cabrera” Report.

226.  The RICO Defendants have also made false statements to individual members of
Congress. On December 19, 2008, Defendant Beltman provided United States Congressman Jim
McGovemn’s office “some talking points” for an interview with the Los Angeles Times, falsely
telling the Congressman’s staff that “[t]he Court Expert reviewed available scientific data and
concluded that people in the area suffer from many illnesses caused by the contamination, in-
cluding cancer.” On January 31, 2009, Beltman forwarded Cabrera’s reports, stating “[t]he
Court Expert’s March 2008 report summary is attached,” and that “[a]lso attached is the Novem-
ber 2008 response to the [Lago Agrio] Plaintiff’s questions that was written by the Court Ex-
pert.” Beltman failed to disclose that Stratus and the other RICO Defendants actually ghostwrote

the responses to the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs along with Cabrera’s initial report.
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227. In addition, the RICO Defendants have extended their campaign to state officials.
On May 4, 2009, in response to a communication provided by Donziger, Kohn, Karen Hinton,
and others, the New York Attorney General sent Chevron a letter inquiring about Chevron’s dis-
closures related to the Lago Agrio Litigation. In the letter’s first paragraph, the New York At-
torney General stated, “As I understand the allegations, a technical expert has admitted that if the
plaintiffs prevail in the litigation, assessed against Chevron may be as high as $27 billion.” The
RICO Defendants had provided the Attorney General with the false information that Cabrera was
a neutral “court-appointed expert” and that the RICO Defendants had played no part in creating
the exorbitant $27 billion figure. The goal was to prompt the New York Attorney General to
commence an investigation that would create additional pressure on, and expense for, Chevron.
And according to plan, the New York Attorney General’s letter was noted in the press, and it
generated media coverage suggesting that Chevron had “mishandled” the matter. For example,
in reference to the New York Attorney General’s letter, industry publication Oilgram news
noted, “Analysts seem mixed on what the Ecuador fallout ultimately may mean to Chevron but
appear to agree there will be at least a short-term knock to the stock price.” It quoted an analyst

with OppenheimerFunds, Inc. stating, “I would settle and cut my losses.”

d. The Conspirators Attempt to Manipulate Chevron’s Stock
Price to Coerce a Favorable Settlement

228.  To increase financial and public pressure on Chevron to pay off the RICO De-
fendants through an extorted settlement of the Lago Agrio Litigation, the conspirators have
sought to manipulate and depress Chevron’s stock price by targeting Chevron’s shareholders,
potential investors, and stock analysts with their lies and half-truths. In furtherance of their
scheme, the conspirators have staged protests at Chevron’s shareholder meetings and at the
homes of members of Chevron’s Board of Directors, and have issued false and misleading
propaganda to Chevron’s shareholders about its liability in the Lago Agrio Litigation. In each

instance, they have argued that the $27 billion damages assessment is independent and legiti-
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mate, and thus represents a major risk to Chevron’s share value. Donziger described these pres-
sure tactics on shareholders as one of the “key cards we can play.”

229. The RICO Defendants’ strategy of targeting Chevron’s shareholders is stated in
their public comments and on the websites they operate, which contain material aimed directly at
investors. At the website changechevron.org/for-investors, operated by co-conspirator RAN, the
conspirators claim “Chevron’s current brand of operations exposes the company (and its inves-
tors) to great financial, reputational, and en?ironmental risks.” In reference to the damages as-
sessed in Cabrera’s report, the conspirators refer to “staggering liabilities,” and suggest that
Chevron has not “adequately warned shareholders about the financial risks the company faces in
the Ecuador lawsuit.” The conspirators describe these activities on their website: “To pressure
Chevron to do the right thing in Ecuador, we engage in a variety of tactics. In the past few years
we have. . . [a]lerted Chevron’s shareholders to the company’s lies and omissions regarding the
case in Ecuador, a case in which a ruling against Chevron would dramatically threaten the value
of those shareholders’ investments.”

230. For example, shortly after Cabrera filed his initial report, on or about May 31,
2008, Kohn appeared on a Fox News segment touting the “independent” Cabrera Report as a
reason for Chevron shareholders to be concerned. In that interview, Kohn insinuated that Chev-
ron was hiding information regarding Cabrera’s “independent” damage assessment, stating
“shareholders were [recently] informed for the first time of even the existence of the case al-
though the original case was filed in the U.S. in the 90s.” He then warned that “shareholders
should be concerned about the image of Chevron.” At no point did Kohn explain that his co-
conspirators had actually ghostwritten Cabrera’s supposedly independent report.

231. In the face of allegations that the RICO Defendants colluded with Cabrera, in a
press release issued by the Front on February 13, 2009, Fajardo is quoted as saying that such al-
legations were “‘false and defamatory’” and claimed that it would “expose Chevron shareholders
to additional liability.” And in an April 2008 press release issued by the Amazon Defense Front,

Fajardo accused Chevron of failing to disclose to shareholders that Ecuador’s Attorney General
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had filed a formal complaint to the U.S. Department of Justice, and that “[t]his is part of [a] con-
scious strategy to try to discredit a trial process that Chevron knows it is losing because of the
evidence.” And as recently as December 21, 2010, the Front issued a press release quoting Fa-
jardo as saying, “Chevron’s Board of Directors cannot continue to ignore the mounting evidence
of illegal activity and fraud on the part of the company’s legal team in the United States and in
Ecuador. . .. We intend to seek full redress of the harm that has been done in the name of Chev-
ron’s shareholders and to hold accountable all individuals in Chevron who have participated in
this unlawful scheme.”

232.  The conspirators have also communicated directly with Chevron shareholders
and influential analysts on numerous occasions. On May 25, 2009, Amazon Watch sent a letter
signed by Soltani to Chevron shareholders, asserting that Chevron had made “false, misleading,
or incomplete” filings with the SEC, and quoted analysts from Barclays and Potomac Research
stating that the litigation was hurting Chevron’s stock price. As with most of the conspirators’
public statements since April 2008, the letter relied upon an “independent court damages assess-
ment,” but did not disclose that the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators themselves had
secretly written that “assessment.”

233. Donziger and his co-conspirators have also personally lobbied analysts, includ-
ing in personal meetings, and made fraudulent misrepresentations with the intent that their mis-
representations would be reported as fact by these analysts, and that these reports would decrease
Chevron’s stock price. On May 11, 2009, for example, Donziger and his co-conspirators met in
New York with the Managing Director of Oil & Gas Equity research at UBS, and provided him
with copies of the Cuomo letter, the Cabrera report and supplemental report, and the fraudulent
“review” of that report by Stratus, all intended to convey the impression that Cabrera’s report
was independent and valid. Also involved in this effort was co-conspirator Daniel Orlow, de-
scribed by the RICO Defendants as “an investment advisor who works with the legal team that
represents the Amazonian communities,” who made repeated public statements shortly after the

UBS meeting on behalf of the RICO Defendants such as: “The pressure is increasing on Chev-
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ron’s management over the uncertainty surrounding a very significant potential environmental
liability in Ecuador,” and “Our team is being contacted repeatedly by shareholders and analysts
who are concerned that Chevron management is not fully and honestly disclosing the company’s
exposure in Ecuador . . .. There is a real concern that Chevron is not playing it straight and that
it might have oveérpaid for Texaco.”

234. In another effort to influence Chevron’s share price, the conspirators have insti-
tuted a “Buy Freeze” campaign in which they have contacted investors directly and, relying on
false and misleading statements about the results of the site inspections and the criminal prosecu-
tions and government inquiries that the conspirators have instigated, urged the investors not to

buy Chevron stock. Amazon Watch describes the campaign as follows:

Amazon Watch is contacting institutional and individual shareholders — in par-
ticular, socially responsible investment community (SRIs) and public employees,
teachers and university pension funds to urge them to join the buy freeze. The
trial court in Lago Agrio, Ecuador, has found shocking levels of life-threatening
toxins at dozens of former Chevron production sites in Ecuador . . . .

Now Chevron is being accused of fraud in Ecuador for lying about the results of a
limited remediation it did in the md-1990s . . . .

As a result, Ecuador’s Attorney General has asked the U.S. Department of Justice

to investigate Chevron’s alleged fraud. The Securities and Exchange Commission

already 1s probing the company for failing to disclose the potential liability to

shareholders.
Amazon Watch concealed the fact that it was the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators
who actually wrote the Ecuadorian Attorney General’s report.

235. The conspirators have also staged protests at several of Chevron’s annual share-
holder meetings. As shown in the film Crude, these protests, while designed to appear to be
grassroots, community events, are actually carefully planned and literally scripted by Donziger
and his co-conspirators.

236.  In addition, the conspirators have lobbied large institutional investors to support

Chevron shareholder resolutions designed to bring support for the conspirators’ lies and to add

additional pressure on Chevron. For example, Stratus and Amazon Watch were involved in
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drafting a 2009 shareholder resolution, offered by the Office of the Comptroller of New York
City as the custodian and trustee of certain pension funds. On December 1, 2008, Mitchell
Anderson of Amazon Watch emailed Beltman of Stratus with the subject line “2009 Shareholder
Resolution — Urgent Update” and stated that “[w]e need to make some changes quickly to the
below paragraph, given the new figures released by the court appointed expert.” Beltman pro-
vided the higher numbers from Cabrera’s revised report, which were then included verbatim in
the shareholder resolution proposed by the funds the next day. That resolution provides that a
“court-appointed expert in the Ecuadorian litigation has recommended that Chevron be held li-
able for up to $27.3 billion in damages,” but fails to explain that Stratus and the other RICO De-

??

fendants and their co-conspirators secretly drafted the “court-appointed expert’s” report finding
Chevron liable.

237.  The conspirators have promoted their involvement in drafting shareholder reso-
lutions that seek to draw attention to Cabrera’s finding of liability, but, again, without disclosing
the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ role in drafting his report. For example, on
April 8, 2009, after the SEC declined to issue a no-action letter to Chevron regarding one of the
conspirators’ shareholder resolutions, Hinton and Amazon Watch issued a press release describ-
ing the resolution as, “a high-profile resolution that threatens to focus attention on the company’s
record-breaking $27 billion environmental liability in Ecuador.”

238.  The Wall Street Journal has reported that the RICO Defendants’ statements
about the Lago Agrio Litigation, and, specifically, Cabrera’s assessment of $27 billion in dam-
ages has had its desired effect on Chevron’s share price: “The possibility that a judge may later
this year demand damages as high as $27.5 billion, roughly one-fifth of Chevron’s market capi-
talization, appears to have spooked some investors.”

239.  The Front and Hinton have touted negative analyst reports regarding Chevron on
the website, chevrontoxico.com. For example, on May 26, 2009, the conspirators published an

article stating that “Oppenheimer, in a report dated May 4th [2009], said the $27 billion claim

from Ecuador ‘could depress the stock until a settlement is reached . . . the sooner [the case] is
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removed, the better off shareholders will be’” and that “Barclay’s called the Ecuador case a
‘drag’ on Chevron’s stock value.”

240. And on August 24, 2010, FOXBusiness reported that, “the oil company has lost
much of its gains over the past few weeks as it continues to fight a lawsuit in Ecuador that al-
leges Texaco, acquired by Chevron in 2001, wrecked portions of a jungle while drilling for oil in
the 1970s and 1980s.” The conspirators published this article in its entirety the next day at the
chevronpit.blogspot.com.

241.  Above all, however, the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ false
statements, harassing conduct, and lobbying efforts with media, government, shareholders and
private individuals are all aimed at one ultimate objective—forcing Chevron to pay the RICO

Defendants and their co-conspirators billions of dollars to make them stop.

e. The RICO Defendants Falsely Accuse Chevron of Murder to
Generate Outrage and Force Chevron to Pay

242, The conspirators have made numerous public statements stating or implying that
Chevron is guilty of murder. This claim is false and has been made intentionally and without
any basis whatsoever. The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators’ intent in spreading this
lie is to generate great outrage and disgust among the public and activists and in the media, all in
furtherance of their extortionate conspiracy.

243.  Defendant Fajardo and his co-conspirators have attempted to capitalize on the
violent murder of Fajardo’s brother, Wilson Fajardo. They have repeatedly implied that Chevron
was responsible and claimed that there has been no police investigation into the crime. Yet Fa-
jardo knows this to be false. In a written statement made to the District Prosecutor as part of the
extensive investigation into his brother’s murder, Fajardo himself provided the names and ad-
dresses of the men he believed to be his brother’s murderers, details concerning the place and
circumstances of the murder, and, most importantly, a detailed account of the prior bad blood

between the alleged murderers and Wilson Fajardo, including prior threats and an attempt by one
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of the men to stab his brother a few days earlier. There is no mention in this statement of Chev-
ron or Texaco or any connection to the Lago Agrio Litigation.

244.  Despite this statement concerning the details of Wilson Fajardo’s death and his
knowledge that Chevron had nothing to do with it, Fajardo has falsely and intentionally implied
that Chevron was responsible. For example, on April 22, 2008, Fajardo made the following
statement on Ecuadorian TV: “I can’t say that it was Texaco that did it, but [ can’t say the con-
trary. This sort of thing was never investigated. In other words, there’ve been many things, a lot
of pressure, a lot of persecution in this case, which leaves a lot to be seen.” And on August 24,
2009, Fajardo said to Publico, “1 have been threatened many times and one of my brothers was
killed by hit men, but I don’t have evidence that Chevron was behind his killing.”

245. Fajardo’s co-conspirator Hinton has perpetuated these falsehoods in comments
she posted on Politico.com on November 16, 2009, in which she stated that “no one knows who
murdered [Fajardo’s] brother,” and the death happened when Fajardo “and other members of the
[Lago Agrio] plaintiffs’ legal team had received a number of anonymous death threats connected
to the work on the case.” These statements are false and Fajardo and Hinton knew at the time
that they were false. Fajardo knew that his brother’s death had been investigated and he knew
that Texaco and Chevron had nothing to do with it. Yet he lied about it on television, and Hinton
spread that lie.

246, Even though he identified suspects in his brother’s murder and the murderers’
motives for killing his brother, Fajardo has falsely implied that the killers mistook Wilson Fa-
jardo for Defendant Fajardo himself to create the impression that Chevron had attempted to “as-
sassinate” Fajardo. For example, in a May 2007 article in Vanity Fair magazine concerning the
case against Chevron, Fajardo claimed that he was being followed and that “the killers had made
a mistake.” Donziger has taken this outrageous claim all the way to the United States Congress.
In a statement before the Tom Lantos Human Rights Commission, Donziger asserted that the
“team of lawyers and advocates fighting Chevron in Ecuador’s courts over clean-up responsibil-

ity have suffered harm in retaliation for exercising their legal rights[.]” And the first “[e]xample
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of this retaliation” he offered the committee was: “The lead lawyer for the rainforest communi-
ties, Pablo Fajardo, has been subjected to death threats. A brother of Mr. Fajardo was murdered
in 2004, about a year after the trial began, under mysterious circumstances that some think was a
case of mistaken identity.” Similarly, in a particularly offensive scene in Crude set at Wilson
Fajardo’s grave, Defendant Fajardo linked his brother’s “assassination” to the “first judicial in-
spection of the Texaco case” and falsely said that the killers “were looking for me.” In another
scene, he “joked” that he kept a gun in his house “[f]or when Texaco comes.” These knowingly
false statements are intended to leave the false impression that Chevron is not only responsible
for the murder of Wilson Fajardo, but seeks to kill Pablo Fajardo as well.

247. The outrageous attacks on Chevron linking it to murder are just more of the
RICO Defendants’ thinly veiled threats to Chevron: Pay up, or we will continue our campaign
of lies, fraud, and corruption.
C. The Conspirators’ Campaign of Lies and Obstruction in U.S. Courts

248. Determined to prevent their conspiracy to defraud and extort Chevron from be-
ing exposed in the discovery and other proceedings Chevron commenced in U.S. federal courts,
the RICO Defendants embarked on a campaign of obstruction and lies, attempting to conceal the
true authorship of the Cabrera Report and the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ rela-
tionship with the supposedly “independent” Cabrera. Defendants went as far as misrepresenting
Cabrera’s independence in a complaint they filed in this Court in related litigation seeking to stay
an arbitration proceeding. And Donziger, the ringleader of the enterprise, has personally inter-
fered with discovery proceedings in this Court and elsewhere, including repeated and sustained
violations of multiple court orders issued from this Court. In this and other lies and misconduct
before various U.S. courts, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators, including law firms
Patton Boggs, Emery Celli and Motley Rice, have brought their pervasive fraud into the courts of

this country and have attempted to hide their criminal scheme from Chevron and the courts.
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1. Attempting to Obstruct Chevron’s Discovery Proceedings by Making
False and Misleading Statements Before U.S. District Courts and
Courts of Appeals

249, Faced with denials from the conspirators in Ecuador about the authorship of
Cabrera’s report, Chevron turned to the United States to pursue discovery from the largely U.S.-
based enterprise directly through proceedings under 28 U.S.C. § 1782, which authorizes “[t]he
district court of the district in which a person resides or is found [to] order him to give his testi-
mony or statement or to produce a document or other thing for use in a proceeding in a foreign or
international tribunal.” Several courts have granted Chevron’s applications for discovery, result-
ing in the prodﬁction of more evidence of fraud, collusion, and criminal misconduct, and evi-

- dence establishing the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ knowing obstruction of
Chevron’s Section 1782 applications. This evidence, and the condemnation by numerous U.S.
courts of the conduct it reveals, is detailed below. But co-conspirator Julio Prieto perhaps cap-
tured the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators clear knowledge of the wrongfulness of
their own conduct in an email to Donziger and Fajardo after Fajardo told him that the RICO De-
fendants’ correspondence with Stratus was likely to be disclosed in a Section 1782 proceeding in
Colorado: “[T]he effects are potentially devastating in Ecuador (apart from destroying the pro-
ceeding, all of us, your attorneys, might go to jail)[.]”

250.  Accordingly, the RICO Defendants adopted a strategy of obstruction and delay
in furtherance of their criminal scheme, seeking to hold off U.S. discovery until they could ob-
tain a judgment in Ecuador and begin their plan to use it to harass and attack Chevron and its
subsidiaries around the world. As co-conspirator llann Maazel of Emery Celli wrote to Donziger
and other co-conspirators, including attorneys at Patton Boggs and Motley Rice, “Unless we
want the Stratus/Cabrera revelation to come out in CO [Colorado], which seems like the worst
possible place, we need to make our submission in Ecuador and fast. . .. We’ve bought over a
month in CO and everywhere else but time is almost certainly about to run out.”

251.  Throughout these Section 1782 proceedings, the first of which Chevron initiated

on December 18, 2009, the RICO Defendants have sought to impede Chevron’s discovery
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through lies, procedural abuses, and obstructionist delaying tactics. These efforts notwithstand-
ing, Chevron has obtained additional evidence demonstrating that the conspirators wrote the
Cabrera Report and sought to use the so-called “independent” report to their advantage. As this
evidence has come to light, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators have continued to
make statements that are not only false, but inconsistent with their own prior representations, de-
spite the fact that that this strategy made them look, “coy at best and silly or untrustworthy at
worst,” as Jonathan Abady of Emery Celli put it in an email to Donziger and other Emery Celli

and Patton Boggs attorneys.

a. The RICO Defendants’ Initial False Representations to U.S.
Courts That They Had No Relationship With Cabrera and
No Role in Preparing the “Cabrera Report”

252.  In opposing Chevron’s discovery efforts, the RICO Defendants’ first tactic was
denial of any misconduct whatsoever. They apparently hoped that by stonewalling the federal
court, they could avoid the discovery of their extraordinary misconduct. In multiple filings in
Section 1782 proceedings, the conspirators have falsely asserted their lack of relation to Cabrera:
“Mr. Cabrera is not even an expert for one party, but a Court-appointed neutral . . . .” Addition-
ally, in declarations filed throughout the country, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators
have perpetuated their false version of events, hiding their relationship with Cabrera and claim-
ing that he was “independent.”

253.  The RICO Defendants continued to spread their false version of events in depo-
sitions. On April 23, 2010, for example, Chapman falsely testified that he had no reason to think
that Stratus had provided work product to Cabrera. The RICO Defendants and their co-
conspirators were proud of Chapman’s performance, but realized that the truth was bound to
come out. As co-conspirator Andrew Wilson of Emery Celli wrote to Donziger, “Chapman did
an excellent job of not remembering anything—but Chevron will be able to do side-by-side
comparisons of Stratus work product and [Cabrera’s] report to a judge that will smell bad.” In
fact, as Stratus’s own documents makes clear, Chapman, who is the head of Stratus’ natural re-

source economics group, was personally involved in and knowledgeable of Stratus’s secret au-
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thorship of Cabrera’s report. Indeed, it was Chapman who provided Donziger with the initial
outline and plan for Stratus to write the “damage estimate,” and asked Donziger “when a final
report would have to be delivered to the Judge” so that Stratus could plan its resources accord-
ingly. Chapman’s deposition misconduct, however, is not surprising given that Beltman held
meetings for Stratus staff after Chevron filed for discovery from Stratus in an attempt to mislead
the employees and influence their potential testimony regarding Stratus’s authorship of the
Cabrera Report. At these meetings, Beltman repeatedly misstated that Cabrera was an independ-
ent expert and misrepresented the role of Stratus in ghostwriting the Cabrera Report. Beltman
consistently omitted any discussion of Stratus’s true involvement.

254. In another blanket denial, Stratus represented through counsel to the District of
Colorado on April 27, 2010 that Stratus was “astonish[ed]” to see “similarit[ies]” between their
own work product and the Cabrera Report. It assured the court that Stratus did not have “an op-
portunity to review Cabrera’s report in draft form,” and that what they provided their co-
conspirators was, “intended to assist them in their analysis of data,” and in the “mediation,” not
“to assist Cabrera.” These were outright lies; Stratus ensured that its work product appeared in
the Cabrera Report. In a “Status Report” filed three weeks later, counsel for Stratus informed the
court that “continued inquiry suggests that there were communications between Mr. Cabrera and
two representatives of Stratus.”

255. Allegedly before a subpoena issued under the authority of the Southern District
of California, co-conspirator and Stratus subcontractor Powers threw out a computer hard drive
containing responsive documents and deleted responsive emails. Evidence obtained by Chevron
in other Section 1782 proceedings demonstrated that Powers had been a key participant in the
RICO Defendants’ scheme. Indeed, one of the RICO Defendants’ own attorneys had written,
that “we are getting an indication from these documents how important a player Bill Powers was
in this whole thing. He has substantial knowledge and involvement in the Cabrera Report draft-
ing.” Ultimately, Powers confirmed in his deposition that he had drafted the annexes to the ini-

tial Cabrera Report and substantial portions of the supplemental Cabrera Report.
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256.  The RICO Defendants also falsely denied contact with other Cabrera team
members. The District of New Jersey granted Chevron’s application for discovery from another
of the conspirators, UBR, on the basis that while that firm was a paid consultant to the RICO De-
fendants, one of its employees, Juan Cristobal Villao Yepez, was disclosed as one of the authors
of the Cabrera Report. On appeal, the RICO Defendants told the Third Circuit Court of Appeals
that it should reverse, because there was no evidence supporting Chevron’s claim that Villao had
any connection to Cabrera, or that he had worked for UBR when he was supposed to have been
working with Cabrera. But several months later, when this District ordered Defendant Donziger
to produce his own files, they revealed that Donizger and other RICO Defendants had had direct
communications with Villao regarding his contribution to the Cabrera Report. And Donziger
himself has now admitted that Villao worked for both Cabrera and the RICO Defendants. None-
theless, the RICO Defendants have taken no action to remedy their misrepresentations to the
Third Circuit. In internal correspondence, they have, however, discussed the situation regarding
Villao and whether to publicly acknowledge that the Cabrera Report was ghostwritten by the
RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators, commenting on their concern at being accused of
“perpetuation of the fraud.” Andrew Wilson of Emery Celli, for example, warned Donziger to
be “[c]areful” because it is “not clear our relationship with Villao was disclosed.”

257.  Intheir internal communications, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators
have recognized that their denials did not square with the facts. In May 2010, one of the Lago
Agrio Plaintiffs’ U.S. lawyers wrote that their characterization that Cabrera had “considered”
Stratus’s work “seems like way too much of a stretch considering that Cabrera’s report, or sub-
stantial annexes to it, are in fact the consultant’s work. This is far more than ‘circumstantial evi-
dence’; this is, indeed, a ‘““hand in glove” showing.”” Co-conspirator Jonathan Abady of Emery
Celli described the relationship between the RICO Defendants and Cabrera as “wholesale adop-
tion of Stratus work product w/o attribution.” Co-conspirator Wilson admitted in an internal
email that “[t]he more we emphasisze [sic] [Cabrera’s] neutrality the less sense it makes that we

were talking to him outside of school.” And in extensive correspondence in June 2010, among
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Donziger, Motley Rice, Patton Boggs, Emery Celli, and other co-conspirators, Jason Rockwell at
Patton Boggs acknowledged that, “the Ann Maest notes suggest more coordination with Cabrera
than counsel simply dropping off two sets of documents,” and Jonathan Abady of Emery Celli
conceded that, “By refusing to admit this now obvious fact, we look coy at best and silly or un-
trustworthy at worst.”

258. Because their pésition in these proceedings has been so divergent from the facts,
the RICO Defendants have had trouble retaining counsel willing to go along with this scheme of
falsehoods and obstruction. Donziger has admitted that when first one and then another of the
U.S. law firms that the RICO Defendants retained to represent their interests in opposing Chev-
ron’s Section 1782 applications learned of the full scope of the RICO Defendants’ relationship
with Cabrera, the firms withdrew from the representation.

259. In response to Chevron’s initial Section 1782 filings, the RICO Defendants re-
tained a respected New York firm to represent their interests. But when a senior partner with
that firm interviewed Stratus employees in Boulder, it was apparent to him that the RICO Defen-
dants’ relationship with Cabrera was improper and contrary to the representations made to him
by Donziger. His law firm withdrew the next day.

260.  Around this time, Donziger prepared a memorandum which he addressed to
lawyers from a Colorado firm also retained by the RICO Defendants to block Chevron’s discov-
ery from Defendant Stratus. In that memorandum, Donziger misled those attorneys on numerous
material facts. For example, in a section of the memo titled “Role of Stratus Consulting,” he
listed such innocuous activities as “helping Ecuadorian counsel respond to scientific questions,”
and “giving media interviews,” but failed to inform the attorneys that Stratus had in fact written
the Cabrera Report, the central allegation of the pending court proceeding. And he listed “Opin-
ions in Cabrera’s report were taken directly from Stratus materials,” as one of Chevron’s “inac-
curate” factual assertions.

261.  When this second firm was unable to obtain confirmation of any of Donziger’s

false representations, and after learning from its predecessor about the results of the interviews
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he had conducted with Stratus, that firm also withdrew. Simultaneously with its withdrawal, it
sent Donziger an email citing the “troubling information™ that it had learned regarding Stratus’
role in preparing the Cabrera report, and that “we are concerned about our ability to satisfy our
obligations to Judge Kane and to the court if we continue in our representation of the Lago Agrio
plaintiffs in this case.” The attorney concluded, “I’m sorry it has come to this, but I feel if we
proceed | may be compromising this firm’s reputation and ethical stature and I cannot do that.”

262. The conspirators then turned to counsel that they thought “appear[ed] willing to
sign anything,” but that their relationship with that counsel lasted only a month before that firm
withdrew. And when the fourth firm retained by the RICO Defendants in the same Section 1782
proceeding reviewed the record, and not merely Donziger’s materially misleading memorandum,
it concluded that, ““it appears not only that Cabrera and plaintiffs can be charged with a ‘fraud’
respecting the former’s report, but that Stratus was an active conspirator.” At this fourth coun-
sel’s request, the second firm retained by the RICO Defendants, who had previously informed
Donziger that the RICO Defendants’ position was “untenable,” prepared a brief memorandum
summarizing its bases for withdrawal. In that memorandum, that firm stated that “we did not
feel that we had a Rule 11 basis to file an opposition to Chevron’s subpoena.” Rule 11 of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure requires that every filing submitted to a federal court must be
signed by an attorney who represents that the filing is not “any improper purpose,” that the
“claims, defenses, and other legal contentions are warranted by existing law,” and that “the fac-
tual contentions have evidentiary support.”

263. When another lawyer, Andrew Woods, who worked for Donziger, grew alarmed
that Donziger was using him to make possibly false claims in a declaration filed in federal court,
and asked to make a clarifying submission if any of his previous statements were false, Donziger
and his co-conspirators talked him into remaining silent. Despite their own recognition of their
misconduct, the RICO Defendants continue to deny this evidence and dissemble in sWom state-

ments, in court filings, and in deposition testimony.
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b. The RICO Defendants’ Subsequent False and Misleading
Statements in an Attempt to Justify and Excuse Their
Emerging Misconduct

264. As their strategy of stonewalling and total denial became increasingly impossible
to square with the emerging factual record, including the video outtakes from Crude, the RICO
Defendants and their co-conspirators made a last-ditch effort to cover up their misconduct by at-
tempting to confuse and mislead federal courts regarding the Lago Agrio court orders governing
their association with Cabrera. The RICO Defendants distorted the record in several ways as
part of their attempt to impede federal court review of Chevron’s discovery applications and
thereby allow the Lago Agrio court to continue its march towards judgment.

265. In response to an inquiry from the District of Colorado seeking information
about the full relationship between Cabrera and Stratus, Wilson of Emery Celli, appearing as
counsel for the Lago Agrio plaintiffs, assured the court that they would provide the “full picture”
in an upcoming filing. Indeed, Wilson assured the court nine times at the hearing that the up-
coming report would provide the “full picture.” When the conspirators caused that promised
“full picture” to be filed, however, it was incomplete and misleading. In a sworn declaration,
Defendant Fajardo provided a lengthy description of the relationship between the RICO Defen-
dants and Cabrera, but falsely attested that Cabrera was “independent” and omitted from his dec-
laration the substantial role he and other conspirators had played in securing Cabrera’s appoint-
ment, his numerous personal meetings with Cabrera—including the March 2007 meeting cap-
tured in the Crude outtakes—and the massive, U.S. project to write, translate and submit the
fraudulent Cabrera Report. Rather, Fajardo claimed that the RICO Defendants’ contact with
Cabrera was pursuant to orders issued by the Lago Agrio court in January and April 2008, re-
questing that the parties make various submissions to Cabrera.

266. The RICO Defendants have repeatedly invoked these 2008 Lago Agrio orders,
even though much of their extensive recruitment, meeting, and collusion with Cabrera occurred
in 2007. They have also sought to explain Cabrera’s various fraudulent statements to the court

that he was independent from them, by asserting, in a federal court filing signed by Wilson of
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Emery Celli, that those statements were “made before the [Lago Agrio] court order authorizing
him to get material from the parties,” and argued that “[w]hen the [Lago Agrio] Court ordered
Mr. Cabrera to consider whatever submissions were provided by the parties, the landscape
changed considerably. Nevertheless, Chevron conflates Mr. Cabrera’s 2007 statements with
conduct that occurred affer Court authorization was given in 2008 . . ..”

267.  The RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ attempt to excuse their con-
duct based on these orders is unavailing on its face. These orders were issued a year after their
close relationship with Cabrera began, and they do not authorize anything like what transpired.
Indeed, when confronted with the evidence of the RICO Defendants’ prior relationship with
Cabrera, Donziger himself admitted that he and his co-conspirators “met with and interacted with
Mr. Cabrera both before and after” the Lago Agrio court issued its January 2008 order. Their
defense is also incompatible with their statements to the Lago Agrio court afier those orders
were issued. On April 25, 2008, Defendant Fajardo asserted in a filing in the Lago Agro court
that it was “[a]nother infamy” that the plaintiffs were “accused of having a close relationship
with Independent Expert Richard Cabrera.” “It is disappointing, your honor, that professionals
with such experience have fallen into such childish and absurd arguments.” And this defense
ignores the fact that the one submission the RICO Defendants made to Cabrera pursuant to court
order was expressly limited to documents from “public institutions in the country,” which does
not include the work of their own consultants—an inconsistency they have conceded in private
correspondence.

268. Nonetheless, the RICO Defendants continue to assert in U.S. federal court that
their relationship with Cabrera was pursuant to those orders and fully disclosed to the Lago
Agrio court. Before the Third Circuit, for example, the RICO Defendants recently asserted that,
“The Ecuadorian court was and is well aware of the Ecuadorian Plaintiffs’ ex parte contacts with
Cabrera and submission of materials to him—and indeed, invited such contacts and submis-

sions.” Of course, if the court was aware of the RICO Defendants’ collusion with Cabrera,
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which was roundly denied by the RICO Defendants and Cabrera for years, that merely implicates
the court in the fraud. It does not excuse or justify it.

269. The RICO Defendants have also made the false claim, first before the District of
Colorado and then before other courts, that Cabrera disclosed his contacts with the conspirators
in his report. In support of this new position, they specifically referred to a citation in the
Cabrera Report which they quoted as, “Excerpts from . . . Selva Viva 2002-2006” (emphasis and
alteration in original). But the full citation, without the conspirators’ carefully placed ellipses,
plainly referred to a specific set of documents related to the judicial inspections, and does not
disclose anything resembling the wholesale ghostwriting that actually occurred.

270. The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators also claimed that their submis-
sions to Cabrera were “privileged,” and that Ecuadorian law permitted parties secretly to submit
materials to court officials without disclosing those materials to other parties. In support of this
claim, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators submitted a declaration that cited no legal
authority whatsoever.

271. In their internal correspondence, RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators
admitted that they were relying on unsupportable distinctions to avoid disclosure. As early as
May 16, 2010, attorney Ilaan Maazel of Emery Celli, conceded in an email to co-counsel that,
“the core basis for the 1782 is nevertheless apparently correct: neither Cabrera nor plaintiffs dis-
closed a submission from plaintiffs that contained drafts of part of the expert report written by
Stratus.” Yet the very next day, the RICO Defendants caused to be filed in federal court a brief
containing the claim that all contact between Cabrera and the RICO Defendants was disclosed.

272. In response to another suggested defense, in which the conspirators would argue

23

that the only fraud shown by the record was Donziger’s and not the “clients’” thus supposedly
protecting privilege, Donziger complained that, “you’re throwing me under the bus,” and noted
that there was substantial evidence that Yanza was involved in any fraud. Co-conspirator Ilann

Maazel of Emery Celli assured him that Yanza was not his client, but Donziger pointed out that

Yanza was associated with the Front, which stood to receive 10% of any judgment. These con-
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cerns notwithstanding, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators have pressed this argu-
ment in numerous U.S. courts.

273. The RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ attempt to whitewash their
conduct was insupportable on its face, and Chevron’s subsequent discovery of their true conduct
has demonstrated how baseless these attempts were. The RICO Defendants and their co-
conspirators did not submit materials to Cabrera so that he could independently review them;
rather, they submitted materials for him to sign and submit to the court under his name. Nor did
they ever intend to disclose this to Chevron, or to anyone. As Donziger put it, their specific in-
tent with respect to Chevron’s knowledge of the RICO Defendants’ relationship with Cabrera
was to make sure “that they don’t know shit.”

274. The RICO Defendants offered these false statements in part because they hoped
to avoid discovery of their misconduct, but also in an effort to at least forestall disclosure as long
as possible through factual misrepresentations and the obstructive filing of meritless court pa-
pers. Through this strategy, they would buy themselves time to allow the Lago Agrio court to
issue its judgment against Chevron under which the only basis for liability would be the fraudu-
lent Cabrera Report. In May 2010, as the conspirators realized that the truth of their relationship
would start to come out, Donziger described their strategy: “I think we should appeal on the the-
ory that we gain a greater advantage by fighting them on everything, and tying them up, than in
conceding any one thing even if we expect to ultimately lose that one thing down the road.” And
another conspirator, Eric Westenberger of Patton Boggs, lawyers spelled it out in more specific
terms: “What about the following? Appeal; move for stay; if we win with [the District Court
Judge] great; if we lose, we produce whatever we want (narrow read); [Gibson Dunn] complains
and then we move for clarification. If we lose again, we think about another appeal.”

275.  The evidence that Chevron has uncovered in the Section 1782 proceedings, in
spite of the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ obstructive tactics, has inspired strong
language from several federal courts. For example, the District Court in the District of New Jer-

sey held that the conduct in furtherance of the conspiracy could not constitute “anything but a
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fraud on the judicial proceeding.” And, regarding videotaped evidence of the criminal enterprise
that Chevron has obtained, Judge Kaplan of the Southern District of New York found that “the
outtakes contain substantial evidence of misconduct in and relating to the Ecuadorian litigation.”
Specifically, Judge Kaplan noted that the outtakes “contain substantial evidence that Donziger
and others (1) were involved in ex parte contacts with the court to obtain appointment of the ex-
pert, (2) met secretly with the supposedly neutral and impartial expert prior to his appointment
and outlined a detailed work plan for the plaintiffs’ own consultants, and (3) wrote some or all of
the expert’s final report that was submitted to the Lago Agrio court and the Prosecutor General’s
Office, supposedly as the neutral and independent product of the expert.” The Western District
of North Carolina court also found that “what has blatantly occurred in this matter would in fact
be considered fraud by any court,” while the District of New Mexico court concluded, “[t]he re-
lease of many hours of the outtakes has sent shockwaves through the nation’s legal communities,
primarily because the footage shows, with unflattering frankness, inappropriate, unethical and
perhaps illegal conduct.” The District of New Mexico court also found that the RICO Defen-
dants have engaged in “corruption of the judicial process, fraud, attorney collusion with the Spe-
cial Master, inappropriate ex parte communications with the court, and fabrication of reports and
evidence.”

276.  Numerous courts have also found that the crime-fraud exception to the attorney-
client privilege applied and thus did not shield the RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’
pervasive fraud from discovery. The District Court for the Southern District of California, for
example, reasoned that there “is ample evidence in the record that the Ecuadorian Plaintiffs se-
cretly provided information to Mr. Cabrera, who was supposedly a neutral court-appointed ex-
pert, and colluded with Mr. Cabrera to make it look like the opinions were his own.” Similarly,
the District Court of New Mexico noted that “exchanges” among the RICO Defendants “trigger
the crime-fraud exception, because they relate to corruption of the judicial process, the prepara-

tion of fraudulent reports,” and “the fabrication of evidence.” And the Southern District of New
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York noted that “there is more than a little evidence” that the activities of the RICO Defendants

“come within the crime-fraud exception.”

2. Making False Statements to Deceive New York Courts in Connection
With Chevron’s Section 1782 Applications and Other Actions

277.  The RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ deliberate misrepresentations
to federal courts have not been limited to lies about their relationship with Cabrera and the au-
thorship of the Cabrera Report. Rather, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators have
made, or caused to be made, a number of false statements before federal courts in New York in
connection with their attempt to prevent the discovery of certain Crude outtakes in a Section
1782 proceeding and in the case the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs filed, through co-conspirator Emery
Celli, to stop Chevron’s arbitration witil Ecuador in a bilateral investment treaty proceeding.

278. Before the Southern District of New York, the RICO Defendants and their co-
conspirators made a series of false statements regarding Crude and the contents of the outtakes
from filming sought by Chevron pursuant to Section 1782. When Chevron discovered evidence
that a scene in Crude had been modified at the RICO Defendants’ request in order to suppress
evidence of meetings between the RICO Defendants and Cabrera team member Carlos Beristain,
the RICO Defendants told the court that the meeting was “innocuous” and “of no relevance to
anything.” Similarly, on appeal of the district court’s order requiring production of the Crude
outtakes, the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators claimed that they had requested Berlin-
ger to delete the scene from the DVD version of the film only to “avoid the misimpression, cyni-
cally fostered by Chevron below, that [the Lago Agrio] plaintiffs participated in one of Dr. Ber-
istain’s focus groups affer he was a court expert” (emphasis in original). In fact, however, the
meeting from which Beristain was carefully edited out of the picture was a meeting arranged and
funded by the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators as part of their scheme to control the
content of the Cabrera Report. Nor was that the only evidence of wrongdoing that disclosure of
the video would record. And the attorney who signed the brief in the Second Circuit, Ilann

Maazel of Emery Celli, knew that the Beristain footage would turn out to be much less damaging
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than what he knew the outtakes would contain, “a meeting with Steve, Pablo, Stratus, and
Cabrera,” as he informed his co-counsel when the Second Circuit’s order compelling production
was announced.

279. Judge Kaplan noted that Berlinger’s representations regarding the contents of
those outtakes, which were adopted by the RICO Defendants through their agent and co-
conspirator Emery Celli have “proved inaccurate.” Judge Kaplan observed that “[t]hese and
similar instances are worrisome in considering their present claims.”

280. In addition to the false statements concerning Crude, the conspirators have made
misrepresentations in two other cases before the Southern District of New York. One of those
cases was brought by the Republic of Ecuador and Petroecuador and the other was filed by the
RICO Defendants (ostensibly on behalf of the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs), through their agent and co-
conspirator Emery Cellj, in an attempt to stay the Treaty Arbitration Chevron had commenced as
a result of Ecuador’s failure to abide by the terms of the 1998 Final Release. In making false
statements about Cabrera in both proceedings in related actions before this Court, the RICO De-
fendants have attempted to deceive the Court.

281.  Finally, on January 14, 2010, co-conspirator Emery Celli filed an action ostensi-
bly on behalf of the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of New York, seeking a court order compelling Chevron to stay the bilateral investment
treaty proceeding. The complaint alleged that “[t]he best and most recent independent estimate
available of the human health impact of this contamination is provided by the neutral Special
Master [Cabrera] appointed by the [Lago Agrio] court to provide advice on damages.” (emphasis
added). It further stated that “Dr. Cabrera appointed a team of 14 technical officials,” and that
“the final report [was] produced by the Cabrera team . . ..” (emphasis added).

282. This complaint also alleged that “[e]nvironmental remediation experts from the
United States have reviewed the Cabrera report and found its conclusions reasonable and its

damages assessment consistent with the costs of other large environmental clean-ups around the
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world.” The “environmental remediation experts from the United States” were the RICO Defen-

dants themselves, a fact which was not disclosed by the RICO Defendants to this Court.

3. Obstructing Judicial Proceedings by Tampering With Witnesses,
Withholding Documents, and Making False Statements to This Court

283.  Donziger, the mastermind of the RICO Defendants’ fraudulent scheme, has also
been a leading actor in the attempted cover up of the criminal scheme in U.S. courts. He has
tampered with the testimony and sworn submissions of at least two other witnesses, Mark
Quarles and Dr. Charles Calmbacher, and he has defied multiple discovery orders from this
Court commanding him to produce his own documents, and lied to the Court repeatedly about
his non-compliance.

284. Donziger has been working to prevent Chevron’s discovery of the RICO Defen-
dants’ scheme for years. On or before September 17, 2007, the RICO Defendants and their co-
conspirators induced one of their consultants, Mark Quarles, to sign a declaration, which was
submitted in an action pending in the Southern District of New York, stating that “Mr. Cabrera
and his team have acted independently from both the [Lago Agrio] plaintiffs and the defendant
....” During Quarles’s recent deposition in a Section 1782 proceeding, Quarles testified that the
statement concerning Cabrera’s independence in his declaration was based on several days of
observation of the global assessment process in 2007, and also on specific false representations
by Donziger that Cabrera had written the work plan upon which the Cabrera Report was based.
He further testified that Donziger paid him to conduct his observations and sign the declaration.
Quarles testified that had he known that Cabrera was working directly with the lawyers for the
Lago Agrio Plaintiffs (i.e., the RICO Defendants), he would not have signed the declaration.

285.  Recent document productions from Donziger have further revealed that not only
did Donziger push Quarles to swear to Cabrera’s independence, he pressed for stronger lan-
guage, and asked Quarles remove language that would have hurt the RICO Defendants if the true
facts were known. On September 16, 2007, Donziger sent Quarles an email attaching Quarles’

draft declaration. Where Quarles had written a paragraph discussing the qualifications of
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Cabrera’s team, Donziger requested that he replace that language with statements that Donziger
knew to be utterly false: “Mr. Cabrera has at all times acted independently from both the plain-
tiffs and the defendant. At no time has Mr. Cabrera entertained suggestions or even met with
plaintiffs or their representatives regarding his current work plan.” Donziger then told Quarles to
delete language suggesting that if any such contacts had taken place, “a degree of biasness would
have been introduced into the sampling plan.” Quarles accepted Donziger’s request to delete the
“biasness” passage, and ultimately signed a version containing the core of the false claim of in-
dependence.

286. More recently, when the conspirators learned that Chevron would be taking Dr.
Calmbacher’s deposition in a Section 1782 proceeding, the RICO Defendants attempted to stop
Calmbacher from exposing the truth about the falsified reports that Defendants and their co-
conspirators filed in his name.

287.  Under the guise of seeking to move to quash the subpoena, Donziger contacted
Dr. Calmbacher and attempted to convince him not to testify at his deposition, telling him that
testifying could pose “real problems” for him and could result in a “potential law case against”
him because “they’re going to go after [him] for unprofessional behavior.” Donziger had no fac-
tual basis upon which to make these statements, which were false and misleading. When asked
at his deposition whether “Donziger [was] trying to convince [him] not to come and testify,”
Calmbacher testified: “Very much so. Very much so.”

288. Dr. Calmbacher disregarded Donziger’s threats and outrageous claims, and testi-
fied pursuant to the court-authorized subpoena. Shown copies of the reports filed by Defendants
in the Lago Agrio court under his name, Dr. Calmbacher testified, “I did not reach these conclu-
sions and I did not write this report.” Dr. Calmbacher proceeded to explain how the conspirators
sent him a version of his expert report that correctly stated his views and blank pages for him to
initial so that they could obtain his signature for the falsified reports filed with the Lago Agrio

court, as described in paragraphs 108 to 111, supra.
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289. In the Section 1782 proceeding directed at Donziger himself, he has disregarded
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and this Court’s multiple express orders to produce all of
his responsive documents. With the approval of the Couﬁ, Chevron served a subpoena on
Donziger on August 9, 2010, seeking documents and testimony regarding many of the matters
described in this Complaint. Donziger moved to quash the subpoena, and this Court denied that
motion on October 20, 2010 and ordered Donziger to comply with the subpoena “forthwith.”
Further, because Donziger had failed to produce a privilege log, the Court held that any privi-
lege claims over Donziger’s documents were waived. Nonetheless, the Court noted that it
would “relieve [Donziger] of the waiver,” if he “file[d] a complete privilege log on or before
October 29, 2010.”

290. Donziger did not comply. Instead he produced a fraction of his documents, filed
meritless and conflicting papers with the Court, and then, nearly a month later, submitted a fa-
cially defective “privilege log.” On November 29, the Court once again ordered Donziger to
produce his responsive documents, finding that Donziger’s conduct “was a deliberate attempt to
structure the response to the subpoenas in a way that would create the maximum possibility for
delay.” And Donziger once again failed to comply.

291. At Donziger’s deposition, his conduct was so improper that it prompted the Spe-
cial Master, appointed by this Court to oversee the deposition, to write to the Court: “From vir-
tually the first day of his deposition, Mr. Donziger gave many unresponsive, self serving an-
swers to questions that should have been answered directly, with no embellishment.” The Spe-
cial Master went on to describe how he had repeatedly cautioned Donziger and his counsel, but
that this “seemed to have little effect.”

292.  OnlJanuary 13, 2011, the Court yet again, in response to a motion to compel
filed by Chevron, ordered Donziger to produce the documents he had been under orders to pro-
duce since October, and held in reserve the possibility of holding Donziger in contempt. Over
the next several days, Donziger, without explanation for his prior failure to do so, produced

over 87,000 documents, four times as many as he had produced before, the vast majority of
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which were responsive to Chevron’s requests, and included many of the probative documents
that form the basis for this complaint. Yet, in deposition testimony immediately following this
production, Donziger admitted that he had yet more responsive documents, such as those in
email accounts that the RICO Defendants set up specifically to hide communications sensitive

communications about, among other topics, their authorship of the Cabrera Report.

D. Chevron Has Suffered Substantial Damages as a Result of the RICO Defen-
dants’ Conspiracy, and Enforcement of a Corrupt Judgment in the Lago
Agrio Litigation Would Deepen the Harm

293.  The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators have used the corruption and
politicization endemic to the Ecuadorian judicial system to their advantage and by colluding with
the Ecuadorian government and corrupting the court and its “neutral” expert. It is therefore
likely that the Lago Agrio court will do as the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators have
desired and enter a massive, fraudulent judgment against Chevron even though there is no le-
gitimate evidence to establish liability or damages. See 9 87-184, supra. Indeed, as Judge Kap-
lan explained, “there is evidence to support Chevron’s claim that the ‘global assessment’ is a
fraud . ... There is evidence too that other expert evidence submitted to the Ecuadorian courts
on behalf of those plaintiffs also was fraudulent. Chevron thus stands in jeopardy of a huge
judgment that, if ultimately rendered, could be the result of a fraud practiced by the Lago Agrio
plaintiffs.”

294. The jeopardy that Chevron faces is compounded by the fact that the RICO Defen-
dants continue to have access to significant funds to carry out their criminal scheme. Until 2010,
Kohn had been the primary source of funds for the criminal scheme, supporting it with over $7
million in less than seven years—*“the largest single component” of which, according to Kohn,
was over $1 million to Donziger personally. This money was made available by Kohn upon spe-
cific requests from Defendants Donziger and Yanza, who worked with Kohn to prepare budgets
for the case, and would contact him as often as monthly to request amounts ranging from
$40,000 to $100,000 each time. These funds were distributed to U.S. consultants, including De-

fendant Stratus, and to Ecuador, mainly through Selva Viva and the Front, to fund the RICO De-

114



fendants’ activities in that country. After Donziger, Yanza, and Fajardo had a falling out with
Kohn, they secured additional ongoing funding from Burford, a firm that specializes in funding
large lawsuits. In the summer and fall of 2010, the RICO Defendants discussed a $15 million
investment from the Burford Group, and by December, the initial funds had already been pro-
vided to support their criminal activities. In exchange, Burford received not only an interest in
any money obtained from Chevron, but also approval authority over the use of their funds. An-
other substantial source of funds has been Russell Del.eon, an online gambling entrepreneur who
was a major source of funding for Crude.

295. Moreover, a judgment that finds Chevron liable and awards damages appears to
be imminent, as indicated by the Lago Agrio court itself. On December 17,2010 at 9:57 am.,
only two days after counsel for the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs’ Ecuadorian counsel demanded “a final
declaration by the Courts: a judgment, a declaration by the court that will put an end to this long
litigation” and disregard the evidence of fraud and corruption, the Lago Agrio court issued an
order known as autos para sentencia. This order purports to formally close the evidence and
vest the court with authority to enter a judgment at any time and without any further act or notice
to the parties. Indeed, the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs themselves have acknowledged that judgment is
imminent. In a recent filing before U.S. court, the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs asserted that a final
judgment could be issued as early as February 2011. And, on January 17, 2011, the RICO De-
fendants and their co-conspirators caused the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs to file their alegato or closing
arguments with the Lago Agrio court.

296. Defendants already are planning to seek immediate enforcement of the impending
Ecuadorian judgment in U.S. and foreign courts, and to extort a payment from Chevron by using
the Ecuadorian judgment to threaten seizure of Chevron’s assets and those of its subsidiaries.
The RICO Defendants internal blueprint for global enforcement, a memo by co-conspirator Pat-
ton Boggs titled “Invictus,” asserts that, “If and when an enforceable judgment is entered in Ec-
uador, Plaintiffs’ Team expects to be engaged quickly, if not immediately, on multiple enforce-

ment fronts—in the United States and abroad.” They have said as much expressly on multiple
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occasions, and, in fact, have represented to the Southern District of New York that Chevron’s
defense against any Lago Agrio judgment should be restricted to New York’s Recognition Act.

297. Co-conspirator Amazon Watch has reported that the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs’ repre-
sentatives will quickly “move to collect the judgment by any means necessary in whatever coun-
try the company has assets” and that they “will seek to enforce any judgment against the oil giant
immediately in U.S. courts.” Co-conspirator Hinton said that “[1]f the [Ecuadorian] courts were
to agree to [force Chevron to post a bond in order to appeal the Lago Agrio judgment], then we
would try to start seizing assets in other countries.” According to Donziger, “If we get a judg-
ment out of the trial court, we’re coming back immediately, — soon as we can, —to get that
judgment enforced. We are not waiting for the appeals process.” And Donziger has threatened
that “Chevron operates in more than 100 countries and has numerous oil tankers that troll the
world’s waterways and dock in any number of ports . . . . This could end up being one of the
biggest forced asset seizures in history and it could have a significant disruptive impact on the
company’s operations.” In an interview broadcast as part of a 60 Minutes segment on the Lago
Agrio Litigation, Donziger, in response to the observation that Chevron has no assets in Ecuador,
stated, “At the end of the day, it might be a situation where a U.S. court enforces the judgment
and the marshals have to go to Chevron and seize their assets.” These threats continue unabated.
Just months before this Complaint was filed, Donziger, in a speech to law students, told them
that he was assembling a legal team “to execute whatever judgment comes out of Ecuador effec-
tively, in whatever forum might—forum might be appropriate, including multiple places that,
you know, you could file suits, you could seize assets, seize boats.”

298. Through statements made to this Court, Defendants have also made clear their in-
tent to enforce immediately the imminent judgment. When asked by Judge Sand of the Southern
District of New York whether the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs in their action to stay the Treaty Arbitra-
tion were “willing to stipulate that [they would] take no efforts to enforce the judgment until . . .
the arbitration is completed,” their counsel refused to agree to stay enforcement: “No, your

honor. We would not and cannot do that.”
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299. The impending judgment of the Lago Agrio court, procured by the RICO Defen-
dants’ and their co-conspirators’ fraud—in addition to related attachment and enforcement ef-
forts and the specter of immediate liability, which according to the RICO Defendants and their
co-conspirators, may be as high as $113.5 billion—threatens to disrupt Chevron’s business op-
erations, sully its reputation, and otherwise cause Chevron to suffer irreparable harm. In the
RICO Defendants’ “Invictus” memorandum, outlining their plans to use the Lago Agrio judg-
ment to extract payments from Chevron, Patton Boggs also proposes initiating a shareholder de-
rivative action against Chevron in the United States, “as a point of leverage with respect to set-
tlement [and] as a fruitful basis for discovery into the machinations of Chevron management vis
a vis the Ecuadorian litigation.” And that memo also reveals that the RICO Defendants do not
intend to wait for judgments in their proposed enforcement proceedings: “Consistent with their
aggressive approach, Plaintiffs’ Team will look for ways to proceed against Chevron on a pre-
judgment basis, largely as a means of attaining a favorable settlement at an early stage. Various
laws and procedures within and outside the United States may permit attachment of Chevron’s
assets prior to successful recognition of the Ecuadorian judgment.”

300. Nor are the RICO Defendants limiting their operations to the Lago Agrio Litiga-
tion. Donziger has stated that their intention is to “take legal fees we can earn from this case
and, do more cases like this in different places with, you know, the same team, if possible.”

301. The RICO Defendants’ extensive and wide-ranging scheme to defraud and extort
Chevron, as described in this Complaint, has already had a lasting and irreparable effect on
Chevron. The RICO Defendants’ false and misleading statements have been relied on by the
U.S. courts, U.S. state and federal government agencies, Chevron’s shareholders, investors, ana-
lysts, the media, and by the Lago Agrio court by means of its acceptance of Defendants’ and
Cabrera’s misrepresentations and omissions and its failure to take meaningful corrective action.
Further, the RICO Defendants’ false and misleading statements have caused Chevron substantial
damages. Chevron has had to expend millions of dollars in attorneys’ fees and costs defending

itself in the sham litigation the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators have prosecuted in
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Ecuador, and exposing the conspirators’ pervasive fraud in the Section 1782 proceedings. On
top of the attorneys’ fees and expenses, Chevron’s interest in executed contracts, including the
1995 Settlement Agreement and 1998 Final Release, has also been impaired as a result of the
RICO Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’ collusion with the Republic of Ecuador. In addi-
tion, many of the RICO Defendants’ extortionate acts have presented unfair and false representa-
tions of Chevron’s business practices, harming Chevron’s reputation and goodwill. As alleged
throughout, these harms represent the precise result intended by the RICO Defendants’ miscon-
duct. And worse, it is clear from the RICO Defendants’ actions and words that they have no in-
tention of stopping until Chevron surrenders to their extortionate demands. Without the Court’s
intervention, Chevron will continue to suffer significant harm at the hands of the RICO Defen-
dants and their unlawful scheme.

302. The facts and evidence presented in this Complaint are the result of many thou-
sands of hours of work by Chevron, its attorneys, and its investigators, and have been assembled
at extraordinary cost. As this Complaint was being prepared for filing, however, new evidence
continued to emerge, and the true nature of the RICO Defendants’ criminal conduct becomes
clearer and clearer. Just a few months ago, considering Chevron’s request to obtain discovery
directly from the ringleader of this enterprise, Donziger, the United States District Court for the
Southern District of New York summarized the case as follows: “[T]he name of the game is,
arguably, to put a lot of pressure on the courts to feed them a record in part false for the purpose
of getting a big judgment or threatening a big judgment, which conceivably might be enforceable
in the U.S. or in Britain or some other such place, in order to persuade Chevron to come up with

some money. Now, do the phrases Hobbs Act, extortion, RICO, have any bearing here?”
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CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violations of RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c))
(Against All RICO Defendants)

303. Chevron realleges and incorporates herein by reference each and every foregoing
paragraph of this Complaint as if set forth in full.

304. At all relevant times, Chevron is a person within the meaning of 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1961(3) and 1962(c).

305. At all relevant times, each RICO Defendant is a person within the meaning of 18
U.S.C. §§ 1961(3) and 1962(c).
The RICO Enterprise

306. The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators are a group of persons associated
together in fact for the common purpose of carrying out an ongoing criminal enterprise, as de-
scribed in the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint; namely, through a multi-faceted campaign
of lies, fraud, threats and official corruption, to coerce Chevron into paying billions of dollars to
the RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators. These RICO Defendants and their co-
conspirators have organized their operation into a cohesive group with specific and assigned re-
sponsibilities and a command structure, operating in the United States and Ecuador, funded pri-
marily from the United States, and directed mainly from the United States. Over the years they
have adapted their scheme to changing circumstances, recruiting new members to their opera-
tion, and expanding the scope and nature of their activities. While the organization of the crimi-
nal enterprise has changed over time, and its members may have held different roles at different
times, the criminal enterprise has generally been structured to operate as a unit in order to ac-
complish the goals of their criminal scheme:

a. Defendants Donziger and the Law Offices of Steven R. Donziger have
been responsible for oversight of the scheme to defraud and extort Chev-
ron, and have directed other conspirators to take actions necessary to ac-

complish the overall aims of the criminal enterprise—namely, manufactur-

119



ing evidence of Chevron’s liability, procuring sham criminal charges
against Chevron’s attorneys, conducting a massive public pressure cam-
paign designed to spread false and misleading information about Chevron
and the Lago Agrio Litigation, and obstructing Chevron’s efforts at un-
covering the truth in various U.S. court proceedings.

b. Defendant Fajardo has been primarily responsible for prosecuting the
sham litigation in the Ecuadorian courts, has served as one of the heads of
the criminal enterprise in the U.S. and Ecuadorian media, and has planned
and coordinated the ghostwriting of the Cabrera Report.

C. Defendants Yanza and the Front have been primarily responsible for man-
aging the RICO Defendants’ “private army,” exerting influence over and
colluding with Ecuadorian government and court officials, and serving as
media representatives for the criminal enterprise in which they have made
false statements to Chevron stockholders, financial analysts, investors,
and/or state and federal agencies. Yanza arranged for funding from Kohn
and/or Kohn Swift for the RICO Defendants’ activities in Ecuador, and
frequently caused money to be transferred out of the United States for this
purpose.

d. Defendant Selva Viva has served as a conduit for funding and otherwise
furthering the RICO Defendants’ criminal enterprise.

e. Defendants Stratus, Beltman, and Maest have been responsible for coordi-
nating the drafting of and actually ghostwriting the Cabrera Report and
other submissions to the Lago Agrio court, and for the false promotion of
the Cabrera Report as independent in the media and to U.S. courts.

307. The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators constitute an association-in-fact

enterprise within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961(4) and 1962(c), referred to hereinafter as the
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“Enterprise.” Each of the RICO Defendants participated in the operation or management of the
Enterprise.

308. At all relevant times, the Enterprise was engaged in, and its activities affected in-
terstate and foreign commerce within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).

Pattern of Racketeering Activity

309. The RICO Defendants conducted or participated, directly or indirectly, in the
conduct, management, or operation of the Enterprise’s affairs through a “pattern of racketeering
activity” within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1961(5) and in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), to
wit:

Pattern of Racketeering Activity: Extortion in Violation of Hobbs Act, 18 US.C. § 1951

310. At all times material to this Complaint, Chevron was engaged in interstate
and foreign commerce and in an industry that affects interstate and foreign commerce.

311.  As described herein, the RICO Defendants have engineered a wide-
ranging campaign of public attacks based on false and misleading statements, trumped up crimi-
nal charges, threatened fraudulent civil judgments, investigations by government agencies, and
ongoing harassment and disruptions of business operations, and have demanded the payment of
billions of dollars before these activities will cease, all with the intent and effect of causing a rea-
sonable fear of economic loss on the part of Chevron.

312.  As described herein, the RICO Defendants manufactured false evidence
against Chevron and are relying on that false evidence in the sham Lago Agrio Litigation with
the intent and effect of causing a reasonable fear of economic loss on the part of Chevron.

313. Asdescribed herein, the RICO Defendants conspired with the Republic of
Ecuador to advance baseless criminal charges against two Chevron lawyers responsible for exe-
cuting the 1998 Final Release in order to extort a payment from Chevron.

314. The RICO Defendants’ actions are intended to induce fear in Chevron that
the RICO Defendants will, among other things: (1) continue to pursue a scheme of misrepresen-

tation to the great harm and public denigration of Chevron, unless and until Chevron “settles” the
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Lago Agrio Litigation; (2) continue to conspire with Ecuadorian officials to have Chevron’s at-
torneys criminally prosecuted on trumped up charges; and (3) secure a fraudulent multi-billion
dollar judgment against Chevron and file lawsuits in the United States and in other foreign juris-
dictions seeking recognition and enforcement of the judgment. These actions, as described
herein, have created a reasonable fear of harm on the part of Chevron, including fear of eco-
nomic loss.

315. Accordingly, the RICO Defendants have unlawfully obstructed, delayed,
and affected—and attempted to obstruct, delay, and affect—commerce as that term is defined in
18 U.S.C. § 1951, and the movement of articles and commodities in such commerce, by extor-
tion, as that term is defined in § 1951, in that the RICO Defendants attempted to induce Chevron
to consent to relinquish property through the wrongful use of actual and threatened force, vio-

lence, and fear—including fear of economic harm.

Patiern of Racketeering Activity: Extortion in Violation of New York Penal Law
§§110.00, 155.05(2)(e), 155.42

316. Similarly, the RICO Defendants’ wrongful attempts to appropriate Chev-
ron’s property by instilling fear that if the property is not delivered the RICO Defendants would
perform an act calculated to harm Chevron materially with respect to its business, financial con-

dition, and reputation violates New York Penal Law §§ 110.00, 155.05(2)(e), 155.42.

Pattern of Racketeering Activity: Multiple Instances of Mail Fraud and Wire Fraud in
Violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 1343

317.  As described herein, the RICO Defendants engaged in a wide-ranging
scheme or artifice to defraud Chevron, various courts of law, and the greater public concerning
Chevron’s purported liability for environmental harm in Ecuador by manufacturing evidence,
colluding with the court expert Cabrera to submit the RICO Defendants’ manufactured evidence,
and then holding out the Cabrera Report as independent and neutral when it decidedly was not.
The ultimate objective of the RICO Defendants’ scheme or artifice to defraud is to coerce Chev-
ron into making a multi-billion dollar payment that will directly benefit the individual and organ-

izational RICO Defendants.
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318. In furtherance of their scheme, and as described herein, the RICO Defen-
dants transmitted, or caused to be transmitted, by means of wire communication in interstate or
foreign commerce, writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, and also caused matters and
things to be placed in any post office or authorized depository, or deposited or caused to be de-
posited matters or things to be sent or delivered by a private or commercial interstate carrier, in-
cluding, but not limited to, the following:

a. emails and website postings incorporating false and misleading
statements regarding the Cabrera Report;

b. wirings and/or mailings between and among the RICO Defendants
concerning the preparation of the report in the United States that
was submitted to the Lago Agrio court by Cabrera;

C. communications directed toward U.S. state and federal government
officials and regulators incorporating false and misleading state-
ments regarding Chevron’s liability in the Lago Agrio Litigation;

d. funds transferred by Kohn and/or Kohn Swift to the RICO Defen-
dants, with the intent that those funds be used to promote the carry-
ing on of the RICO Defendants’ criminal activities; and,

e. electronic filing and service of court papers containing false and
misleading statements intended to impede the operation of those
courts.

319.  Chevron incorporates by reference the attached Appendix B, which sets
forth particular uses of wire and mail communications in furtherance of the RICO Defendants’
scheme or artifice to defraud that constitute violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1443, including
which individual defendant caused the communication to be mailed or wired, when the commu-
nication was made, and how it furthered the fraudulent scheme.

320. The RICO Defendants participated in the scheme or artifice knowingly,

willfully, and with the specific intent to deceive and/or defraud Chevron into paying the RICO
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Defendants and their co-conspirators. The RICO Defendants knowingly and intentionally pre-
pared a self-serving analysis of Chevron’s alleged liability in Lago Agrio, and then knowingly
and with the intent to deceive the Lago Agrio court, Chevron, and the general public, caused that
analysis to be filed under the pretense that it was a report prepared by an independent court ex-
pert. The RICO Defendants colluded with the Republic of Ecuador to initiate criminal prosecu-
tion of Chevron’s attorneys on the basis of this report and other statements the RICO Defendants
knew to be false or misleading. The RICO Defendants further caused statements regarding this
report, these criminal charges and other matters, which statements the RICO Defendants knew to
be false or misleading, to be disseminated to the general public, to the media, and to multiple
state.and federal agencies and federal courts, with the intent that those statements be believed
and that they form the basis for further public attacks on Chevron, investigations of Chevron, and
reduction in the value of Chevron’s corporate assets. The RICO Defendants knowingly engaged
in the aforementioned conduct with the intent to generate fear in Chevron such that Chevron
would ultimately pay the RICO Defendants to cease their conduct, under the guise of a settle-
ment of the Lago Agrio Litigation, through satisfaction of a judgment in the Lago Agrio Litiga-
tion, or in a subsequent proceeding to recognize and enforce such a judgment.

321. The RICO Defendants’ false and misleading statements have been relied
on by U.S. courts, U.S. state and federal government agencies, Chevron’s shareholders, inves-
tors, analysts , the media, and by the Lago Agrio court by means of its acceptance of Defendants’
and Cabrera’s misrepresentations and omissions and its failure to take meaningful corrective ac-
tion. Further, RICO Defendants’ false and misleading statements have caused Chevron substan-

tial damages.

Pattern of Racketeering Activity: Money Laundering in Violation of 18 U.S.C.
§ 1956(a)(2)(A)

322. Defendants Yanza and Donziger have on multiple occasions, acting in

their individual capacities and as agents for Selva Viva and/or the Front have knowingly caused

the transportation, transmission, and/or transfer of funds to or from the United States to them-
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selves and to Defendants Selva Viva, the Front, and other entities with the intent that those funds
be used to promote the carrying on of unlawful activity in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 1343
and 1951, including the secret preparation of the Cabrera Report, payment to Cabrera for his
complicity and silence as to the report’s authorship, the funding of the RICO Defendants’ pres-
sure campaigns against the Lago Agrio court and against Chevron, and collusion with the Repub-
lic of Ecuador.

Pattern of Racketeering Activity: Obstruction of Justice in Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1503

323. Faced with implacable denials in Ecuador from Cabrera and the RICO De-
fendants about the authorship of the Cabrera Report, Chevron turned to U.S. courts to pursue
discovery directly from the Enterprise through proceedings under 28 U.S.C. § 1782, which au-
thorizes “[t]he district court of the district in which a person resides or is found [to] order him to
give his testimony or statement or to produce a document or other thing for use in a proceeding
in a foreign or international tribunal.”

324. In a concerted effort to thwart Chevron’s attempts to uncover the truth and
avoid discovery, the RICO Defendants, and their counsel, have habitually filed or caused to be
filed documents, including declarations sworn to under penalty of perjury, that falsely represent
that Cabrera was an independent expert and that otherwise misrepresent the RICO Defendants’
interactions with Cabrera. By making these deliberate and strategic false representations in vari-
ous pending federal judicial proceedings, with full awareness of their consequence and with the
specific intent to corruptly endeavor to influence, obstruct, and impede the due administration of
justice, the RICO Defendants have committed multiple instances of obstruction of justice in vio-
lation of 18 U.S.C. § 1503.

Pattern of Racketeering Activity: Witness Tampering in Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1512

325. Pursuant to a March 2, 2010 order issued by the United States District
Court for the Northern District of Georgia granting Chevron’s Section 1782 application, Chevron

noticed the deposition of Defendants’ expert, Charles W. Calmbacher, Ph.D.
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326. Fearing that Dr. Calmbacher would expose the truth about the falsified re-
ports filed in his name by the RICO Defendants, Donziger knowingly engaged in intimidation,
threats, misleading conduct, and corrupt persuasion toward Dr. Calmbacher, with the specific
intent to influence, delay, and prevent Dr. Calmbacher’s testimony or cause Dr. Calmbacher to
withhold records, objects, documents, and testimony from an official proceeding.

327.  As Dr. Calmbacher testified pursuant to the court-authorized subpoena at
his March 29, 2010 deposition, Donziger contacted Dr. Calmbacher and emphatically attempted
to convince Dr. Calmbacher not to testify at his deposition, warning him that testifying could
pose “real problems” for him and could result in a “potential law case against” him because
“they’re going to go after [him] for unprofessional behavior.” When asked at his deposition
whether “Donziger [was] trying to convince [him] not to come and testify,” Calmbacher testi-
fied: “Very much so. Very much so.” Donziger tampered with Dr. Calmbacher’s testimony in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1512 in furtherance of the Enterprise’s scheme.

328. The RICO Defendants also tampered with the testimony of environmental
consultant Mark Quarles in furtherance of the Enterprise’s scheme. In 2007, Ecuador submitted
a declaration by Quarles regarding the “independence” of the Cabrera Report in a proceeding
pending in the Southern District of New York, using that declaration to support the Govern-
ment’s contention that the Lago Agrio Litigation “has proceeded in accordance with rules of pro-
cedure under Ecuador law.” Quarles has recently admitted in sworn testimony that Donziger
paid him for this affidavit, and that he would not have signed the affidavit if he had known about
the RICO Defendants’ involvement with Cabrera. By not disclosing the truth about Donziger’s
improper contact with Cabrera and instead deliberately misleading Quarles, Donziger knowingly
engaged in misleading conduct and corrupt persuasion toward Quarles with the intent to influ-
ence his testimony in an official proceeding.

329. The RICO Defendants and their co-conspirators also tampered with the
potential testimony of numerous Stratus employees in furtherance of the Enterprise’s scheme.

After Chevron instituted a Section 1782 application in December 2009 seeking discovery from
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Stratus, Beltman, undoubtedly concerned about potentially damaging future testimony from Stra-
tus employees, knowingly engaged in misleading conduct and corrupt persuasion toward numer-
ous Stratus employees, with the specific intent to influence, delay, and prevent those employees’
truthful testimony or cause the employees to withhold records, objects, documents, and testi-
mony from an official proceeding. Beltman repeatedly misrepresented to Stratus staff members
that Cabrera was independent and had authored his own report. Beltman likewise repeatedly
misled Stratus employees and omitted the true facts when he misrepresented that Stratus had
played a limited role of technical advisor to the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs. Thus, Beltman tampered
with the Stratus employees’ potential or expected testimony in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1512, in
furtherance of the Enterprise’s scheme.

Summary of the Pattern of Racketeering Activity Alleged Against Each RICQO Defendant

330. Defendant Donziger has committed numerous mail and wire fraud viola-
tions, including those identified in Appendix B in which Donziger used or caused to be used the
mail or wires in furtherance of the RICO Defendants’ scheme to defraud. Donziger has also en-
gaged in extortion of Chevron and fraudulent conduct through numerous acts, including by par-
ticipating in a campaign of public attacks based on false and misleading statements about Chev-
ron and the Lago Agrio Litigation (including making false statements to the U.S. House of Rep-
resentatives), manufacturing false evidence in the form of the Cabrera Report, procuring baseless
criminal charges against Chevron’s attorneys in Ecuador, colluding with Ecuadorian officials and
pressuring the Lago Agrio court to ensure a negative outcome for Chevron in the Lago Agrio
Litigation, and threatening and causing threats to be made to Chevron directly and through its
shareholders. In addition, Donziger has engaged in obstruction of justice by filing and/or caus-
ing to be filed in multiple U.S. courts documents, including declarations sworn under penalty of
perjury, falsely representing that Cabrera was an independent expert and otherwise misrepresent-
ing the RICO Defendants’ interactions with Cabrera. Donziger has committed wire fraud and
engaged in money laundering by knowingly causing funds to be transported, transmitted, or

transferred from the United States to Selva Viva, Yanza, the Front, and other parties with the in-
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tent that such payments would fund the RICO Defendants’ criminal activity. Donziger has also
engaged in witness tampering by knowingly engaging in intimidation, threats, misleading con-
duct, and corrupt persuasion toward Dr. Calmbacher with the specific intent to influence, delay,
and prevent Dr. Calmbacher’s testimony in the Northern District of Georgia. Donziger also tam-
pered with the testimony of Mark Quarles by paying him for his affidavit and by concealing the
RICO Defendants’ involvement with Cabrera and the Cabrera Report.

331. Defendant the Law Offices of Steven R. Donziger, through the actions of
its agent Defendant Donziger, has committed numerous mail and wire fraud violations, including
those identified in Appendix B in which the Law Offices of Steven R. Donziger used or caused
to be used the mail or wires in furtherance of the RICO Defendants’ scheme to defraud. Through
the actions of Donziger, the Law Offices of Steven R. Donziger has also engaged in extortion of
Chevron and fraudulent conduct through numerous acts, including by participating in a campaign
of public attacks based on false and misleading statements about Chevron and the Lago Agrio
Litigation (including making false statements to the U.S. House of Representatives), manufactur-
ing false evidence in the form of the Cabrera Report, procuring baseless criminal charges against
Chevron’s attorneys in Ecuador, colluding with Ecuadorian officials and pressuring the Lago
Agrio court to ensure a negative outcome for Chevron in the Lago Agrio Litigation, and threaten-
ing and causing threats to be made to Chevron directly and through its shareholders. In addition,
the Law Offices of Steven R. Donziger, through Donziger, has engaged in obstruction of justice
by filing and/or causing to be filed in multiple U.S. courts documents, including declarations
sworn under penalty of perjury, falsely representing that Cabrera was an independent expert and
otherwise misrepresenting the RICO Defendants’ interactions with Cabrera. The Law Offices of
Steven R. Donziger has also engaged in witness tampering through Donziger’s knowing intimi-
dation, threats, misleading conduct, and corrupt persuasion toward Dr. Calmbacher with the spe-
cific intent to influence, delay, and prevent Dr. Calmbacher’s testimony in the Northern District

of Georgia. In addition, the Law Offices of Steven R. Donziger, again through Donziger, also
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tampered with the testimony of Mark Quarles by paying him for his affidavit and by concealing
the RICO Defendants’ involvement with Cabrera and the Cabrera Report.

332. Defendant Fajardo has committed numerous mail and wire fraud viola-
tions, including those identified in Appendix B in which Fajardo used or caused to be used the
mail or wires in furtherance of the RICO Defendants’ scheme to defraud. Fajardo has also en-
gaged in extortion of Chevron and fraudulent conduct by participating in a campaign of public
attacks based on false and misleading statements about Chevron and the Lago Agrio Litigation
(including in a letter to the U.S. Trade Representative), by manufacturing and causing to be
manufactured false evidence, and by applying pressure to Ecuadorian government officials to
procure baseless criminal charges against Chevron’s attorneys. In addition, Fajardo has engaged
in obstruction of justice by filing or causing to be filed in numerous U.S. courts documents, in-
cluding a declaration sworn under penalty of perjury, that falsely represent that Cabrera was an
independent expert and that otherwise misrepresent the relationship between Cabrera and the
RICO Defendants.

333. Defendant Yanza has committed numerous mail and wire fraud violations,
including those identified in Appendix B in which Yanza used or caused to be used the mail or
wires in furtherance of the RICO Defendants’ scheme to defraud. Yanza has committed wire
fraud and engaged in money laundering by knowingly causing funds to be transported, transmit-
ted, or transferred from the United States to Selva Viva, the Front, and other parties with the in-
tent that such payments would fund the RICO Defendants’ criminal activity. Yanza has also en-
gaged in extortion of Chevron and fraudulent conduct by participating in a campaign of public
attacks based on false and misleading statements about Chevron and the Lago Agrio Litigation
(including in a letter to the U.S. Trade Representative), by manufacturing and causing to be
manufactured false evidence, and by applying pressure to Ecuadorian government officials to
procure baseless criminal charges against Chevron’s attorneys. In addition, Yanza has engaged
in obstruction of justice by filing or causing to be filed in multiple U.S. courts documents, in-

cluding declarations sworn to under penalty of perjury, that falsely represent that Cabrera was an
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independent expert and that otherwise misrepresent the RICO Defendants’ interactions with
Cabrera.

334. Defendant the Front, through the actions of its agents Defendants Fajardo
and Yanza, among others, has committed numerous mail and wire fraud violations, including
those identified in Appendix B in which the Front used or caused to be used the mail or wires in
furtherance of the RICO Defendants’ scheme to defraud. In addition, the Front has engaged in
numerous acts of extortion of Chevron and fraudulent conduct by participating in a campaign of
public attacks based on false and misleading statements about Chevron and the Lago Agrio Liti-
gation through a website the Front maintains as well as numerous press releases and by manufac-
turing and. causing to be manufactured false evidence.

335. Defendant Selva Viva, through the actions of its agents Defendants Yanza
and Donziger, has committed several wire fraud violations and multiple acts of money launder-
ing by causing funds to be transferred by Kohn and/or Kohn Swift from the United States to Ec-
uador, acting as a conduit of those funds, and then distributing those funds to finance the RICO
Defendants’ illegal scheme. Selva Viva has also engaged in numerous acts of extortion of Chev-
ron and fraudulent conduct by manufacturing and causing to be manufactured false evidence.

336. Defendant Stratus, through the actions of its agents Defendants Beltman,
Maest, and other individuals, has committed numerous mail and wire fraud violations, including
those identified in Appendix B in which Stratus used or caused to be used the mail or wires in
furtherance of the RICO Defendants’ scheme to defraud. Stratus also has engaged in extortion of
Chevron and fraudulent conduct by manufacturing false evidence, in the form of the Cabrera Re-
port and its annexes, used extensively by the RICO Defendants in the Lago Agrio Litigation and
more generally in furtherance of their illegal scheme. In addition, Stratus has engaged in extor-
tion and fraudulent conduct by disseminating false statements about Chevron through its author-
ship of the Cabrera Report and through its later “evaluation” of that report. Stratus also has en-
gaged in extortion and fraudulent conduct by participating in a campaign of public attacks based

on false and misleading statements about Chevron and the Lago Agrio Litigation. Finally, Stra-
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tus has engaged in obstruction of justice by misrepresenting to the United States District Court
for the District of Colorado that Cabrera was an independent expert, that it was “astonished” to
see “similarities” between its own work product and the Cabrera Report when Stratus actually

drafted the majority of the Cabrera Report, and otherwise misrepresenting the relationship be-

tween Cabrera and the RICO Defendants.

337. Defendant Beltman has committed numerous mail and wire fraud viola-
tions, including those identified in Appendix B in which Beltman used or caused to be used the
mail or wires in furtherance of the RICO Defendants’ scheme to defraud. Beltman also has en-
gaged in extortion of Chevron and fraudulent conduct by manufacturing false evidence, in the
form of the Cabrera Report and its annexes, used extensively by the RICO Defendants in the
Lago Agrio Litigation and more generally in furtherance of their illegal scheme. In addition,
Beltman has engaged in extortion and fraudulent conduct by disseminating false statements
about Chevron through his role in drafting both the Cabrera Report and his later “evaluation” of
that report. Beltman also has engaged in extortion of Chevron and fraudulent conduct by dis-
seminating and causing to be disseminated false statements to the public and to a member of
Congress regarding Chevron, the Lago Agrio Litigation, and Cabrera’s independence. Beltman
also engaged in obstruction of justice by causing misrepresentations to be made to the United
States District Court for the District of Colorado that Cabrera was an independent expert, that
Stratus was “astonished” to see “similarities” between its own work product and the Cabrera Re-
port when it actually drafted the majority of the Cabrera Report, and otherwise misrepresenting
the relationship between Cabrera and the RICO Defendants. Finally, Beltman has engaged in
witness tampering by repeatedly and intentionally misleading numerous Stratus employees re-
garding Cabrera’s independence, and omitting facts about Stratus’s true role in drafting the
Cabrera Report, with the intent that the employees would then fail to testify truthfully if called to
testify as to these subjects.

338. Defendant Maest has committed numerous mail and wire fraud violations,

including those identified in Appendix B in which Maest used or caused to be used the mail or
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wires in furtherance of the RICO Defendants’ scheme to defraud. Maest also has engaged in ex-
tortion of Chevron and fraudulent conduct by manufacturing false evidence, in the form of the
Cabrera Report and its annexes, used extensively by the RICO Defendants in the Lago Agrio
Litigation and more generally in furtherance of their illegal scheme. In addition, Maest has en-
gaged in extortion and fraudulent conduct by disseminating false statements about Chevron
through her role in drafting both the Cabrera Report and Cabrera’s later “evaluation” of that re-
port. Maest also has engaged in extortion of Chevron and fraudulent conduct by disseminating
and causing to be disseminated false statements to the public regarding Chevron, the Lago Agrio
Litigation, and Cabrera’s independence. Finally, Maest has engaged in obstruction of justice by
causing misrepresentations to be made to the United States District Court for the District of
Colorado that Cabrera was an independent expert, that Stratus was “astonished” to see “similari-
ties” between its own work product and the Cabrera Report when it actually drafted the majority
of the Cabrera Report, and otherwise misrepresenting the relationship between Cabrera and the
RICO Defendants.

339.  Each of the RICO Defendants has engaged in multiple predicate acts, as described
in paragraphs 330 to 338, supra. The conduct of each of the RICO Defendants described in
paragraphs 309 to 338, supra, constitutes a pattern of racketeering activity within the meaning of
18 U.S.C. § 1961(5).

340. Chevron was injured in its business and property by reason of the RICO Defen-
dants’ violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). The injuries to Chevron caused by reason of the viola-
tions of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) include but are not limited to damage to Chevron’s reputation and
goodwill; the impairment of Chevron’s interest in executed contracts, including the 1995 Settle-
ment Agreement and 1998 Final Release; and the attorneys’ fees and costs to defend itself in ob-
jectively baseless, improperly motivated sham litigation in Ecuador and in related litigation in
the U.S., including the attorneys’ fees and costs associated with exposing the RICO Defendants’

pervasive fraud in the Section 1782 proceedings.
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341.  Further, these injuries to Chevron were a direct, proximate, and reasonably fore-
seeable result of the violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962. Chevron is the ultimate victim of the RICO
Defendants’ unlawful Enterprise. Chevron has been and will continue to be injured in its busi-
ness and property in an amount to be determined at trial.

342, Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c), Chevron is entitled to recover treble damages
plus costs and attorneys’ fees from the RICO Defendants.

343.  Chevron is further entitled to, and should be awarded, a preliminary and perma-
nent injunction that enjoins Defendants, their assignees, and anyone else acting in concert with
them—including the law firms of Emery Celli, Motley Rice and Patton Boggs, and financial
backers such as Burford Group and its related entities and Russell Del.eon—from commencing,
prosecuting, or advancing in any way—directly or indirectly—any attempt to recognize or en-
force any Lago Agrio judgment in any court, tribunal, or administrative agency in any jurisdic-
tion, in the United States or abroad, including any attempt to attach or seize any Chevron or
Chevron subsidiary’s or co-venturer’s assets, whether pre-judgment or otherwise, until this Court
determines the merits and enters judgment on Chevron's claims against the Defendants in this
action.

WHEREFORE, Chevron prays for judgment as set forth below.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Conspiracy to Violate RICO, Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d))
(Against All RICO Defendants)

344. Chevron realleges and incorporates herein by reference each and every foregoing
paragraph of this Complaint as if set forth in full.

345. The RICO Defendants have unlawfully, knowingly and willfully combined, con-
spired, confederated and agreed together and with others to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) as de-
scribed above, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d).

346. Upon information and belief, the RICO Defendants knew that they were engaged
in a conspiracy to commit the predicate acts, and they knew that the predicate acts were part of

such racketeering activity, and the participation and agreement of each of them was necessary to
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allow the commission of this pattern of racketeering activity. This conduct constitutes a conspir-
acy to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d).

347. Upon information and belief, the RICO Defendants agreed to conduct or partici-
pate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct, management, or operation of the Enterprise’s affairs
through a pattern of racketeering activity in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).

348. Each RICO Defendant knew about and agreed to facilitate the Enterprise’s
scheme to obtain property from Chevron. It was part of the conspiracy that the RICO Defen-
dants and their co-conspirators would commit a pattern of racketeering activity in the conduct of
the affairs of the Enterprise, including the acts of racketeering set forth in paragraphs 309 to 338,
supra. o

349.  As adirect and proximate result of the RICO Defendants’ conspiracy, the acts of
racketeering activity of the Enterprise, the overt acts taken in furtherance of that conspiracy, and
violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d), Chevron has been injured in its business and property, includ-
ing damage to Chevron’s reputation and goodwill; the impairment of Chevron’s interest in exe-
cuted contracts, including the 1995 Settlement Agreement and 1998 Final Release; and the attor-
neys’ fees and costs to defend itself in objectively baseless, improperly motivated sham litigation
in Ecuador and in related litigation in the U.S., including the attorneys’ fees and costs associated
with exposing the RICO Defendants’ pervasive fraud in the Section 1782 proceedings.

350. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c), Chevron is entitled to recover treble damages
plus costs and attorneys’ fees from the RICO Defendants.

351. Chevron is further entitled to, and should be awarded, a preliminary and perma-
nent injunction that enjoins Defendants, their assignees and anyone else acting in concert with
them—including the law firms of Emery Celli, Motley Rice and Patton Boggs, and financial
backers such as Burford Group and its related entities and Russell Del.eon—from commencing,
prosecuting, or advancing in any way—directly or indirectly—any attempt to recognize or en-
force any Lago Agrio judgment in any court, tribunal, or administrative agency in any jurisdic-

tion, in the United States or abroad, including any attempt to attach or seize any Chevron or
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Chevron subsidiary’s or co-venturer’s assets, whether pre-judgment or otherwise, until this Court
determines the merits and enters judgment on Chevron's claims against the Defendants in this
action.

WHEREFORE, Chevron prays for judgment as set forth below.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Fraud)
(Against All Defendants)

352. Chevron realleges and incorporates herein by reference each and every foregoing
paragraph of this Complaint as if set forth in full.

353. Defendants and their agents have knowingly misrepresented, omitted, and/or
concealed material facts in their pleadings and representations before U.S. courts and before the
Lago Agrio court, in their communications to federal and state government agencies and offi-
cials, and in their communications to Chevron’s shareholders, investors, analysts, and the media.
Each and every Defendant has personally engaged in this conduct, or knew or should have
known that other Defendants were engaged in it on his or her behalf. These false representations
are detailed throughout this Complaint and include the falsified Calmbacher reports, the true au-
thorship of the Cabrera Report, the denial of any improper contact with Cabrera, the supposed
independence and neutrality of Cabrera and his liability and damages assessment, the submission
of new “expert” reports based on the fraudulent Cabrera Report, and the fraudulent endorsements
of the Cabrera Report.

354. Defendants made these false representations while knowing that their misrepre-
sentations were materially false and/or that their omissions were material.

355.  Defendants further made these misrepresentations and/or omissions with the in-
tent of obtaining favorable rulings from the U.S. and Lago Agrio courts, pressuring U.S. state
and federal agencies to pursue investigations of Chevron, and propagating false information

about Chevron to shareholders, investors, analysts, and the media.
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356.  These material misrepresentations and/or omissions have been reasonably and
justifiably relied upon by Chevron, the U.S. courts, state and federal government agencies and
officials, and Chevron’s shareholders, investors, analysts, and the media, and by the Lago Agrio
court by means of its acceptance of Defendants’ and Cabrera’s misrepresentations and omissions
and its failure to take meaningful corrective action.

357. As a direct, proximate, and foreseeable result of Defendants’ fraud, Chevron has
been harmed, including significant pecuniary, reputational, and other damages. These injuries
include significant damage to Chevron’s reputation and goodwill, and the attorneys’ fees and
costs to defend itself in objectively baseless, improperly motivated sham litigation in Ecuador
and in related litigation in the U.S., including the attorneys’ fees and costs associated with expos-
ing the Defendants’ pervasive fraud in the Section 1782 proceedings.

358.  Defendants have engaged in the malicious, willful, and fraudulent commission
of wrongful acts and, because of the reprehensible and outrageous nature of these acts, Chevron
is entitled to, and should be awarded, punitive damages against each of the Defendants.

359. Chevron is further entitled to, and should be awarded, a preliminary and perma-
nent injunction that enjoins Defendants, their assignees and anyone else acting in concert with
them—including the law firms of Emery Celli, Motley Rice and Patton Boggs, and financial
backers such as Burford Group and its related entities and Russell DelLeon—from commencing,
prosecuting, or advancing in any way—directly or indirectly—from any attempt to recognize or
enforce any Lago Agrio judgment in any court, tribunal, or administrative agency in any jurisdic-
tion, in the United States or abroad, including any attempt to attach or seize any Chevron or
Chevron subsidiary’s or co-venturer’s assets, whether pre-judgment or otherwise, until this Court
determines the merits and enters judgment on Chevron's claims against the Defendants in this
action.

WHEREFORE, Chevron prays for judgment as set forth below.
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FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Tortious Interference With Contract)
(Against All Defendants)

360. Chevron realleges and incorporates herein by reference each and every foregoing
paragraph of this Complaint as if set forth in full.

361. Defendants are and have been aware of valid and enforceable contracts between
TexPet and the Republic of Ecuador, including the 1995 Settlement Agreement and the 1998 Fi-
nal Release. These contracts, in exchange for TexPet’s remedial actions, released TexPet, Tex-
aco, and their employees, successors, principals and subsidiaries from liability relating to envi-
ronmental damage in Ecuador.

362.  Defendants have intentionally caused and continued to cause thé Republic of
Ecuador to repeatedly breach the 1995 Settlement and the 1998 Final Release. Defendants have,
through improper influence and the fabricated Cabrera Report, persuaded the Republic of Ecua-
dor to refuse to defend Chevron’s rights and those of its subsidiaries under the contracts, to im-
properly dictate to the judiciary that Chevron be held liable in the Lago Agrio Litigation, and to
bring criminal charges against Chevron’s employees.

363. Any judgment from the Lago Agrio court that finds Chevron liable and awards
damages will also constitute a severe breach of the 1995 Settlement and the 1998 Final Release.
Defendants have intentionally caused the Republic of Ecuador to take actions necessary to secure
this fraudulent judgment.

364.  Asadirect, proximate, and foreseeable result of Ecuador’s breaches of the 1995
Settlement and the 1998 Final Release, Chevron has been forced to defend itself against claims
for which TexPet had already secured a release, which has caused significant pecuniary, reputa-
tional, and other damages. These injuries include significant attorneys’ fees and costs to defend
itself against previously-released claims in Ecuador and in related litigation to attempt to enforce
these contracts in international arbitration. The imminent and forthcoming breaches of the 1995

Settlement and the 1998 Final Release, which will likely occur when the Lago Agrio court issues
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its judgment, will impose further direct, proximate and foreseeable costs upon Chevron, includ-
ing significant damage to Chevron’s reputation and Chevron’s attorneys’ fees and costs to de-
fend itself and its subsidiaries in recognition and enforcement efforts around the world.

365.  Defendants have engaged in the malicious, willful, and fraudulent commission
of wrongful acts and, because of the reprehensible and outrageous nature of these acts, Chevron
is entitled to, and should be awarded, punitive damages against each of the Defendants.

366. Chevron is further entitled to, and should be awarded, a preliminary and perma-
nent injunction that enjoins Defendants, their assignees, and anyone else acting in concert with
them—including the law firms of Emery Celli, Motley Rice and Patton Boggs, and financial
backers such as Burford Group and its related entities and Russell Del.eon—from commencing,
prosecuting, or advancing in any way—directly or indirectly—any attempt to recognize or en-
force any Lago Agrio judgment in any court, tribunal, or administrative agency in any jurisdic-
tion, in the United States or abroad, including any attempt to attach or seize any Chevron or
Chevron subsidiary’s or co-venturer’s assets, whether pre-judgment or otherwise, until this Court
determines the merits and enters judgment on Chevron's claims against the Defendants in this
action.

WHEREFORE, Chevron prays for judgment as set forth below.

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Trespass to Chattels)
(Against All Defendants)

367. Chevron realleges and incorporates herein by reference each and every foregoing
paragraph of this Complaint as if set forth in full.

368.  As set forth above, the RICO Defendants have engaged in a pattern of extortion,
collusion, wrongdoing, and deceit with an intent to interfere with Chevron’s property, and the
Lago Agrio Plaintiffs have benefited and will continue to benefit from the RICO Defendants’
criminal scheme through a fraudulent judgment. Through these actions, and by prosecuting a
fraudulent lawsuit, manufacturing false evidence, tampering with testimony, disseminating mis-

leading statements to courts, the public, and U.S. government officials, and otherwise engaging
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in the pressure campaign described in the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint, Defendants
have intentionally, and without justification or consent, interfered and intermeddled with Chev-
ron’s use and enjoyment of its funds that were intended for Chevron’s business purposes and of
its business reputation and goodwill.

369. Chevron has been harmed and the use of its property has been interfered with
and disturbed when its property, resources, and funds were necessarily redirected from their in-
tended uses to defend against Defendants’ fraudulent litigation and misleading media campaign.
For example, Chevron has been forced by the RICO Defendants’ intentional and wrongful con-
duct to expend funds and resources defending against fraudulent submissions in the Lago Agrio
Litigation, pursuing relief in the Treaty Arbitration, uncovering the RICO Defendants’ fraud
through discovery in the United States (discovery with which the RICO Defendants have con-
tinually interfered and which they have unduly extended, as described herein), responding to
false and misleading reports in major media publications and broadcasts which have been in-
duced by the RICO Defendants, and maintaining an ongoing effort to provide accurate informa-
tion about the Cabrera Report and other aspects of the RICO Defendants’ fraud to the media and
directly to the public.

370. Chevron also has been harmed in that Defendants’ conduct has damaged Chev-
ron’s reputation, thus interfering with Chevron’s interest in the public goodwill toward it. Public
awareness of and positive associations with the Chevron and Texaco brand names, and Chev-
ron’s other brand assets are among Chevron’s most valuable assets, and Chevron has invested
substantial resources into those brand names. The RICO Defendants’ have intentionally sought
to reduce the value of those assets as part of their extortionate scheme. As Donziger has ex-
pressly stated, a key element of the RICO Defendants’ strategy is to impose upon Chevron, “the
cost of their sullied reputation, you know, in the media.”

371.  The harms suffered by Chevron are the direct, proximate, and reasonably fore-
seeable results of the Defendants’ acts of intentional interference with Chevron’s funds and

goodwill.
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372. Defendants have engaged in the malicious, willful, and fraudulent commission
of wrongful acts and, because of the reprehensible and outrageous nature of these acts, Chevron
is entitled to, and should be awarded, punitive damages against each of the Defendants.

373. Chevron is further entitled to, and should be awarded, a preliminary and perma-
nent injunction that enjoins Defendants, their assignees, and anyone else acting in concert with
them—including the law firms of Emery Celli, Motley Rice and Patton Boggs, and financial
backers such as Burford Group and its related entities and Russell DeLeon—from commencing,
prosecuting, or advancing in any way—directly or indirectly—any attempt to recognize or en-
force any Lago Agrio judgment in any court, tribunal, or administrative agency in any jurisdic-
tion, in the United States or abroad, including any attempt to attach or seize any Chevron or
Chevron subsidiary’s or co-venturer’s assets, whether pre-judgment or otherwise, until this Court
determines the merits and enters judgment on Chevron's claims against the Defendants in this
action.

WHEREFORE, Chevron prays for judgment as set forth below.

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Unjust Enrichment)
(Against All Defendants)

374. Chevron realleges and incorporates herein by reference each and every foregoing
paragraph of this Complaint as if set forth in full.

375. Defendants seek to obtain up to $113 billion from Chevron through a fraudulent
judgment in the Lago Agrio Litigation. Defendants have been and will continue to be unjustly
enriched by benefits obtained due to the expectation of an imminent judgment and the forthcom-
ing judgment itself.

376. Any property that Defendants obtain from Chevron will be acquired as a result
of Defendants’ tortious, illegal, and fraudulent conduct, as set forth herein, including the prose-
cution of the Lago Agrio Litigation itself.

377. Principles of equity and good conscience mandate that this Court prevent Defen-

dants from reaping a multi-billion dollar windfall and any benefits arising out of the fraudulent

140



litigation by, among other things, issuing a preliminary and permanent injunction against Defen-
dants that enjoins Defendants, their assignees, and anyone else acting in concert with them—
including the law firms of Emery Celli, Motley Rice and Patton Boggs, and financial backers
such as Burford Group and its related entities and Russell DeLLeon—from commencing, prose-
cuting, or advancing in any way—directly or indirectly—any attempt to recognize or enforce any
Lago Agrio judgment in any court, tribunal, or administrative agency in any jurisdiction, in the
United States or abroad, including any attempt to attach or seize any Chevron or Chevron sub-
sidiary’s or co-venturer’s assets, whether pre-judgment or otherwise, until this Court determines
the merits and enters judgment on Chevron's claims against the Defendants in this action.

WHEREFORE, Chevron prays for judgment as set forth below. -

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Civil Conspiracy)
(Against All Defendants)

378. Chevron realleges and incorporates herein by reference each and every foregoing
paragraph of this Complaint as if set forth in full.

379. As set forth above, Defendants have committed torts against Chevron, including
acts of racketeering giving rise to violations of RICO, fraud, tortious interference with contract,
trespass to chattels, and unjust enrichment.

380. Defendants agreed to participate in a common scheme against Chevron. Defen-
dants intentionally participated in the furtherance of a plan or purpose to obtain property from
Chevron. In furtherance of this plan or purpose, Defendants committed overt and unlawful acts,
including acts of racketeering as alleged herein.

381.  Asadirect and proximate result of Defendants’ conspiracy, the overt acts com-
mitted in furtherance of that conspiracy, and the torts committed against Chevron, Chevron has
been damaged in its business and property, and further damage to Chevron’s business and prop-

erty is threatened and imminent.
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382. Defendants have engaged in the malicious, willful, and fraudulent commission
of wrongful acts and, because of the reprehensible and outrageous nature of these acts, Chevron
is entitled to, and should be awarded, punitive damages against each of the Defendants.

383. Chevron is further entitled to, and should be awarded, a preliminary and perma-
nent injunction that enjoins Defendants, their assignees, and anyone else acting in concert with
them—including the law firms of Emery Celli, Motley Rice and Patton Boggs, and financial
backers such as Burford Group and its related entities and Russell DeLeon—from commencing,
prosecuting, or advancing in any way—directly or indirectly—any attempt to recognize or en-
force any Lago Agrio judgment in any court, tribunal, or administrative agency in any jurisdic-
tion, in the United States or abroad, including any attempt to attach or seize any Chevron or
Chevron subsidiary’s or co-venturer’s assets, whether pre-judgment or otherwise, until this Court
determines the merits and enters judgment on Chevron's claims against the Defendants in this
action.

WHEREFORE, Chevron prays for judgment as set forth below.

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violations of New York Judiciary Law § 487)
(Against Defendants Donziger and the Law Offices of Steven R. Donziger)

384. Chevron realleges and incorporates herein by reference each and every foregoing
paragraph of this Complaint as if set forth in full.

385.  New York Judiciary Law § 487 provides, in pertinent part, as follows: “An at-
torney or counselor who . . . [i]s guilty of any deceit or collusion, or consents to any deceit or
collusion, with intent to deceive the court or any party . . . [1]s guilty of a misdemeanor, and in
addition to the punishment prescribed therefore by the penal law, he forfeits to the party injured
treble damages, to be recovered in a civil action.”

386.  As set forth above, Donziger and the Law Offices of Steven R. Donziger en-

gaged in an intentional pattern of collusion, wrongdoing, and deceit with the intent to deceive
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both Chevron and multiple federal courts, including the United States District Court for the
Southern District of New York and the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit.

387. Donziger and the Law Offices of Steven R. Donziger actively participated in the
preparation and filing of multiple court submissions to the United States District Court for the
Southern District on New York, which included false and misleading statements about the Lago
Agrio Litigation and the Cabrera Report. Defendants Donziger and the Law Offices of Steven R.
Donziger knowingly caused these misstatements to be filed with the intent of deceiving this
Court and Chevron. As described in paragraphs 277 to 282, supra, these misstatements were
filed in opposition to Chevron’s requests for discovery under 28 U.S.C. § 1782 and in support of
the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs’ and the Republic of Ecuador’s actions against Chevron seeking to
terminate arbitration proceedings.

388. Donziger and the Law Offices of Steven R. Donziger tampered with the testi-
mony of environmental consultant Mark Quarles in furtherance of the enterprise’s scheme. In
2007, Ecuador submitted a declaration by Quarles regarding the “independence” of the Cabrera
Report in a proceeding pending in the Southern District of New York, using that declaration to
support Ecuador’s contention that the Lago Agrio Litigation “has proceeded in accordance with
rules of procedure under Ecuador law.” Quarles has recently admitted in sworn testimony that
Donziger paid him for this affidavit, and that he would not have signed the affidavit if Donziger
had told him the truth about the RICO Defendants’ involvement with Cabrera. By not disclosing
the truth about the RICO Defendants’ improper contact with Cabrera and instead deliberately
misleading Quarles, Donziger knowingly engaged in deceit with the intent to deceive Quarles,
the court, and Chevron.

389. As a result of the deceitful and fraudulent conduct of Donziger and the Law Of-
fices of Steven R. Donziger as described herein, Chevron has been injured in an amount to be

established at trial.
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390. By reason of the foregoing, Chevron is entitled to monetary damages against
Donziger and the Law Offices of Steven R. Donziger, treble damages, and reasonable attorneys’
fees pursuant to Judiciary Law § 487.

WHEREFORE, Chevron prays for judgment as set forth below.

NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Request for Declaratory Judgment That the Judgment by the Lago Agrio Court Against
Chevron is Unenforceable and Non-Recognizable)
(Against All Defendants)

391. Chevron realleges and incorporates herein by reference each and every foregoing
paragraph of this Complaint as if set forth in full.

392. Chevron is entitled to a declaratory judgment that the imminent judgment from
the Lago Agrio court is unenforceable and non-recognizable pursuant to the Declaratory Judg-
ment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201(a).

393. A declaratory judgment will not improperly increase friction between sovereign
legal systems or encroach on the proper domain of a foreign court because no court has a right to
impose fraudulent judgments such as the imminent judgment of the Lago Agrio court.

394, By this claim, Chevron seeks a declaratory judgment that any Lago Agrio judg-
ment is unenforceable and non-recognizable, including but not limited to under the United States
Constitution, federal common law, New York common law principles of comity, and/or New
York’s Recognition of Foreign Country Money Judgments Act (New York Civil Practice Law
and Rules § 5301, ef seq., the “New York Act”), on, among others, grounds of fraud, failure to
afford procedures compatible with due process, lack of impartial tribunals, énd contravention of
public policy.

395. By reason of the fraudulent acts and fundamentally unfair proceedings described
in this Complaint that have given rise to the imminent Lago Agrio judgment, an actual and justi-
ciable controversy has arisen and now exists between Chevron and the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs as
to whether the judgment is unenforceable and non-recognizable in the United States and estab-

lishing that Chevron’s assets are safe from the RICO Defendants’ fraudulent actions and racket-
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eering activity. The actions of the RICO Defendants on behalf of the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs
whom they purport to represent have damaged and are threatening to continue damaging Chev-
ron. Unless the controversy between the parties is resolved, the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs will con-
tinue to harm Chevron and will seek recognition and enforcement of the fraudulent judgment that
the RICO Defendants will have obtained on the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs’ behalf.

396. Chevron has no adequate remedy at law. A declaratory action is necessary and
useful in resolving and disposing of the question of whether the fraudulent Lago Agrio judgment
is enforceable and recognizable, and is the best and most effective remedy for finalizing the con-
troversy between the parties as to this issue and for relieving Chevron from the expensive and
damaging uncertainty surrounding the pending enforcement and recognition of the fraudulent
judgment. Chevron is entitled to have the question of whether any Lago Agrio judgment is en-
forceable and recognizable settled promptly so that it may continue conducting its business with-
out the threat of a massive fraudulent judgment.

397. Chevron is further entitled to, and should be awarded, a preliminary and perma-
nent injunction against Defendants, their assignees and anyone else acting in concert with
them—including the law firms of Emery Celli, Motley Rice and Patton Boggs, and financial
backers such as Burford Group and its related entities and Russell DelLeon—from commencing,
prosecuting, or advancing in any way—directly or indirectly—any attempt to recognize or en-
force any Lago Agrio judgment in any court, tribunal, or administrative agency in any jurisdic-
tion, in the United States or abroad, including any attempt to attach or seize any Chevron or
Chevron subsidiary’s or co-venturer’s assets, whether pre-judgment or otherwise, until this Court
determines the merits and enters judgment on Chevron’s claims against the Defendants in this
action.

WHEREFORE, Chevron prays for judgment as set forth below.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF
On the First and Second Claims for Relief:

1. For general damages according to proof at trial, trebled according to statute,

18 U.S.C. § 1964(c);

2. For prejudgment interest according to statute; and
3. For Chevron’s reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs according to statute, 18 U.S.C.
§ 1964(c).

On the First through Seventh Claims for Relief:

4. For general damages according to proof at trial;

5. For equitable relief as appropriate pursuant to applicable law, including but not
limited to issuing a temporary restraining order, a preliminary injunction and a permanent injunc-
tion that bars Defendants, their assignees and anyone else acting in concert with them—including
the law firms of Emery Celli, Motley Rice and Patton Boggs, and financial backers such as Bur-
ford Group and its related entities and Russell DeL.eon—from commencing, prosecuting, or ad-
vancing in any way—directly or indirectly—any attempt to recognize or enforce any Lago Agrio
judgment in any court, tribunal, or administrative agency in any jurisdiction, in the United States
or abroad, including any attempt to attach or seize any Chevron or Chevron subsidiary’s or co-
venturer’s assets, whether pre-judgment or otherwise, until this Court determines the merits and
enters judgment on Chevron's claims against the Defendants in this action; and

6. Only for the third, fourth, fifth, and seventh claims for relief, punitive damages in
an amount to be proven at trial.

On the Eighth Claim for Relief:

7. For general damages according to proof at trial, trebled according to statute, Judi-
ciary Law § 487; and

8. For Chevron’s reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs according to statute, Judici-

ary Law § 487.
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On the Ninth Claim for Relief:

9. For a declaration that any judgment against Chevron in the Lago Agrio Litigation
is non-recognizable and unenforceable for each and every one of the reasons set forth herein; and

10.  For equitable relief as appropriate pursuant to applicable law, including but not
limited to issuing a temporary restraining order, a preliminary injunction and a permanent injunc-
tion that bars Defendants, their assignees and anyone else acting in concert with them—including
the law firms of Emery Celli, Motley Rice and Patton Boggs, and financial backers such as Bur-
ford Group and its related entities and Russell DeL.eon—from commencing, prosecuting, or ad-
vancing in any way—directly or indirectly—any attempt to recognize or enforce any Lago Agrio
judgment in any court, tribunal, or administrative agency in any jurisdiction, in the United States
or abroad, including any attempt to attach or seize any Chevron or Chevron subsidiary’s or co-
venturer’s assets, whether pre-judgment or otherwise, until this Court determines the merits and
enters judgment on Chevron's claims against the Defendants in this action, or until such time as
this Court deems appropriate.

As to All Causes of Action:

11.  For such other legal and equitable relief as the Court may deem Chevron entitled

to receive.
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DATED: February 1, 2011
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GIBSON, DUNN & CRUTCHER LLP

By: ZVL Y Y. e

' Réndy M. Mastro

200 Park Avenue
New York, New York 10166-0193
Telephone: 212.351.4000

Scott A. Edelman

2029 Century Park East

Los Angeles, California 90067
Telephone: 310.552.8500

Andrea E. Neuman

3161 Michelson Drive
Irvine, California 92612
Telephone: 949.451.3800

William E. Thomson

333 South Grand Avenue

Los Angeles, California 90071
Telephone: 213.229.7000

Attorneys for Plaintiff Chevron Corporation



DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff Chevron Corporation hereby demands a jury trial of all issues in this action triable as of

right by a jury.

DATED: February 1, 2011

GIBSON, DUNN & CRUTCHER LLP

be
vy Fet (VN

Razvidy M. Mastro

200 Park Avenue
New York, New York 10166-0193
Telephone: 212.351.4000

Scott A. Edelman

2029 Century Park East

Los Angeles, California 90067
Telephone: 310.552.8500

Andrea E. Neuman

3161 Michelson Drive
Irvine, California 92612
Telephone: 949.451.3800

William E. Thomson

333 South Grand Avenue

Los Angeles, California 90071
Telephone: 213.229.7000

Attorneys for Plaintiff Chevron Corporation
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Chevron Corp. v. Donziger et al.: Complaint Appendix A
“The Lago Agrio Plaintiffs” (Defendants )

Defendant Province of Citizenship Country of Citizenship
1. | Alfredo Donaldo Payaguaje Payaguaje Sucumbios Republic of Ecuador
2. | Angel Justino Piaguaje Lucitante Unknown Republic of Ecuador
3. | Armando Wilfrido Piaguaje Payaguaje Sucumbios Republic of Ecuador
4. | Beatriz Mercedes Grefa Tanguila Orellana Republic of Ecuador
5. | Benancio Freddy Chimbo Grefa Sucumbios Republic of Ecuador
6. | Bertha Antonia Yumbo Tanguila Orellana Republic of Ecuador
7. | Carlos Grega Huatatoca Orellana Republic of Ecuador
8. | Catalina Antonia Aguinda Salazar Orellana Republic of Ecuador
9. | Celia Irene Viveros Cusangua Orellana Republic of Ecuador
10.| Clide Ramiro Aguinda Aguinda Orellana Republic of Ecuador
11.| Daniel Carlos Lusitande Yaiguaje Sucumbios Republic of Ecuador
12. | Delfin Leonidas Payaguaje Payaguaje Sucumbios Republic of Ecuador
13.| Elias Roberto Piyahuaje Payahuaje Sucumbios Republic of Ecuador
14, | Emilio Martin Lusitande Yaiguaje Sucumbios Republic of Ecuador
15. | Fermin Piaguaje Payaguaje Sucumbios Republic of Ecuador
16.| Francisco Alvarado Yumbo Orellana Republic of Ecuador
17.] Francisco Matias Alvarado Yumbo Orellana Republic of Ecuador
18. | Francisco Victor Tanguila Grefa Orellana Republic of Ecuador
19.| Gloria Lucrecia Tanguila Grefa Orellana Republic of Ecuador
20.| Guillermo Vicente Payaguaje Lusitante Sucumbios Republic of Ecuador
21.| Heleodoro Pataron Guaraca Orellana Republic of Ecuador
22.| Hugo Gerardo Camacho Naranjo Orellana Republic of Ecuador
23.| Javier Piaguaje Payaguaje Sucumbios Republic of Ecuador
24.| Jose Gabriel Revelo Llore Orellana Republic of Ecuador
25.| Jose Miguel Ipiales Chicaiza Orellana Republic of Ecuador
26.| Lidia Alexandra Aguinda Aguinda Orellana Republic of Ecuador
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Defendant Province of Citizenship Country of Citizenship
27.| Lorenzo Jose Alvarado Yumbo Orellana Republic of Ecuador
28. | Lourdes Beatriz Chimbo Tanguila Orellana Republic of Ecuador
29.| Lucio Enrique Grefa Tanguila Orellana Republic of Ecuador
30.| Luis Agustin Payaguaje Piaguaje Sucumbios Republic of Ecuador
31.| Luis Armando Chimbo Yumbo Orellana Republic of Ecuador
32.| Luisa Delia Tanguila Narvaez Orellana Republic of Ecuador
33.| Maria Victoria Aguinda Salazar Orellana Republic of Ecuador
34.| Maria Clelia Reascos Revelo Orellana Republic of Ecuador
35.| Maria Hortencia Viveros Cusangua Orellana Republic of Ecuador
36.| Maria Magdalena Rodriguez Barcenes Orellana Republic of Ecuador
37.| Miguel Mario Payaguaje Payaguaje Sucumbios Republic of Ecuador
38.| Narcisa Aida Tanguila Narvaez Orellana Republic of Ecuador
39.| Octavio Ismael Cordova Huanca Sucumbios Republic of Ecuador
40. | Olga Gloria Grefa Cerda Orellana Republic of Ecuador
41.| Patricio Alberto Chimbo Yumbo Orellana Republic of Ecuador
42.| Patricio Wuilson Aguinda Aguinda Orellana Republic of Ecuador
43.| Reinaldo Lusitande Yaiguaje Sucumbios Republic of Ecuador
44.| Rosa Teresa Chimbo Tanguila Orellana Republic of Ecuador
45.| Segundo Angel Amanta Milan Orellana Republic of Ecuador
46.| Simon Lusitande Yaiguaje Sucumbios Republic of Ecuador
47.| Teodoro Gonzalo Piaguaje Payaguaje Sucumbios Republic of Ecuador
2
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Chevron Corp. v. Donziger et al.: Complaint Appendix B
Selected Violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 1343 (Mail and Wire Fraud)

From

To

Date

Format

Purpose

Description and
Complaint Reference

Steven
Donziger

Dr. Charles
Calmbacher

September 9,
2004

Email

Manufacture false
evidence.

Donziger sent a memorandum by email
to Calmbacher and other members of
the technical team reminding the team
that “the goal is to win the legal case,
not to produce an independent scien-
tific report.” Compl. 9§ 88.

Donziger

Alberto Wray

October 20,
2004

Email

Manufacture false
evidence.

Donziger sent an email to Wray ex-
plaining Calmbacher had been re-
moved from the field, and “will still
sign the perito reports, but we might
have to write them in Quito.” Compl.
9 105.

Donziger

Calmbacher

January 27,
2005

Email

Manufacture false
evidence.

Donziger sent an email to Calmbacher
asking Calmbacher to send signature
pages via DHL which Donziger had
said would be used to file an expert
report correctly stating Calmbacher’s
views. The RICO Defendants and their
co-conspirators then used Calm-
bacher’s signature to submit falsified
reports to the Lago Agrio court under
Calmbacher’s name. Compl. 4 110-
11.




From

To

Date

Format

Purpose

Description and
Complaint Reference

Calmbacher

Donziger

On or around
January 27,
2005

Overnight
Courier

Manufacture false
evidence.

In response to Donziger’s request,
Calmbacher signed several blank pages
which Donziger told him would be
used to file an expert report correctly
stating Calmbacher’s views, and sent
the signed pages to the RICO Defen-
dants and their co-conspirators by
overnight courier. The RICO Defen-
dants and their co-conspirators then
used Calmbacher’s signature to submit
falsified reports to the Lago Agrio
court under Calmbacher’s name.
Compl. ] 110-11.

Donziger

Calmbacher

March 3,
2005

Email

Manufacture false
evidence.

Donziger sent an email to Calmbacher
asking for a “repeat of the [signature]
papers [he] sent last time” to be sent
via FedEx overnight. The RICO De-
fendants and their co-conspirators then
used Calmbacher’s signature to submit
a falsified report to the Lago Agrio
court under Calmbacher’s name.
Compl. ] 110-11.
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From

To

Date

Format

Purpose

Description and
Complaint Reference

Calmbacher

Donziger

March 3,
2005

Overnight
Courier

Manufacture false
evidence.

In response to Donziger’s request,
Calmbacher signed several blank pages
which Donziger told him would be
used to file an expert report correctly
stating Calmbacher’s views, and sent
the signed pages to the RICO Defen-
dants and their co-conspirators by
overnight courier. The RICO Defen-
dants and their co-conspirators then
used Calmbacher’s signature to submit
a falsified report to the Lago Agrio
court under Calmbacher’s name.
Compl. g9 110-11.

Donziger

Alejandro
Ponce

July 25, 2005

Email

Prevent Disclosure
of Fraudulent
Scheme.

Donziger sent an email to Ponce asking
for advice regarding how to deal with
Calmbacher, expressing concern that
Calmbacher would “inform the court
that the Selva Viva project is a fraud.”
Compl. § 104.

Donziger

Ponce

February 10,
2006

Email

Collude with the
Govermnment of Ec-
uador and manipu-
late and collude
with Ecuadorian
judicial system.

Donziger sent an email to Ponce asking
him to meet with the judge one-on-one
to explain their theory of the case and
all of the issues from the plaintiffs’
perspective. Compl. § 75.
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Description and

From To Date Format Purpose Complaint Reference
9. Donziger Ponce June 14, 2006 | Email Manipulate and Donziger sent an email to Ponce in-
collude with Ecua- | structing him to “prepare a detailed
dorian judicial sys- | plan with the necessary steps to attack
tem. the judge through legal, institutional
channels and through any other channel
you can think of.” Compl. 9 70.
10. | Amazon Donziger August 9, Email Threaten Chevron | The Director of Communications at
Watch 2006 with economic Amazon Watch sent an email to
harm through cam- | Donziger attaching a press release that
paign of public was posted on amazonwatch.org and
pressure based on chevrontoxico.org, in which he had
false and mislead- | “only changed one word” from what
ing statements. Donziger sent. The email acknowl-
edges the target of the releases is Chev-
ron, not the media, with the goal to
“get under Chevron management’s
skin” as much as possible. The at-
tached press release asserts the dis-
avowed $6 billion damages figure.
Compl. §204.
11. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva January 22, Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $12,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. | CIA LTDA, 2007 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 29, 294, 323.
Ecuador Chevron.
12. | Donziger Joseph Ber- February 9, Email Threaten Chevron | Donziger emails Berlinger to give him
linger 2007 with economic instructions regarding filming a hearing
harm through cam- | and notes that he does not want to be
paign of public seen as helping Berlinger in front of
pressure based on Chevron’s _miv\oam._ Compl. 4 211.
false and mislead- ,.
ing statements.
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Description and

From To Date Format Purpose Complaint Reference
13. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva February 5, Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $75,000.00. Compl. q
& Graf, P.C. 2007 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 99 29, 294, 323.
Chevron.
14. | Donziger Kamp March 6, Email Promote false evi- | Donziger forwarded a press release to
2007 dence. Kamp touting the disavowed $6 billion

damages figure and discussing a letter
signed by leaders of indigenous groups
seeking criminal v%mooc:o: of Pal-
lares and Viega. Donziger noted, “we
are kicking some ass and it feels aw-
fully good.” Compl. § 195.

15. | Kohn, Swift Selva Viva March 20, Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $40,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. 2007 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 99 29, 294, 323.

Chevron,

16. 6| Amazon n/a March 20, Wire (Press Promote false evi- | Amazon Watch released a press release
Watch, 2007 Release) dence. touting Russell’s $6 billion figure,
Donziger knowing that the figure was exagger-

ated and had been disavowed by Rus-
sell. Compl. 9§ 99.

17. | Luis Yanza Donziger April 2007 Telephone Collude with the Yanza and Donziger spoke on the tele-
Government of Ec- | phone regarding Yanza’s meeting with
uador. President Correa and setting up the

April 26, 2007 tour of the consortium
area by Correa. Compl. §191.

18. | Kohn, Swift Selva Viva April 13, Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $30,000.00. Compl.

& Graf, P.C. 2007 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 4929, 294, 323.
Chevron.
5
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Description and

From To Date Format Purpose Complaint Reference

19. | Donziger Fajardo May 10, 2007 | Email Manufacture false | Donziger sent an email to Fajardo stat-
evidence and col- ing that they should have Cabrera find
lude with court- against Plaintiffs on some issues to
appointed expert. create the illusion that Cabrera was in-

dependent, and look for ways to make
sure Texaco did not know anything
about Cabrera’s work or plan. Compl.
9129,
20. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva May 11, 2007 | Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $40,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 9 29, 294, 323.
Chevron.

21. | Donziger Berlinger June 13,2007 | Email Execute extortion- | Donziger sent an email to Berlinger
ate scheme by col- | asking him to “get someone to the of-
luding with the fice to shoot” because “the perito just
Government of Ec- | got swornin . .. this is a huge vic-
uador and court- tory!!t1111” Compl. § 130.
appointed expert

22. | Kohn, Swift Selva Viva June 14, 2007 | Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $100,000.00. Compl.

& Graf, P.C. Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 9 29, 294, 323.
Chevron.

23. | Donziger Berlinger June 27,2007 | Email Threaten Chevron | Donziger sent an email to Berlinger
with economic urging him to bring camera crews
harm through cam- | down to capture a march of their “pri-
paign of public vate ‘army’ which has been very effec-
pressure. tive.” He notes this was a “critical part

of [their] strategy that is allowing the
case to go forward.” Compl. 9 74.
24. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva July 20, 2007 | Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of f_uo,ooo.oo. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 929, 294, 323.
Chevron.
6 Chevron Corp.
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From

To

Date

Format

Purpose

Description and
Complaint Reference

25.

Yanza

Donziger

August &,
2007

Email

Facilitate transfer
of funds for fraudu-
lent scheme.

Yanza sent an email to Donziger say-
ing he is going to the office “to take
care of . . . the money for the Huao,”
and asks “[d]o you know if JK was
able to transfer something to the new
account for which I gave him the de-
tails?” Compl. 927, 294, 322.

26.

Donziger

Karen Wilson

August 14,
2007

Email

Facilitate transfer
of funds for fraudu-
lent scheme.

Donziger sent an email requesting that
Kohn Swift transfer; $50,000.00 to an
account for the Frer'te in Ecuador.
Donziger explained that Yanza ran the
Selva Viva account, which was created
“simply as a pass thru mechanism to
administer funds for the litigation” in
Ecuador, and that the Frente controlled
Selva Viva. Compl. § 104

27.

Kohn, Swift

& Graf, P.C.

Selva Viva

September 4,
2007

Payment via
Wire Transfer

Fund extortionate
scheme to defraud
Chevron.

Disbursement of $50,000.00. Compl.
99 29, 294, 323.

28.

Donziger

Douglas
Beltman, Ann
Maest

September
19, 2007

Email

Collude with Gov-
ernment of Ecua-
dor.

Donziger sent an email to Stratus ask-
ing for help defining the “norms” of
clean-up so they could “propose these
norms to the Ministry of Energy which
governs these norms[,] and whose Min-
ister is a good friend of ours, so that the
Ministry issues them as an official de-
cree before the trial ends.” Compl.
1137.
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Description and

From To Date Format Purpose Complaint Reference
29. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva October 17, Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $50,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. 2007 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 99 29, 294, 323.
Chevron.
30. | Donziger Chris Lehane | October 29, Email Threaten Chevron | Donziger sent an email to Chris Le-
2007 with economic hane, a political consultant known for
harm through cam- | attack strategies, stating they need to
paign of public get more press to increase pressure on
pressure based on Chevron leading to upcoming media-
false and mislead- | tion in order to increase the settlement
ing statements. price. Compl. 9 199.
31. | Donziger Raul Herrera | October 31, Email Fraudulently mis- Donziger ghostwrote a letter to the edi-
2007 represent proceed- | tor of the Wall Street Journal in the
ings in Ecuador and | name of Ecuador’s ambassador to the
threaten Chevron United States, and sent it to a Wall
with economic Street Journal reporter via email. The
harm through cam- | letter was a response to a column about
paign of public Chevron’s responsibility for contami-
pressure based on nation in Ecuador and claimed that
false and mislead- | Chevron was “afforded ample due
ing statements. process.” Compl. § 77.
32. | Beltman Donziger November 6, | Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to Donziger at-
2007 evidence and col- taching a report on the cost estimate to
lude with court- clean up the contaminated pits. Compl.
appointed expert. q 138.
33. | Kohn, Swift Selva Viva November 13, | Payment via Fund extortionate Disbursement of $70,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. 2007 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 429, 294, 323.
Chevron.
i
_
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34. | Beltman Donziger November 16, | Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to Donziger re-
2007 evidence and col- garding “avoided costs” analysis and
lude with court- “amount of additional money/equity
appointed expert. that Chevron has now because they did
not build and maintain proper pits and
reinject water from 1967-1991.”
Compl. § 137.
35. | Donziger Beltman November 16, | Email Manufacture false | Donziger responded to Beltman email
2007 evidence and col- regarding “avoided costs” saying that
lude with court- “we need to get somebody else to look
appointed expert. at the model” because it “sounds aw-
fully low.” Compl. § 137.
36. | Beltman Donziger November 17, | Email Manufacture false | Beltman responded to Donziger regard-
2007 evidence and col- ing “avoided costs” issue, explaining
lude with court- the “unjust enrichment calculation.”
appointed expert. Compl. q 137.
37. | Donziger Beltman November 17, | Email Manufacture false | Donziger responded to Beltman’s ex-
2007 evidence and col- planation of “avoided costs” and unjust
lude with court- enrichment issues, directing him to not
appointed expert. “say or even suggest anything that
backs away from the [unjust enrich-
ment] figures” in the plaintiffs’ sub-
mission. Compl. 4 137.
38. | Kohn, Swift Selva Viva December 17, | Payment via Fund extortionate Disbursement of $50,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. 2007 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 929, 294, 323.
Chevron.
9
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39. | Fajardo Donziger, January 2, Email Manufacture false | Fajardo emailed a list of “necessary
Yanza 2008 evidence and col- tasks” for 2008, including to “‘knock
lude with court- out” Chevron but to first “cash the
appointed expert; juicy checks,” to “stir up the cases” in
defraud Chevron; the Supreme Court of Justice and
manipulate and col- | Prosecutor’s Office by “tak[ing] advan-
lude with Ecuador- | tage of the new Prosecutor,” to “watch
ian judicial system. | over” the Havoc case, “[c]oordinate
with the President of the Republic for
defense on the accusation of denial of
justice,” “watch over the process of
naming new Superior Court Justices,”
“[cJomplete all preparation work for
the inspection we need to conduct,”
including “Annexes: genocide, health .
..., to “Prepare the legal scenario for
the defense of the expert report,”
“[w]rite the answer to the expert re-
port,” “[c]oordinate with the Commu-
nications team on the scheduled an-
nouncement of the expert report re-
sults,” and to “exert the maximum pos-
sible pressure, so that the judge or the
Court, so that the case, does not be-
come paralyzed.” Compl. q 58.
40. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva January 17, Payment via | Fund extortionate | Disbursement of $50,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. 2008 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 929, 294, 323.
Chevron. \
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41. | Luis Miguel Beltman January 22, Email Manufacture false | Cabrera team member Aragdn sent an
Garcia 2008 evidence, and col- | email to Beltman “reestablishing com-
Aragon lude with court- munication” and stating “we’re moving
appointed expert. forward with our model thanks to your
help.” Compl. 143,
42. | Aragén Beltman, January 23, Email Manufacture false | Email exchange between Beltman,
Maest 2008 evidence, and col- Maest and Cabrera team member
lude with court- Aragon discussing “incorporating un-
appointed expert. certainty into the calculus” and asking
whether it was ok t¢ use the U.S. treas-
ury rate for discounting restoration
costs. Compl. 143,
43. | Yanza Donziger January 29, Email Facilitate transfer Yanza asks Donziger to “[b]efore you
2008 of funds for fraudu- | travel please confirm that our friend JK
lent scheme; manu- | makes the deposit in the other account.
facture false evi- [ already sent him the bank informa-
dence and collude | tion.” He also reports that “[t]he expert
with court- did not appear to answer questions be-
appointed expert. fore the court” and that the judge there-
fore cancelled the hearing, but that
“he’ll certainly set another date and
“[w]e’re on top of this issue.” Compl.
1927, 294, 322.
44, | Beltman Donziger, February 8§, Email Manufacture false Beltman sent an email to Donziger, et
Maest, 2008 evidence, and col- | al. attaching a draft outline of proposed
Fajardo lude with court- annexes to the Cabrera Report Compl.
appointed expert. 9 137.
45. | Kohn, Swift Selva Viva February 11, | Paymentvia | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $20,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. 2008 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 9 29, 294, 323.
Chevron.
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46. | Beltman “Stratus Sci- | February 22, | Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to other Stratus
ence Group,” | 2008 evidence, and col- | consultants seeking to motivate the
David Chap- lude with court- Stratus team as they must “write, over
man appointed expert. the next 2 to 3 weeks, probably the sin-
gle most important technical document
for the case [which] will pull together
all of the work over the last 15 or so
years on the case and make recommen-
dations for the court to consider in
making its judgment” while knowing
that the technical document was the
Cabrera Report itself. Compl. 9§ 138.
47. | Beltman Maest February 26, | Email Manufacture false Beltman sent an email to Stratus team,
2008 evidence, and col- | including Maest, regarding schedule
lude with court- for completion of work on the Cabrera
appointed expert. Report, and attaching an outline of the
report listing true authors of each por-
tion and who the portions would be at-
tributed to (generally Cabrera). Compl.
9137.
48. | Beltman Donziger February 27, | Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to Donziger stat-
2008 evidence and col- ing “[a]ttached is my rough start of the
lude with court- Peritaje Global report,” and asks
appointed expert. whether it is “on track in terms of tone,
language level, and content?” Compl.
1139,
49. | Donziger Beltman February 27, | Email Manufacture false | Donziger responded to Beltman’s
2008 evidence and col- email attaching “rough start of the Peri-
lude with court- taje Global report” saying “I think it’s
appointed expert. working. Keep going.” Compl. § 139.
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50. | Beltman Maest February 29, | Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to Maest and
2008 evidence, and col- | another Stratus consultant listing an-
lude with court- nexes to cut from the final report in
appointed expert. order to have it complete in time
“given the turnaround time for transla-
tion and review.” Compl. q 137.
51. | Beltman Michael Car- | March 1, Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to another Stra-
ney 2008 evidence, and col- | tus consultant with comments concern-
lude with court- ing drafting of an ecorisk annex and
appointed expert. considerations surrounding transla-
tions. He notes that it will be translated
in Spanish and that the “main audience
for this is the judge.” Compl. § 137.
52. | Kohn, Swift Selva Viva March 5, Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $40,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. 2008 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 4929, 294, 323.
Chevron.
53. | Beltman Brian Lazar March 5, Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to another Stra-
2008 evidence, and col- | tus consultant discussing edits to an
lude with court- annex concerning soil clean up costs.
appointed expert. Compl. § 137.
54. | Beltman Translating March 7, Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to Translating
Spanish, Inc. | 2008 evidence, and col- Spanish, Inc. concerning translation of

lude with court-
appointed expert.

attached “ecosystem value” annex from
English to Spanish, and discussing
progress of translation of other annexes
such as “Environmental standards, Pit
(plus) cleanup costs, [and] value of
human life losses.” Compl. 9§ 137.
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55. | Beltman Translating March 7, Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to Translating
Spanish, Inc. | 2008 evidence, and col- Spanish, Inc. concemning translation of
lude with court- attached annexes concerning environ-
appointed expert. mental standards and soil remediation.
Compl. § 141.
56. | Beltman Maest March 10, Email Manufacture false Beltman sent an email to Maest and
2008 evidence, and col- | other Stratus consultants concerning
lude with court- review, analysis, and translation of an-
appointed expert. nexes to Cabrera Report including “en-
vironmental standards, eco impacts
from contamination, pit cleanup costs,
value of human life losses, habitat
losses, [and] TexPet remediation.”
Compl. § 137.
57. | Beltman Maest March 10, Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to Maest asking
2008 evidence, and col- | for help with drafting the main Cabrera
lude with court- Report “now that the annexes [were]
appointed expert. out of the way.” Compl. § 139.
58. | Beltman Donziger March 10, Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to Donziger dis-
2008 evidence, and col- | cussing status of translations of an-
lude with court- nexes, asking Donziger to make any
appointed expert. changes in redline, and stating that with
the annexes mostly out of the way, he
would now “get back to the [Cabrera]
report.” Compl. § 137.
|
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59. | Beltman Donziger March 11, Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to Donziger at-
2008 evidence, and col- | taching an outline of the Cabrera report
lude with court- which included a listing of who would
appointed expert. write each section of the report, and
who each section would be attributed
to, which was not the actual authors.
Compl. § 142.
60. | Maest Beltman March 11, Email Manufacture false | Maest sent an email to Beltman stating
2008 evidence, and col- | she could help Beltman draft the main
lude with court- Cabrera Report. Compl. § 137.
appointed expert. _
61. | Translating Beltman March 11, Email Manufacture false | “Translating Spanish, Inc.” sent an
Spanish, Inc. 2008 evidence, and col- | email to Beltman attaching a translated
lude with court- VSL annex. Compl. §137.
appointed expert.
62. | Beltman Translating March 12, Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to Translating
Spanish, Inc. | 2008 evidence, and col- | Spanish, Inc. attaching “the main re-
lude with court- port,” written in English, and stating it
appointed expert. was a high priority to be translated into
Spanish because it needed to be filed
soon with the court in Ecuador. The
attached report stated that it was writ-
ten by Richard Cabrera, although it was
actually prepared by Beltman and other
Stratus consultants.
Compl. § 141.
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63. | Beltman Donziger March 13, Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to Donziger list-
2008 evidence, and col- | ing what he had sent so far including

lude with court- the “main report” and “annexes.” He

appointed expert. notes that the main report still needs to
be translated, and “a native Spanish
speaker” will need to read the transla-
tions “to make sure they make sense.”
Compl. § 137.

64. | Enlaso Enter- | Stratus March 13, Email Manufacture false | Enlaso Enterprise Language Solutions
prise Lan- 2008 evidence, and col- | sent an email to Stratus regarding an
guage Solu- lude with court- estimate for translation services for an-
tions appointed expert. nexes to the Cabrera Report. Compl. §

141.
65. | Beltman Stratus March 18, Email Manufacture false Beltman sent an email to other Stratus
2008 evidence, and col- | consultants regarding the “unjust en-
lude with court- richment annex” and attaching copies
appointed expert. in Spanish and English. He asks the
consultants to fill in the tables in both
versions and send back to him as soon
as possible. Compl. § 137.
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66. | Amazon Chairman of | March 18, Mail Threaten Chevron | Amazon Watch sent a letter to the SEC
Watch, the United 2008 with economic seeking investigation and sanction of
Donziger States Securi- harm through gov- | Chevron for alleged failure to comply

ties and Ex- ernment investiga- | with securities regulations, emphasiz-
change tions based on ing the forthcoming Cabrera Report,
Commission fraudulent, manu- | and the independence of its purported
factured evidence. | author, “an independent special mas-
ter” that had prepared his report
“mak[ing] use of all evidence col-
lected” with “a large team of technical
experts under [his] supervision.”
Compl. 9 223.
67. | Beltman William March 20, Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to Powers ask-
Powers 2008 evidence, and col- | ing for “the status of the report” and
lude with court- noting that “we neetl to submit every-
appointed expert. thing to the court on Monday (!!!)”
Compl. g 137.
68. | Maest Beltman March 20, Email Manufacture false | Maest sent an email to Beltman, attach-
2008 evidence, and col- | ing annex regarding soil remediation
lude with court- with her comments.
appointed expert. Compl. § 137.
69. | Beltman Lazar March 21, Email Manufacture false Beltman sent an email to another Stra-
2008 evidence, and col- | tus consultant concerning an annex
lude with court- regarding soil remediation. Compl. q
appointed expert. 137.
70. | Powers Beltman March 22, Email Manufacture false | Powers drafted Annex S to the Cabrera
2008 evidence, and col- | Report and emailed it to Beltman for
lude with court- incorporation into the report. Compl.
appointed expert. 9 137.
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71. | Beltman Donziger March 23, Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to Donziger re-
2008 evidence, and col- | garding whether Fajardo and Yanza
lude with court- received Powers’ report. He notes that
appointed expert. they need to format it and take Powers
name off, “but they can figure that
out.” Compl. § 142.
72. | Beltman David Chap- | March 24, Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to other Stratus
man 2008 evidence, and col- | consultants discussing the validity of
lude with court- survey collected data used for the
appointed expert. Cabrera Report. Compl. 9 137.
73. | Jennifer Peers | Fajardo March 27, Email Manufacture false A Stratus consultant, Peers, sent an
2008 evidence, and col- | email to Fajardo regarding updated
lude with court- language for annex regarding ecologi-
appointed expert. cal impacts of contamination. Compl.
q137.

74. | Fajardo Peers March 27, Email Manufacture false | Fajardo responded to Peers’ email re-

2008 evidence, and col- | garding updated language, stating that
lude with court- it was too late to make changes.
appointed expert. Compl. q137.

75. | Amazon n/a April 3,2008 | Wire (Press Falsely promote In a press release issued by Amazon
Watch, release) Cabrera Report as Watch and the Front, Fajardo made
Amazon De- independent and/or | knowingly false statements about
fense Front, neutral. Cabrera’s independence. He stated,
Fajardo “Chevron’s claim that Professor

Cabrera is cooperating with the plain-
tiffs is completely false,” and that
“Chevron is frightened by Cabrera pre-
cisely because he is an independent and
credible expert.” Compl. q213.
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76. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva April 11, Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $70,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. 2008 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 4 29, 294, 323.
Chevron.
77. | Yanza and United States | April 29, Mail Falsely promote Yanza and Fajardo sent a letter to a
Fajardo Trade Repre- | 2008 Cabrera Report as | United States Trade Representative
sentative independent and/or | misstating that Cabrera was “an inde-
Susan Schwab neutral. pendent court-appointed special mas-
ter” and misstating that “the bulk of the
evidence relied on [by Cabrera] was
provided by Chevron itself via its own
sampling evidence.” Compl. 9 224.
78. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva May 5, 2008 | Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $35,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 929, 294, 323.
Chevron.

79. | Beltman Donziger May 14, 2008 | Email Prevent disclosure | Beltman sent an email to Donziger stat-
of fraudulent ing that “Karen [Hinton] wants to give
scheme. the Clapp report to a reporter, but we

can’t do that since it’s an Annex. [’ll
tell her not to because I'm not sure of
the report pedigree, but we need to be
careful about this.” Compl. § 140.

80. | Beltman Karen Hinton | May 14, 2008 | Email Prevent disclosure | Beltman sent an email to Hinton ex-
of fraudulent plaining that she could not give out
scheme. copies of a report by Clapp to report-

ers, falsely claiming he was “not sure
of its pedigree” and failing to disclose
that the true reason was that the report
was used as an annex to the Cabrera
Report. Compl. § 140.
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81. | Amazon n/a May 21, 2008 | Wire (Press Falsely promote Amazon Watch and the Front authored
Watch, release) Cabrera Report as a press release falsely stating that
The Front independent and/or | Cabrera was independent and mislead-

neutral. ingly omitting the RICO Defendants’
and their co-conspirators’ role in writ-
ing his report: “A recent court-ordered
report, written by an independent ex-
pert, has proposed that Chevron pay a
minimum of $7 billion and up to $16
billion to compensate for environ-
mental contamination.” Compl. § 137.

82. | Kohn, Swift Selva Viva June 9, 2008 | Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $30,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 4 29, 294, 323.

Chevron.

83. | David Mills, | Steve Hamp- | June 12,2008 | Email Falsely promote A Stratus consultant sent an email on
Beltman, ton, Califor- Cabrera Report as behalf of himself, Beltman, Chapman,
Chapman nia Depart- independent and/or | and others at Stratus, asking Hampton

ment of Fish neutral. to consider reviewing and endorsing
and Game, the Cabrera Report. The email fails to
Office of disclose Stratus and the other the RICO
Spill Preven- Defendants’ and their co-conspirators’
tion and Re- role in ghostwriting the report. Compl.
sponse g167.

84. | Beltman Amazon June 26, 2008 | Email Falsely promote Beltman sent an email to Amazon

Watch Cabrera Report as Watch stating that Stratus was working
independent and/or | on assembling a team of “well-
neutral. credentialed experts” to review
Cabrera’s report and provide support to
be shared with the Lago Agrio court
and the media. Compl. § 162.
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85. | Donziger Fajardo, June 26, 2008 | Email Execute scheme to | Donziger sent an email urging people
Yanza extort and defraud | to “think again and think outside the
Chevron. box of the law if necessary. Think
politics, law, or a combination . ... If
the law is in the way, then tell me how
to change the law. If an executive or-
der can help, then tell me how. If the
new Constitution can help, tell me
how.” Compl. § 137.
86. | Kohn, Swift Selva Viva July 2, 2008 Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $30,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 9 29, 294, 323.
Chevron.

87. | Kohn Beltman July 7, 2008 | Email Manufacture false | Kohn sent an email to Beltman approv-
evidence, collude ing Stratus upcomirg work which in-
with court- cluded executing peer reviews of the
appointed expert, Cabrera Report, working on comments
and falsely promote | on the Cabrera Report, and working on
Cabrera Report as | Cabrera response due in November.
independent and/or | Compl. 9 136.
neutral.

88. | Beltman Brian Lazar July 28, 2008 | Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to another Stra-
evidence, collude tus consultant asking for help editing
with court- Stratus’s original English versions of
appointed expert, annexes to the Cabrera report so that
and falsely promote | they appear to be translations of the
Cabrera Report as Spanish version of the Cabrera report.
independent and/or | Compl. § 141.
neutral.
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89. | Beltman Donziger July 29, 2008 | Email Falsely promote Beltman sent an email to Donziger de-
Cabrera Report as | tailing Stratus’s attempts to obtain en-
independent and/or | dorsements for the Cabrera Report,
neutral. stating they were having difficulty
finding academics who were willing to
endorse the Cabrera Report, and sug-
gesting they should tum to consultants
and/or their internal team for endorse-
ments instead. Compl. § 169.
90. | Fajardo Maest, July 31, 2008 | Email Manufacture false | Fajardo sent an email to Maest and
Beltman evidence, and col- | Beltman asking about the progress of
lude with court- comments, which they had agreed to
appointed expert. draft by the end of July according to
the plan they set out during their meet-
ing in Boulder in June. Compl. § 137.
91. | Beltman Maest August 1, Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent Maest and other Stratus
2008 evidence, and col- | consultants an email detailing “what
lude with court- [they] need[ed] to do for the comments
appointed expert. on the Cabrera report.” Compl. 9§ 155.
92. | Kohn Beltman, August S, Emails Manufacture false In emails exchanged between Kohn,
Donziger 2008 evidence and col- Donziger, and Beltman, Kohn in-
lude with court- structed Beltman to conduct analysis
appointed expert. “of the type in your section 2 of
cleanup to 1,000 ppm instead of 100”
because apparently “Cabrera exclu-
sively uses 1000.” Compl. 9§ 137.
93. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva August 11, Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $38,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. 2008 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 4929, 294, 323.
Chevron.
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94. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva September Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $28,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. 11, 2008 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 99 29, 294, 323.
Chevron.
95. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva October 3, Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $32,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. 2008 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 99 29, 294, 323.
Chevron.
96. | Beltman Donziger October 6, Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to Donziger list-
2008 evidence, and col- | ing current work including revising and
lude with court- reevaluating portions of the Cabrera
appointed expert. Report, and working with Donziger on
how to prepare responses to Chevron’s
comments on the report. Compl. §201.
97. | Beltman Peers October 27, Email Manufacture false Beltman and Stratus consultant Jenni-
2008 evidence, and col- | fer Peers exchanged emails regarding
lude with court- work of U.S. consultant 3TM in which
appointed expert. Peers noted that they needed to revise
3TM’s work to “clean up the language
so it [would] sound[] more like
[Cabrera] and less like a comment.”
Compl. q 155.
98. | Beltman Stratus October 29, Email Manufacture false | Beltman sent an email to another Stra-
2008 evidence, and col- | tus consultant noting his desire that
lude with court- work performed by U.S. consultant
appointed expert. 3TM “be in a form that someone in
Ecuador could have written.” Compl.
155. ,
99. | Maest Powers October 31, Email Manufacture false | Maest sent an email to Powers asking
2008 evidence, and col- | him to respond to questions to the
lude with court- Cabrera Report posed by the Lago
appointed expert. Agrio Plaintiffs. Compl. §137.
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100. | Powers Maest November 4, | Email Manufacture false | Powers drafted answers to the ques-
2008 evidence, and col- | tions posed in response to the Cabrera
lude with court- Report and sent them to Maest. The
appointed expert. answers were later filed with the Lago
Agrio court as Cabrera’s answers to
questions posed by the Lago Agrio
Plaintiffs. Compl. § 137.
101. | Donziger Beltman November 4, | Email Prevent disclosure | Donziger sent an email to Beltman re-
2008 of fraudulent garding the need to prevent expert
scheme. Richard Clapp from “go[ing] off the
reservation” and “talk[ing] to the con-
gressman in a way that damns the
Cabrera report with faint praise if you
know what [ mean.” Compl. § 137.
102. | Beltman Donziger November 6, | Email Prevent disclosure | Beltman sent an email to Donziger stat-
2008 of fraudulent ing they should not distribute copies of
scheme. either of two reports written by Clapp
because one of them would “probably
appear in the expert’s response to
comments. [ don’t think we should
hand out either one as Clapp’s, thereby
distributing proof.” Compl. § 157.
103. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva November 14, | Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $40,000.00. Compl.

& Graf, P.C.

2008

Wire Transfer

scheme to defraud
Chevron.

€9 29, 294, 323.
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104. | Beltman

Donziger

November 18,
2008

Email

Prevent disclosure
of fraudulent
scheme.

Beltman sent an email to Donziger stat-
ing they must limit distribution of a 5-
page report written by Clapp regarding
his Ecuador trip. Beltman states the
report “CANNOT go into the Congres-
sional Record as being authored by
him.” Compl.  147.

105. | Amazon
Watch, The
Front

December 1,
2008

Wire (Press
release)

Falsely promote
Cabrera Report as
independent and/or
neutral.

Amazon Watch and the Front distrib-
uted a press release about the Stratus
review of the Cabrera Report, entitled,
“Chevron’s $27 Billion Liability in Ec-
uador’s Amazon Confirmed by Team
of Independent Scientists.” The press
release stated that Cabrera was inde-
pendent and that his report had been
confirmed by a “team of independent
scientists” and failed to disclose the
relationship between Stratus and
Cabrera. Compl. q b1s.

106. | Stratus,
Beltman,
Maest

December 1,
2008

Email/Mail/
Internet

Falsely promote
Cabrera Report as
independent and/or
neutral.

Stratus released a fifteen page docu-
ment, signed by Beltman, Maest, and
other Stratus consultants, distributed by
physical and electronic mail and posted
online, “analyzing” and defending
Cabrera’s report as the work of a court
appointed neutral expert, and failing to
disclose that Stratus and the other
RICO Defendants and their co-
conspirators actually drafted the report.
Compl. 9 163.
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107. | Amazon Beltman December 1, | Email Threaten Chevron | Email exchange with the subject line
Watch 2008 with economic “2009 Shareholder Resolution — Urgent
harm through cam- | Update” regarding proposed share-
paign of public holder resolution providing that a
pressure based on “court-appointed expert in the Ecuador-
false and mislead- | ian litigation has recommended that
ing statements. Chevron be held liable for up to $27.3
billion in damages,” but failing to dis-
close that Stratus and the other RICO
Defendants and their co-conspirators
actually drafted the expert’s report
finding Chevron liable. Compl. 236.
108. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva December 18, | Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $30,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. 2008 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 9 29, 294, 323.
Chevron.
109. | Beltman Cindy Buhl, | December 19, | Email Falsely promote Beltman provided United States Con-
Office of 2008 Cabrera Report as | gressman Jim McGovern’s office
United States independent and/or | “some talking points” for an interview
Congressman neutral and threaten | with the Los Angeles Times, falsely
Jim Chevron with eco- | telling the Congressman’s staff that
McGovern nomic harm “[t]he Court Expert reviewed available
through campaign | scientific data and concluded that peo-
of public pressure | ple in the area suffer from many ill-
based on false and | nesses caused by the contamination,
misleading state- including cancer.” Compl. § 226.
ments.
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110. | Fajardo Berlinger January 22, Email Falsely promote Fajardo sent an email to Bonfiglio and
2009 Cabrera Report as | Berlinger reiterating the need to delete
independent and/or | the images they had discussed from the
neutral and prevent | Crude documentary, noting the issue
disclosure of was “so serious that we can lose every-
fraudulent scheme. | thing.” Compl. §209.
111. | Beltman Cindy Buhl, | January 31, Email Falsely promote Beltman forwarded Cabrera’s reports,
Office of 2009 Cabrera Report as | stating “[t]he Court Expert’s March
United States independent and/or | 2008 report summary is attached,” and
Congressman neutral. that “[a]lso attached is the November
Jim 2008 response to the [Lago Agrio]
McGovern Plaintiff’s questions that was written by
the Court Expert.” Beltman failed to
disclose that he and the Lago Agrio
Plaintiffs’ other U.S. consultants
ghostwrote the report as well as the re-
sponse. Compl. 4 226.
112. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva February 4, Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $30,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. 2009 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 4 29, 294, 323.

Chevron.
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113. | Amazon n/a February 13, | Wire (Press Falsely promote Amazon Watch and the Front issued a
Watch, The 2009 Release) Cabrera Report as | press release in which Fajardo made
Front, Fajardo independent and/or | knowingly false statements about
neutral. Cabrera’s independence, stating that
the comments made by Chevron Gen-
eral Counsel Charles James “alleging
without proof that an independent court
expert was cooperating with the plain-
tiffs were ‘false and defamatory’ and
could expose Chevron shareholders to
additional liability.” Compl. 9 231.
114. | Kohn, Swift Selva Viva March 9, Payment via Fund extortionate Disbursement of $30,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. 2009 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 4 29, 294, 323.
Chevron.
115. | Beltman Donziger March 18, Email Falsely promote Beltman sent Donziger an email con-
2009 Cabrera Report as | taining draft language denying that the
independent and/or | Lago Agrio Plaintiffs were in collusion
neutral. with Cabrera and claiming that
“Cabrera’s November response to the
plaintiffs is clearly his own.” How-
ever, Beltman knew that he and the
Lago Agrio Plaintiffs’ other U.S. con-
sultants had drafted the response.
Compl. §217.
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116. | Ali Pflaum Emma April 6,2009 | Email Prevent disclosure | At the request of the RICO defendants,

Vaughn of fraudulent who were attempting to cover up Car-
scheme and falsely | los Beristain’s presence in some Crude
promote Cabrera footage, Pflaum sent an email to Emma

Report as inde- Vaugn at CNN, asking her to “NOT

pendent and/or neu- | include any footage from Trudie’s visit
tral. to the Cofan community that features a

man in a white tshirt.” Compl. q210.

117. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva April 21, Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $10,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. 2009 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 4 29, 294, 323.

) Chevron.

118. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva May 7,2009 | Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $20,000.00. Compl.

& Graf, P.C. Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 9 29, 294, 323.
Chevron.

119. | Amazon Chevron May 25, 2009 | Mail Threaten Chevron | Amazon Watch sent a letter to Chevron
Watch, Shareholders with economic shareholders asserting Chevron had
Donziger harm through cam- | made “false, misleading, or incomplete

paign of public filings with the mmm_u,z quoting two ana-

pressure based on lysts stating the litigation was hurting

false and mislead- | Chevron’s stock vnwov and relying on

ing statements. the “independent court damages as-
sessment” without disclosing that the
RICO Defendants and their co-
conspirators had written that “assess-
ment.” Compl. 232,

120. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva May 28, 2009 | Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $22,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | Y 29, 294, 323.

Chevron.
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121. | Beltman Representative | June 26, 2009 | Email Falsely promote Beltman sent an 05__8_ to the Center
of Brazil’s Cabrera Report as | seeking an endorserment of the Cabrera
Aggue Magal- independent and/or | Report, providing a copy of the report
haes (Haggai neutral. and Stratus’s analysis of it, and rec-
Magellan) Re- ommending the Center sign an evalua-
search Center tion that Stratus drafted. Stratus failed
to disclose its own consultants ghost-
wrote the report. Compl. ] 168.
122. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva June 29, 2009 | Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $20,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 99 29, 294, 323.
Chevron.
123. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva July 16, 2009 | Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $70,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 29, 294, 323.
Chevron.
124, | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva August 26, Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $20,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. 2009 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 4 29, 294, 323.
Chevron.
125. | Kohn, Swift | Selva Viva September Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $20,000.00. Compl.
& Graf, P.C. 23,2009 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 9§ 29, 294, 323.
Chevron.
126. | Donziger Beltman September Email Execute extortion- | Donziger sent an email to Beltman not-
30, 2009 ate scheme by col- | ing he was meeting with the Republic
luding with the of Ecuador’s attorneys in DC and
Government of Ec- | needed Beltman to provide scientific
uador. analysis. Compl. 9§ 78.
127. | Beltman Donziger September Email Execute extortion- | Beltman agreed to be available for a
30, 2009 ate scheme by col- | call to discuss scientific evidence to be
luding with the provided to the Republic of Ecuador’s
Government of Ec- | attorneys. Compl. § 78.
uador.
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128. | Kohn, Swift Selva Viva October 20, Payment via | Fund extortionate Disbursement of $27,000.00. Compl.

& Graf, P.C. 2009 Wire Transfer | scheme to defraud | 9929, 294, 323.
Chevron.

129. | Amazon Chevron December 17, | Mail Threaten Chevron Amazon Watch sent a letter to Chev-
Watch, Chief Execu- | 2009 with economic ron’s then Chief Executive Officer cit-
Donziger tive Officer harm through cam- | ing the fraudulent damages assessment

John Watson paign of public from the Cabrera Report and threaten-
pressure based on ing “until Chevron takes meaningful
false and mislead- | steps to resolve this case, it will con-
ing statements. tinue to play out in the courts of Ecua-

dor, as well as the global court of opin-
ion” and warning “we don’t make these
suggestions lightly or symbolically.”
Compl. §206.

130. | RICO Defen- | United States | January 14, Electronic Prevent disclosure | Complaint caused to be filed by the
dants, District 2010 Case Filing of fraudulent RICO Defendants and their co-
Donziger Court, South- and Service scheme and falsely | conspirators on behalf of the Lago

ern District of promote Cabrera Agrio Plaintiffs in a U.S. court made

New York Report as inde- false and misleading statements about
pendent and/or neu- | Cabrera’s independence with the intent
tral. of securing a court grder compelling

Chevron to stay Eo?mm@ arbitration.
Compl. § 69.

131. | Donziger Calmbacher | March 2010 | Telephone Prevent disclosure | Donziger telephoned Calmbacher in an
of fraudulent attempt to prevent him from exposing
scheme. the truth about the falsified reports

filed in his name by the RICO Defen-
dants and their co-conspirators.
Compl. § 287.
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132. | Julio Prieto Donziger, March 30, Email Prevent disclosure | Prieto sent an me:,_ to Donziger,

Yanza, Fa- 2010 of fraudulent Yanza, and Hum_.mao,.:oz:m that “the

jardo scheme. effects” of disclosure were “potentially
devastating in Ecuador (apart from de-
stroying the proceeding, all of us, your
attorneys, might go to jail).” Compl. q
4,

133. | RICO Defen- | United States | April 23, Electronic Prevent disclosure | Filing in U.S. court by the RICO De-
dants, District 2010 Case Filing of fraudulent fendants and their co-conspirators mak-
Donziger Court, South- and Service scheme and falsely | ing false and misleading statements

ern District of promote Cabrera regarding the relevance of Crude foot-
New York Report as inde- age with the intent of deceiving the
pendent and/or neu- | court. The RICO Defendants and their
tral. co-conspirators asserted the footage
had “no relevance to anything” but the
subsequently obtained footage showed
evidence of the RICO Defendants’ and
their co-conspirators’ collusion and
scheme to defraud Chevron. Compl. §
278.
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134.

Andrew Wil-
son

Donziger

April 23,
2010

Email

Prevent disclosure

of fraudulent
scheme.

Wilson sent an email regarding “next
steps,” and, regarding the Chapman
deposition, stated that “Chapman did
an excellent job of not remembering
anything — but Chevron will be able to
do a side-by-side comparisons [sic] of
Stratus work product and his report to a
judge that will smell bad . . . we need a
way to explain how he got access to
our docs. Because it seems that he did
incorporate Stratus work product and
the longer we do not let the real story
come out the worse it will be when it
does.” Compl. § 253.

135.

Donziger

Wilson

April 23,
2010

Email

Prevent disclosure

of fraudulent
scheme.

Donziger responded to April 23, 2010
Wilson email re “explaining” collusion
with expert, saying “We need a face to
face asap. When is beltman depo?”
Compl. §253.

136.

Wilson

Eric Westen-
berger, copy-
ing Donziger,

May 4, 2010

Email

Prevent disclosure

of fraudulent
scheme.

Wilson wrote in email exchange that
“[t]he more we oav_rmmmwo [Cabrera’s]
neutrality the less sense it makes that
we were talking to him out of school.”
Compl. 9 257.
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137. | Jay Horowitz | Westenber- May 55,2010 | Email Prevent disclosure | Co-conspirator Horowitz sent an email
ger, copying of fraudulent to co-conspirator Westenberger, copy-
Donziger scheme. ing Donziger, discussing strategies for
preventing discovery and noting that
arguing Cabrera “considered” Stratus’s
work would be “way too much of a
stretch” given that substantial portions
of the Cabrera report were written by
Stratus consultants. Compl. 9 257.

138. | RICO Defen- | United States | May 5, 2010 | Electronic Prevent disclosure | Filing in U.S. court by the RICO De-
dants, Stratus, | District Case Filing of fraudulent fendants and their co-conspirators mak-
Donziger Court, Dis- and Service scheme and falsely | ing false and misleading statements

trict of Colo- promote Cabrera regarding Cabrera’s independence with
rado Report as inde- the intent of deceiving the court. In a
pendent and/or neu- | Motion for Protective Order, the RICO
tral. Defendants and their co-conspirators
misrepresented that Cabrera was inde-
pendent. Compl. 269.

139. | Fajardo, United States | May 5, 2010 | Electronic Prevent disclosure | Declaration of Fajardo filed in a U.S.
RICO Defen- | District Case Filing of fraudulent court making false and misleading
dants Court, Dis- and Service scheme and falsely | statements about Cabrera’s independ-

trict of Colo- promote Cabrera ence with the intent of deceiving the
rado Report as inde- court. Fajardo falsely claimed
pendent and/or neu- | Cabrera’s work was independent, and
tral. grossly misstated the level of disclo-
sure provided to Chevron and the court
regarding the RICO Defendants’ and
their co-conspirators’ work with
Cabrera. Compl. § 265.
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140. | RICO Defen- | United States | May 7, 2010 | Electronic Prevent disclosure | Filing in U.S. court by the RICO De-
dants, District Case Filing of fraudulent fendants and their co-conspirators mak-
Donziger Court, South- and Service scheme and falsely | ing false and misleading statements

ern District of promote Cabrera regarding Cabrera’s independence with
Texas Report as inde- the intent of deceiving the court. The
pendent and/or neu- | RICO Defendants and their co-
tral. conspirators misrepresented that
Cabrera was independent. Compl. §
252.

141. | Fajardo; United States | May 7,2010 | Electronic Prevent disclosure | Declaration of Fajardo filed in a U.S.
RICO Defen- | District Case Filing of fraudulent Court making false and misleading
dants Court, South- and Service scheme and falsely | claims regarding Cabrera’s independ-

ern District of promote Cabrera ence with intent of deceiving the court.
Texas Report as inde- Fajardo falsely claimed Cabrera’s work
pendent and/or neu- | was independent, and grossly misstated
tral. the level of disclosure provided to
Chevron and the court regarding the
RICO Defendants’ and their co-
conspirators’ work with Cabrera.
Compl. § 265.

142. | llann Maazel | Jay Horowitz, | May 16, 2010 | Email Prevent disclosure | Maazel sent an email to Horowitz not-
of fraudulent ing he was concerned about filing a
scheme and falsely | motion to reconsider in the Stratus
promote Cabrera 1782 proceeding, given the evidence
Report as inde- strongly indicated an improper rela-
pendent and/or neu- | tionship with Cabrera. However, he
tral. noted that they may still be able to ar-

gue Cabrera’s “independence” and
welcomed suggestions on the filing.
Compl. § 165.
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143. | Jonathan Maazel, copy- | May 16, 2010 | Email Prevent disclosure | Abady, responding to Maazel’s email
Abady ing Donziger of fraudulent expressing concern about Stratus’ rela-
scheme and falsely | tionship with Cabrera, acknowledged
promote Cabrera that one problem they had was
Report as inde- “Cabrera’s wholesale adoption of Stra-
pendent and/or neu- | tus’ work product w/o attribution,” but
tral. despite that he still thought there was a
basis for asserting that “all aspects of
our relationship w Cabrera were ok.”
Compl. § 146.
144. | Horowitz Wilson, copy- | May 16, 2010 | Email Prevent disclosure | In an email chain among RICO co-
ing Donziger of fraudulent conspirators regarding representations
scheme and falsely | regarding the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs’
promote Cabrera relationship with Cabrera in a planned
Report as inde- court filing, Horowitz concluded that
pendent and/or neu- | “it appears not only that Cabrera and
tral. plaintiffs can be charged with a
‘“fraud’” due to Cabrera’s report, “but
that Stratus was an active conspirator.”
Compl. q 165.
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145. | RICO Defen- | United States | May 17, 2010 | Electronic Prevent disclosure | Filing in U.S. court by the RICO De-
dants, Stratus, | District Case Filing of fraudulent fendants and their co-conspirators mak-
Donziger Court, Dis- and Service scheme and falsely | ing false and misleading statements
trict of Colo- promote Cabrera regarding Cabrera’s independence with
rado Report as inde- the intent of deceiving the court. The
pendent and/or neu- | RICO Defendants and their co-
tral. conspirators claimed Cabrera’s state-
ments that he was independent oc-
curred before a Lago Agrio court order
authorizing submissions from the par-
ties. However, the RICO Defendants
and their co-conspirators maintained an
ongoing relationship with Cabrera for
nearly a year prior to that order.
Compl. 9§ 266.
146. | Fajardo n/a May 24,2010 | Wire (Press Falsely promote When asked about the involvement of
Release) Cabrera Report as | Stratus, Fajardo told the media, “They
independent and/or | are our technical advisers in the United
neutral. States, and they have worked with us
for some years, but they have never
interfered in the trial.” Compl. § 218.
147. | Maazel Donziger May 27,2010 | Email Prevent disclosure | Co-conspirator Maazel sent an email to
of fraudulent Donziger discussing strategies to avoid
scheme. the “Stratus/Cabrerg revelation” from
coming out in court|in Colorado.
Compl.  250.
37 Chevron Corp. v. Donziger et al.: Complaint Appendix B




From

To

Date

Format

Purpose

Description and
Complaint Reference

148.

Eric Westen-
berger

Donziger

May 27, 2010

Email

Prevent disclosure
of fraudulent
scheme.

Co-conspirator Westenberger, in dis-
cussing strategies for limiting discov-
ery of the Cabrera m&ca via email,
wrote “What about the following? Ap-
peal; move for msvnm if we win with
kane great; if we lose, we produce
whatever we want (narrow read); gd
complains and then we move for clari-
fication. If we lose again, we think

about another appeal.” Compl. 9 250.

149.

Donziger

Wilson

May 27, 2010

Email

Prevent disclosure
of fraudulent
scheme.

Donziger sent an email to Wilson stat-
ing, “I think we should appeal on the
theory that we gain a greater advantage
by fighting them on everything, and
tying them up, than in conceding any-
one thing even if we expect to ulti-
mately lose that one thing down the
road.” Compl. §274.

150.

Fajardo,
RICO Defen-
dants

United States
District
Court, Dis-
trict of New
Jersey

June 7, 2010

Electronic
Case Filing
and Service

Prevent disclosure
of fraudulent
scheme and falsely
promote Cabrera
Report as inde-
pendent and/or neu-

tral.

Declaration of Fajardo filed in U.S.
Court making false and misleading
claims regarding Cabrera’s independ-
ence with intent of deceiving the court.
Fajardo falsely claimed Cabrera’s work
was independent, and grossly misstated
the level of disclosure provided to
Chevron and the court regarding the
RICO Defendants’ and their co-
conspirators’ work with Cabrera.
Compl. § 252.
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151. | RICO Defen- | United States | June 7,2010 | Electronic Prevent disclosure | Filing in U.S. court by the RICO De-
dants, District Case Filing of fraudulent fendants and their co-conspirators mak-
Donziger Court, Dis- and Service scheme and falsely | ing false and misleading statements

trict of New promote Cabrera regarding Cabrera’s independence with
Jersey Report as inde- the intent of deceiving the court. The
pendent and/or neu- | RICO Defendants and their co-
tral. conspirators misrepresented that
Cabrera was independent. Compl.
q252.

152. | Amazon n/a June 8§, 2010 | Wire (Press Falsely promote In a press release, the RICO Defen-
Watch, The release) Cabrera Report as | dants and their co-conspirators claimed
Front independent and/or | the $27 billion figure in the Cabrera

neutral. Report was “starting to look like a glar-
ing underestimate compared to the as-
tronomical damages facing BP in the
gulf oil spill, according to an analysis
in The New York Times published to-
day.” Compl. § 137.

153. | RICO Defen- | United States | June 14,2010 | Electronic Prevent disclosure | Filing in U.S. court by the RICO De-
dants, Court of Ap- Case Filing of fraudulent fendants and their co-conspirators mak-
Donziger peals, Second and Service scheme and falsely | ing false and misleading statements

Circuit promote Cabrera with the intent of deceiving the court.

Report as inde- The RICO Defendants and their co-

pendent and/or neu- | conspirators made m:oéw:m_v\ false

tral. statements about the content of Crude
footage, and with goiim falsity
claimed Chevron had never made the
arguments regarding wrongdoing be-
fore the Ecuadorian court. Compl.
278.
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154. | Abady, Wil- | Donziger June 15,2010 | Email Prevent disclosure | Abady sent an email to Donziger and
son of fraudulent other co-conspirators suggesting they

scheme and falsely | admit that they submitted findings to

promote Cabrera Cabrera which were properly adopted

Report as inde- by Cabrera, and g\owa::m to admit

pendent and/or neu- | such, they looked “coy at best and silly

tral. and untrustworthy at worst.” Wilson
responded wondering “whether we do
better by explaining that we authored
the report — rather than letting Chevron
tell that story like Nancy Drew.”
Compl. 251.

155. | RICO Defen- | United States | June 21, 2010 | Electronic Prevent disclosure | Filing in U.S. court by the RICO De-
dants, District Case Filing of fraudulent fendants and their co-conspirators mak-
Donziger Court, Dis- and Service scheme and falsely | ing false and misleading statements

trict of Colo- promote Cabrera with the intent of deceiving the court.
rado Report as inde- In a “Second Response to ‘Update on
pendent and/or neu- | Lago Agrio Proceeding,’” the RICO
tral. Defendants and their co-conspirators
falsely claimed that any of their materi-
als which had ultimately been included
in Cabrera’s report were submitted to
Cabrera pursuant to a Lago Agrio court
order. Compl. §252.
40 Chevron Corp. v. Donziger et al.: Complaint Appendix B




From To Date Format Purpose Oo”ﬂ“ﬂ”ﬂ%ﬂhﬂ“@

156. | Fajardo, United States | June 21, 2010 | Electronic Prevent disclosure | Filing in U.S. court by the RICO De-
RICO Defen- | District Case Filing of fraudulent fendants and their co-conspirators at-
dants Court, Dis- and Service scheme and falsely | taching as an exhibit a filing Fajardo

trict of Colo- promote Cabrera submitted to the Lago Agrio court,
rado Report as inde- which makes false and misleading
pendent and/or neu- | statements regarding Cabrera’s inde-
tral. pendence, with the intent of deceiving
the court. Compl. §252.

157. | Fajardo, United States | June 26, 2010 | Electronic Prevent disclosure | Declaration of Fajardo filed in U.S.
RICO Defen- | District Case Filing of fraudulent Court making false and misleading
dants Court, South- and Service scheme and falsely | claims regarding Cabrera’s independ-

ern District of promote Cabrera ence with intent of deceiving the court.
California Report as inde- Fajardo falsely claimed Cabrera’s work
pendent and/or neu- | was independent, and grossly misstated
tral. the level of disclosure provided to
Chevron and the court regarding the
RICO Defendants’ and their co-
conspirators’ work with Cabrera.
Compl. § 252.

158. | Donziger, United States | June 26, 2010 | Electronic Prevent disclosure | Filing in U.S. court by the RICO De-
RICO Defen- | District Case Filing of fraudulent fendants and their co-conspirators mak-
dants Court, South- and Service scheme and falsely | ing false and misleading statements

ern District of promote Cabrera regarding Cabrera’s independence with
California Report as inde- the intent of deceiving the court. The
pendent and/or neu- | RICO Defendants ahd their co-
tral. conspirators misrepresented that
Cabrera was indepehdent. Compl.
9 252.
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159. | Donziger, United States | July 9,2010 | Electronic Prevent disclosure | Filing in U.S. court by the RICO De-
RICO Defen- | District Case Filing of fraudulent fendants and their co-conspirators mak-
dants Court, Dis- and Service scheme and falsely | ing false and misleading statements
trict of Colo- promote Cabrera regarding Cabrera’s independence with
rado Report as inde- the intent of deceiving the court. The
pendent and/or neu- | RICO Defendants and their co-
tral. conspirators mm_mo_foosﬂosaoa Cabrera
was not an expert ﬂa one party, but a
court-appointed neutral, despite the
facts that they met with Cabrera prior
to his appointment to plan his expert
report and that the RICO Defendants’
U.S. team actually wrote the report.
Compl. §252.

160. | Wilson Donziger July 19,2010 | Email Prevent disclosure | Donziger and RICO co-conspirators
of fraudulent discussed what to say regarding the
scheme and falsely | Lago Agrio Plaintiffs’ relationship with
promote Cabrera Villao, a Cabrera team member who
Report as inde- also worked for the Lago Agrio Plain-
pendent and/or neu- | tiffs. Wilson warned they needed to be
tral. careful because it was “not clear our

relationship with Villao was dis-
closed.” Compl. §256.
161. | Donziger Wilson July 19,2010 | Email Prevent disclosure | Donziger responded, “we say not con-

of fraudulent
scheme and falsely
promote Cabrera
Report as inde-
pendent and/or neu-
tral.

cealed. Isthat good enough? We
could also not respond.” Compl. ] 256.
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162. | Wilson Donziger July 19,2010 | Email Prevent disclosure | Wilson responded to Donziger’s email
of fraudulent about Villao disclosure, noting that if
scheme and falsely | Villao worked for UBR at the same
promote Cabrera time he was on Cabrera’s team, it was
Report as inde- not on his CV which “seems a bit like
pendent and/or neu- | concealment.” Wilson then recom-
tral. mended not making a specific com-

ment about Villao. Compl. 4 256.
4
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163.

RICO Defen-
dants,
Donziger

United States
Court of Ap-
peals, Third
Circuit

Tuly 30, 2010

Electronic
Case Filing
and Service

Prevent disclosure
of fraudulent
scheme and falsely
promote Cabrera
Report as inde-
pendent and/or neu-
tral.

Filing in U.S. court by the RICO De-
fendants and their co-conspirators mak-
ing false and misleading statements
regarding Cabrera’s independence with
the intent of deceiving the court. The
RICO Defendants and their co-
conspirators claimed that Cabrera’s
statements that he was independent all
occurred before a Lago Agrio court or-
der authorizing submissions from the
parties. However, the RICO Defen-
dants and their co-conspirators main-
tained an ongoing relationship with
Cabrera for nearly a year prior to that
order. The RICO Defendants and their
co-conspirators also argued in the filing
that there was no evidence supporting
Chevron’s claim that Villao had any
connection to Chevron, or that he had
even worked for UBR when he was a
member of Cabrera’s disclosed team.
But several months later, when this
District ordered Defendant Donziger to
produce his own files, they revealed
that Donizger and the other RICO De-
fendants and their co-conspirators had
had direct communications with Villao
regarding his contribution to the
Cabrera Report. Compl. 9 256.
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164. | RICO Defen- | United States | August 2, Electronic Prevent disclosure | Filing in U.S. court by the RICO De-
dants, Court of Ap- | 2010 Case Filing of fraudulent fendants and their co-conspirators mak-
Donziger peals, Fifth and Service scheme and falsely | ing false and misleading statements

Circuit promote Cabrera regarding Cabrera’s independence with
Report as inde- the intent of deceiving the court. The
pendent and/or neu- | RICO Defendants and their co-
tral. conspirators claimed that Cabrera’s

statements that he was independent all
occurred before a Lago Agrio court or-
der authorizing submissions from the
parties. However, the RICO Defen-
dants and their co-conspirators main-
tained an ongoing relationship with
Cabrera for nearly a year prior to that
order. Compl. q252.

165. | Fajardo, United States | August 11, Electronic Prevent disclosure | Declaration of Fajardo filed in U.S.
RICO Defen- | District 2010 Case Filing of fraudulent Court making false and misleading
dants Court, Middle and Service scheme and falsely | statements regarding Cabrera’s inde-

District of promote Cabrera pendence with intent of deceiving the

Tennessee Report as inde- court. Fajardo falsely claimed
pendent and/or neu- | Cabrera’s work was independent, and
tral. grossly misstated the level of disclo-

sure provided to Chevron and the court
regarding the RICO Defendants’ and
their co-conspirators’ work with
Cabrera. Compl. 252.
{
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166.

Adlai Small

Donziger

August 18,
2010

Email

Prevent disclosure

of fraudulent
scheme.

Small sent an email to Donziger dis-
cussing expert report issues, and stated,
“One overarching theme to think about
throughout this process is how we want
the new expert to address the Cabrera
report and its conclusion. While our
new expert will most likely rely on
some of the same data as Cabrera (and
come to the same conclusions as
Cabrera), do we think the expert should
make specific mention of such consis-
tencies?” Small went on to explain to
Donziger that he thought they should
attempt to structure the new expert re-
ports in such a way that they might re-
habilitate the tainted Cabrera report to
some degree, so that someone pre-
sented with the new reports “might feel
comfortable concluding that certain
parts of Cabrera are a valid basis for
damages. Compl. §177.

167.

Abady

Donziger

August 19,
2010

Email

Prevent disclosure

of fraudulent
scheme.

Abady sent an email to Donziger and
others noting that the Weinberg
Group’s purpose was to “provid[e] a
submission with their name on it.”
Compl. § 178.
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168. | Fajardo, United States | August 24, Electronic Prevent disclosure | Declaration of Fajardo filed in U.S.
RICO Defen- | District 2010 Case Filing of fraudulent Court making false and misleading
dants Court, West- and Service scheme and falsely | claims regarding Cabrera’s independ-

ern District of promote Cabrera ence with intent of deceiving the court.

North Caro- Report as inde- Fajardo falsely claimed Cabrera’s work

lina pendent and/or neu- | was independent, and grossly misstated

tral. the level of disclosure provided to

Chevron and the court regarding the
RICO Defendants’ and their co-
conspirators’ work with Cabrera.
Compl. § 252.

169. | Fajardo, United States | August 25, Electronic Prevent disclosure | Declaration of Fajardo filed in U.S.
RICO Defen- | District 2010 Case Filing of fraudulent Court making false and misleading
dants Court, Dis- and Service scheme and falsely | claims regarding Cabrera’s independ-

trict of New promote Cabrera ence with intent of deceiving the court.
Mexico Report as inde- Fajardo falsely claimed Cabrera’s work
pendent and/or neu- | was independent, and grossly misstated
tral, the level of disclosure provided to
Chevron and the court regarding the
RICO Defendants’ and their co-
conspirators’ work with Cabrera.
Compl. 9 252.
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170. | Fajardo, United States | August 28, Electronic Prevent disclosure | Declaration of Fajardo filed in U.S.
RICO Defen- | District 2010 Case Filing of fraudulent Court making false and misleading
dants Court, South- and Service scheme and falsely | claims regarding Cabrera’s independ-
ern District of promote Cabrera ence with intent of deceiving the court.
New York Report as inde- Fajardo falsely claimed Cabrera’s work
pendent and/or neu- | was independent, and grossly misstated
tral. the level of disclosure provided to
Chevron and the court regarding the
RICO Defendants’ and their co-
conspirators’ work with Cabrera.
Compl. q252.
171. | Daleo Westenber- September 8, | Email Prevent disclosure | Daleo, Donziger, and Westenberger
ger, Donziger | 2010 of fraudulent discussed via email the importance of
scheme. having someone defend the Powers
deposition, given “[h]e has substantial
knowledge and involvement in the
Cabrera Report drafting.” Compl. §
255.
172, | Maazel Donziger September Email Prevent disclosure | Co-conspirator Maazel and Donziger
22,2010 of fraudulent discussed a strategy for preventing dis-
scheme. closure of Donziger’s emails by claim-
ing the only fraud was Donziger’s and
not the Lago Agrio Plaintiffs’. Compl.
q272.
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